ISLAMIC CREED SERIES • 8

DIVINE WILL AND PREDESTINATION

In the Light of the Qur'an and Sunnah

القضاء والقدر

Dr. 'Umar S. al-Ashqar

الدار العالمية للكتاب الإسلامي. INTERNATIONAL ISLAMIC PUBLISHING HOUSE



IN THE NAME OF

ALLAH

THE ALL-COMPASSIONATE, ALL-MERCIFUL



DIVINE WILL

PREDESTINATION

AND

Trutudator

ISLAMIC CREED SERIES

Copyright © 2005 International Islamic Publishing Hou (ing Fahd National Library Cataloging-in-Publication Data

8

DIVINE WILL AND PREDESTINATION

In the Light of the Qur'an and Sunnah

القضاء والقحر

egal Deposit no. 1424/2956 SBN Hard Covert 99809850-3/74(1) A 5/3-6/

Ashqar

Translated by: Nasiruddin al-Khattab

الدار العــالهية للكــتاب الإســــــاهي

INTERNATIONAL ISLAMIC PUBLISHING HOUSE

CONTENTS	
PUBLISHER'S NOTE	11
TRANSLATOR'S FOREWORD	13
INTRODUCTION	15
CHAPTER ONE	
BELIEF IN <i>QADAR</i> (PREDESTINATION) IS ONE OF THE BASIC PRINCIPLES OF FAITH (<i>UȘOOL AL-EEMAAN</i>)	21
CHAPTER TWO	
A GLANCE AT THE HISTORY OF <i>QADAR</i> (PREDESTINATION)	27
CHAPTER THREE	
DEFINITION OF <i>QADAA</i> (DIVINE WILL) AND <i>QADAR</i> (PREDESTINATION)	33
1- Definition of <i>Qadar</i> (Predestination)	33
2- Definition of Al-Qadaa' (Divine Will)	35
3- The Pillars of Belief in Qadar (Predestination)	37
The first pillar: Belief in the all-encompassing knowledge of Allah	38
Rational evidence that Allah knew about the <i>qadar</i> of His creation before He created it	41
The second pillar: Belief that Allah has written everything in <i>Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz</i>	
(The Preserved Tablet)	43

The third pillar: Belief that the Will of Allah is All-Encompassing and that His power is irresistible	45
The fourth pillar: Belief that Allah is the Creator of all things	47
4- People's Deeds are Created by Allah and Decreed by Him	48
Texts Which Indicate that Allah has Decreed the Deeds of His Slaves	50
(1) Ahaadeeth which indicate that the pens have dried concerning people's deeds	50
(2) Allah knows who will go to Paradise and who will go to Hell	51
(3) The progeny of Adam were brought forth	52
(4) Allah has written down the names of the people of Paradise and the people of Hell	55
(5) The Decree on <i>Laylat al-Qadr</i> and the decree day to day	56
(6) The writing of the decree for a person when he is a foetus in his mother's womb	67
CHAPTER FOUR	
LIMITS WITHIN WHICH PREDESTINATION (<i>QADAR</i>) MAY BE SUBJECTED TO RATIONAL ANALYSIS	61
Some Important Principles About Qadar	62
The extent to which the human mind can comprehend the reasons behind things	65
The purposes that shari ah seeks to achieve fall into three categories	66

7

CHAPTER FIVE	
SCHOOLS OF THOUGHT ON QADAR (PREDESTINATION)	69
1- The View of those Who Deny Qadar	69
The debate of Ahl as-Sunnah with the Qadariyah	77
The response of Abu 'Isaam al-Qastalaani to a Qadari	78
The debate between 'Abd al-Jabbaar al-Hamadaani and Abu Ishaaq al-Asfaraayeeni	78
Between 'Umar ibn 'Abd al-'Azeez and Gheelaan ad-Dimashqi	79
Specious Arguments and their Refutation	84
 The meaning of blotting out and confirming in the books, and the increase and decrease in people's lifespans 	84
(2) Reconciliation between the idea that Allah decrees	04
all things and the hadith "every child is born in a	86
(3) If all things are decreed, what is the meaning of the <i>aayah</i>, (Whatever of evil befalls you, is	
from yourself?	87
(4) How did Allah create and decree evil?	91
Refutation of <i>Al-Qadariyah al-Jabariyah</i> (Those who	91
to do What He Does and Has no Freedom of Will) (1) Their error in using the word <i>jabr</i> (compulsion)	99
to describe all actions of man	99
(2) Denying that man has the freedom to choose what he does is a sign of irrational thinking	02

Contents

(3) The claim that Allah loves and is pleased	CHA
with everything that He has decreed and created	103
(4) The claim that belief in <i>qadar</i> implies that one	+
need not take action or seek the means to an end	104
(5) Using qadar (predestination) as an excuse	110
Referring to the hadith in which Adam used <i>qadar</i> (predestination) as an excuse	114
Is it obligatory to accept and be content with what is decreed?	118
(6) The claim that obliging people to do something other than what they have done is obliging them to do something that is beyond their capabilities	119
(7) The view implies that all creatures are equal	122
3- The View of <i>Ahl as-Sunnah wal-Jamaa 'ah</i> Concerning Predestination (<i>Qadar</i>)	123
(1) Shaykh al-Islam Ibn Taymiyah sums up their point of view	123
(2) The 'aqeedah of Imam Abu Bakr Muhammad al-Huşayn al-Aajurri concerning predestination	
(qadar)	125
(3) The <i>'aqeedah</i> of At-Tahaawi concerning predestination	128
CHAPTER SIX	
REASONS WHY PEOPLE GO ASTRAY WITH REGARD TO <i>QADAR</i> (PREDESTINATION)	133

CHAPTER SEVEN

THE BENEFITS OF BELIEVING IN QADAR	
(PREDESTINATION)	139
1- Belief in Qadar (Predestination) is a Means of	
Ridding Oneself of Shirk	139
2- Adhering to the True Path During Both Times of Ease	
and Times of Difficulty	140
3- The One who Believes in Qadar is Always Careful	143
4- Facing Difficulties and Dangers with a Strong Heart	143
REFERENCES	145
GLOSSARY	147
SYMBOLS' DIRECTORY	150
INDEX OF THE QUR'AN	151
INDEX OF HADITH	155
TRANSLITERATION CHART	157

Muhammad ibn Abdul-Muhsin Al-Tireatirt

General Manager International Infamic Publishing House Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

CHAPTER SEVENg ai bna sevol dallA that mials off (6) THE BENEFITS OF BETTEVING IN ORDAR SYS diw (4) The claim that belief in gadar impMOITANIESEINATION 1011- Belief in Galar (Predestination) is a Means of Ridding Oneself of Shirk laniteberg) when and (5) 139 2- Adherliteuto the True Pathi Duirian Bothi Times of Ease and Times of Difficultys as (noitanitseberg) raban 3- The Qne who Believen in Qadarois Always Careful 8114- Facing Difficulties and Dangers with a Strong Heart 143 (6) The claim that obliging people to do somethin 145 RFFFR to do something that is beyond their capaby AA22010 147 3- The View of Ahl as-Sunnah workAugoodent 70 XEOVI INDEX OF HADITH **JRANSLITERATION CHART** 157 (2) The 'ageedah of Imam Abu Bakr Muhammad al-Husayn al-Aajurri concerning predestination

> (3) The 'aqeedah of At-Tahaawi concerning predestination

CHAPTER SIX

REASONS WHY PEOPLE GO ASTRAY WITH REGARD TO OADAR (PREDESTINATION)

PUBLISHER'S NOTE

All Praise is due to Allah, the Exalted, Lord of the worlds. Blessings and peace be upon Muhammad, his family and Companions, and all those who follow in their footsteps until the Last Day.

Free will and predestination are important and very interesting issues of discussion by all religions and most philosophers. Belief in Destiny, both good and bad, is an integral part of the Islamic creed.

Dr. 'Umar Sulaymaan al-Ashqar tackled the issue in the last book of his creed ('Aqeedah) series. As usual, he has dealt with the issue in depth and embedded in the book all the relevant texts from the Qur'an and Sunnah in addition to the writings of the classic writers and pious predecessors. Professor Al-Ashqar has done a great job indeed by presenting the right and correct Islamic view on the issue for both lay readers and scholars alike.

It is with great pleasure that we present such an authentic, well written book on the subject. May Allah bless our efforts and those of the author with acceptance and make it a source of guidance for all who seek enlightenment.

Muhammad ibn 'Abdul-Muhsin Al-Tuwaijri

General Manager International Islamic Publishing House Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Dr. 'Units al-Ashque has anothed this topic in depth for many years, and in this book he explains it in clear terms for the ordinary Muslim. Drawing always on the Que'an and Sunnah, and on the words of the greatest acholars such as 1bn Taymyah, he explores the issue of Divine Will and Predestination. He covers some of the historical

PUBLISHER'S NOTE

All Praise is due to Allah, the Exalted, Lord of the worlds. Blessings and peace be upon Muhammad, his family and Companions, and all those who follow in their footsteps until the Last Day.

Free will and predestination are important and very interesting issues of discussion by all religions and most philosophers. Belief in Destiny, both good and bad, is an integral part of the Islamic creed.

Dr. 'Umar Sulaymaan al-Ashqar tackled the issue in the last book of his creed ('*Aqeedah*) series. As usual, he has dealt with the issue in depth and embedded in the book all the relevant texts from the Qur'an and Sunnah in addition to the writings of the classic writers and pious predecessors. Professor Al-Ashqar has done a great job indeed by presenting the right and correct Islamic view on the issue for both lay readers and scholars alike.

It is with great pleasure that we present such an authentic, well written book on the subject. May Allah bless our efforts and those of the author with acceptance and make it a source of guidance for all who seek enlightenment.

Muhammad ibn 'Abdul-Muhsin Al-Tuwaijri

General Manager International Islamic Publishing House Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

TRANSLATOR'S FOREWORD

tito suite

Praise be to Allah, the Exalted, the Lord of the Worlds, and blessings and peace be upon His slave and Messenger Muhammad.

Divine will and Predestination (*Al-Qaḍaa' wal-Qadar*): Is this a matter which is directly relevant to the day-to-day life of the Muslim, or is it an obscure topic best left to the debates of philosophers and theologians?

Attitudes towards Divine Will and Predestination have always influenced Muslims' daily activities. The idea that everything is "maktoob" or "written" is well known, to such an extent that many non-Muslims regard Muslims as fatalists who see themselves as helpless in the hands of an indifferent fate. Although this idea has held sway over large numbers of the Muslim ummah, nothing could be farther from the truth of Islam as brought by the Prophet (Blessings and Peace be upon him). Fatalism, which has paralyzed the ummah and given its enemies power over it, is an idea that is foreign to Islam, an idea which crept in from alien sources, or stemmed from misinterpretation of the texts of the Qur'an and Sunnah.

In fact, the true Islamic concept of Divine Will and Predestination is an empowering notion. Whilst all that happens takes place within the framework of the Divine Will, man has freedom of choice within those parameters.

Dr. 'Umar al-Ashqar has studied this topic in depth for many years, and in this book he explains it in clear terms for the ordinary Muslim. Drawing always on the Qur'an and Sunnah, and on the words of the greatest scholars such as Ibn Taymiyah, he explores the issue of Divine Will and Predestination. He covers some of the historical

14 Translator's Foreword

debates that took place within the ummah on this matter, pointing out where erring groups went wrong, and explaining the correct view, that of *Ahl as-Sunnah wal-Jamaa 'ah*.

In his final chapter, Dr. Al-Ashqar points out the benefits of believing in Divine Will and Predestination, making it clear that this is a matter which is of interest and concern for all Muslims.

May Allah guide us to correct belief, and make us among those whom He has decreed will enter Paradise.

Nașiruddin al-Khațțaab

"maktoob" or "written" is well known, to such an extent that many non-Muslims regard Muslims as fatalists who see themselves as helpless in the hands of an indifferent fate. Although this idea has beld sway over large numbers of the Muslim ummah, nothing could be farther from the truth of Islam as brought by the Prophet (Blessings and Peace be upon him). Fatalism, which has paralyzed the ummah and given its enemies power over it, is an idea that is foreign to Islam, an idea which crept in from alien sources, or stemmed from misinterpretation of the texts of the Qur'an and Sumah.

In fact, the true Islamic concept of Divine Will and Predestination is an empowering notion. Whilst all that happens takes place within the framework of the Divine Will, man has freedom of choice within those parameters.

Dr. Umm al-Ashqar has studied this topic in depth for many years, and in this book he explains it in clear terms for the ordinary Muslim. Drawing always on the Qur'an and Sunnah, and on the words of the greatest scholars such as Ibn Taymiyah, he explores the issue of Divine Will and Predestination. He covers some of the historical

Civing Will and Printbuberini

INTRODUCTION

Praise be to Allah Who has guided us to the Straight Path, and made us among those who obey Him, and has honoured us with Islam and guided us to *eemaan*. I pray for the blessings of Allah upon the Seal of His Messengers and Prophets, the one who conveyed the Message and fulfilled the trust, who advised the ummah sincerely and strove in Jihaad for the sake of Allah in the truest sense, until that which is certain (i.e., death) came to him from his Lord. Blessings and peace be upon him and upon his righteous family and the Companions.

This is the final book in the series which I started more than ten years ago. I praise Allah, the Almighty, for having helped me to complete this work, and I hope that Allah, the Exalted, will accept it and make my intention purely for His sake, and that He will reward me for this work of mine on the Day when I meet Him, as He helped me to complete it in this life.

By the grace of my Lord, this series has been well received by the slaves of Allah, and I hope that my Lord will accept it from me and be pleased with my work, by His grace and kindness. May He forgive me for any shortcomings that exist in it. I hope that those who read this series will make du'aa' (supplication) for its author and pray that Allah forgive him for his mistakes and his sins. May Allah bestow His Mercy upon me by virtue of a righteous du'aa' from a righteous slave.

Readers have waited a long time for this volume, because one thing after another kept me busy and I was occupied with unavoidable matters, until Allah willed that I should find the time to do this work, and He enabled me to complete it. Before that, I had tried to write on this topic, but I always felt uneasy after I had started to write. I was apprehensive about writing on a topic concerning which so many writers have erred and so many intelligent people have gone astray.

This is still one of the most difficult topics that people indulge in discussing. The deviation of many of those who have gone astray started when they went astray concerning this topic. How many of those who have indulged in discussing this topic have thought that they were doing the right thing, when in fact they were utterly confused and had lost their way!

'Allaamah Ibn al-Qayyim said, in the introduction of his book Shifaa' al-'Aleel fi Masaa'il al-Qadaa' wal-Qadar wal-Hikmah wat-Ta'leel:

"The majority of intelligent people, when discussing this topic, have dealt with it from every angle and have pursued every route and narrow path, and they have spoken of it in both the most sophisticated of terms and the simplest. They have aimed to attain knowledge of it and to understand its essence. The nations of ancient and recent times have discussed this matter and have striven hard to reach an understanding of it. All of the various sects - despite their differences - have discussed this matter. Authors have written books of different types. There is no one who is not thinking of this topic and trying to reach an understanding of its essential nature, but you see them hesitant and confused, or debating with others. Each of them has chosen his own opinion and does not think that anyone else's view can be correct, nor will he accept anyone else's opinion.

All of them, apart from those who adhere to the *Wahy* (Revelation) have turned away from the right path, and the door to guidance is closed to them. They have striven to no avail, seeking to quench their thirst with dirty water. They have looked at different opinions, and selected the cheapest. Each of them rejoices in the knowledge that he has, which does not benefit him in any way. They have given priority

to opinions which they think are good, over the *Wahy* which has been revealed and the *ahaadeeth* of the Prophet (\Im). The blind are leading the blind, each of them thinking that he is drinking water, yet he remains thirsty throughout his life. He is being called to the straight path and to right guidance from afar, but he will not respond until the Day of Judgement. He is happy with the misguidance which he is following, and he is content with all kinds of falsehood and absurd notions. His *kufr* prevents him from following true guidance and what he means to say is 'Is it these (poor believers) whom Allah has favoured from amongst us?' Does Allah not know best those who are grateful? (cf. Qur'an 6:53)."¹

I found confirmation of Ibn al-Qayyim's words, quoted above, when I studied what has been said by those who indulged in discussions of *qadar* both in the past and the contemporary. I myself was hesitant to discuss this topic and write about it, but I was motivated to do so by my desire to complete this series, and by the enquiries from many seekers of knowledge as to when I was going to publish this book.

I sought the help of Allah, and investigated the topic in depth, following the methods of the scholars who were known to be on the Straight Path and to be leaders in piety and knowledge. For this reason in this book, I have quoted extensively from the sayings of our pious predecessors (*As-Salaf aṣ-Ṣaaliḥ*), following the path of the believers and hoping that I would not deviate from this course or get lost in the twists and turns of the path. I sought the light of the *aayaat* (verses) of the Qur'an and the *aḥaadeeth* of the Messenger (ﷺ), in pursuing this topic and writing about it. Allah is the One Whose help we seek, and there is no strength and no power except in Allah. I hope that knowledgeable people will correct any mistakes I have

Allah guides and opens his heart to faith will no.

¹ Shifaa' al-'Aleel, p. 14.

made or areas where I have failed to understand the matter correctly or to express myself clearly.

The book has seven chapters.

In Chapter One, I explained the obligation to believe in *qadar*, and that this belief is one of the basic principles of *eemaan* (faith).

Chapter Two is a brief look at the history of the discussions on qadar.

Chapter Three gives a definition of *qadar* and the pillars of this belief, discussing four main points:

(i) Definition of *qadar* (predestination).

- (ii) Definition of *qadaa*' (divine will) and how it is connected to *qadar*.
- (iii) The essential components ("pillars") of belief in *qadar*, without any of which a person's belief in *qadar* is lacking.
- (iv) Proof that a person's deeds are predestined and created by Allah; I have quoted here many texts from the Qur'an and Sunnah which confirm this.

Chapter Four explains how far we can go in discussing *qadar*, what role reason plays in this, and what can and cannot be understood with regard to this topic.

Chapter Five explains the different schools of thought on *qadar*. It is divided into three sections:

(i) Those who deny *qadar* (predestination). Here I described their opinions and pointed out where they have gone wrong, and I mentioned the debates of the scholars with this group. I described the evidence which they think supports their view, which, in fact, is confusion and doubts, and will crumble once we shed the light of truth on it, so that the one whom Allah guides and opens his heart to faith will no longer have any doubts concerning it.

- (ii) The school of thought which has misled the ummah and destroyed its minds, will and dynamism, and caused their actions to benefit their enemies. This is the school of thought known as *Al-Qadariyyah al-Mujabbirah* which has given up striving on the grounds of *qadar*. I have shown that they have gone astray on seven counts.
- (iii) I explained the school of thought of Ahl as-Sunnah wal-Jamaa 'ah, which has three requirements. In each case I mentioned the beliefs described by the scholars of Ahl as-Sunnah wal-Jamaa 'ah concerning qadar.

Chapter Six explains why people have been misled concerning *qadar* (predestination).

In Chapter Seven I described some of the good consequences of believing in *qadar*.

I pray to Allah that I have succeeded in explaining this principle, and I ask Him to benefit His slaves thereby, for He is the best supporter and helper. He is Sufficient for me and He is the best disposer of affairs.

Dr. 'Umar Sulaymaan al-Ashqar

Sharp pa-Non-and 'ida Marlin, 11157

(ii) The school of thought which has unisted the annual and destroyed its minds, will and dynamismi, and caused their actions to benefit their enemies. This is the school of thought known as Al-Qadariyyah al-Mujabbirah which has given up the striving on the grounds of gadar. This is the school of thought have gone astray on seven counts of gadar. If have shown that they have gone astray on seven counts, and to ano a billed ait they are up that gone astray on seven counts. The school of thought of the destroyed it is not the ground of thought of the destroyed as a striving on the grounds of gadar. If have shown that they have gone astray on seven counts, and to ano a billed aith they have gone astray on seven counts. In the school of thought of the days sumiah wall and the school of thought of the days burnah wall strip the school of thought of the days and the school of thought of the days sumiah wall strip the school of thought of the days of the school of thought of the days of the school of thought of the days sumiah wall strip the school of thought of the days sumiah wall for the days and the school of thought of the days sumiah wall for the school of thought of the school of thought of the days sumiah wall for the school of thought of the school of the school of thought of the school of the school of thought of the school of the school of thought of the school of thought of the school of thought of the school of the s

In Chapter Seven I described some of the good consequences of believing in *gadat* at rabap in totled a normal second and the first of the probability of the probability of the probability of the best supporter least. Him to benefit His slaves thereby, for He is the best dispasser of and helper. He is Sufficient for me and He is the best dispasser of affairs, abop gaissussib ai og as som as the base shows and the best dispasser of the boars base shows base and helper. He is Sufficient for me and He is the best dispasser of affairs, abop gaissussib ai og as som as the base shows and helper. He is Sufficient for me and He is the best dispasser of the boars base gaissussib ai og as som as the base and a state of the best dispasser of the boars base and the base shows and the base and base

Chapter Five explains the different schools of thought on *qadar*. It is divided into three sections:

(i) Those who deny *qadar* (predestination). Here I described their opinions and pointed out where they have gone wrong, and I mentioned the debates of the scholars with this group. I described the evidence which they think supports their view, which, in fact, is confusion and doubts, and will crumble once we shed the light of fruth on it, so that the one whom Allah guides and opens his heart to faith will no longer have any doubts concerning it.

CHAPTER ONE

BELIEF IN *QADAR* (PREDESTINATION) IS ONE OF THE BASIC PRINCIPLES OF FAITH (*UŞOOL AL-EEMAAN*)

Belief in *qadar* (predestination), is one of the basic principles of faith, without which a person's belief is incomplete. Muslim, narrated from 'Umar ibn al-Khattaab (2010), describing how Jibreel (Gabriel) (2010), questioned the Messenger (2010) about *eemaan* (belief), in reply he (2010) said:

"It (*eemaan*) is to believe in Allah, His angels, His books, His messengers, and to believe in divine destiny (*qadar*), both the good and the evil thereof." He (i.e., Jibreel) said: "You have spoken rightly."¹

There are many texts which speak of the *qadar* of Allah or enjoin belief in *qadar*. These texts include the *aayaat* (verses):

﴿ إِنَّا كُلُّ شَيْءٍ خَلَقْنَهُ بِقَدَرٍ ٢

(Verily, We have created all things with Qadar [Divine Preordainments of all things before their creation as written in the Book of Decrees - Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz].
(Qur'an 54: 49)

﴿ ... وَكَانَ أَمَرُ اللَّهِ قَدَرًا مَّقَدُورًا ٢

...And the Command of Allah is a decree determined. (Qur'an 33: 38)

¹ Sharh an-Nawawi 'ala Muslim, 1/157.

… وَلَكِن لِيَقْضِى اللهُ أَمْرًا كَانَ مَنْعُولًا …

(...but [you met] that Allah might accomplish a matter already ordained [in His Knowledge]...) (Qur 'an 8: 42)

﴿ ... وَخَلَقَ كُلَّ شَيْءٍ فَقَدَّرُمُ نُقَدِيرُ ٢

(...He has created everything, and has measured it exactly according to its due measurements.)

(Qur'an 25: 2)

مُرْ مَعْدِي مُعَامَةً مَعْدَى ﴿ سَبِيحِ أَسْمَرَ رَبِّكَ ٱلْأَعْلَى ۞ ٱلَّذِي خَلَقَ فَسَوْى ۞ وَٱلَّذِي فَذَرَ فَهَدَى ۞ ﴾

(Glorify the Name of your Lord, the Most High, Who has created [everything], and then proportioned it. And Who has measured [preordainments for everything even to be blessed or wretched]; and then guided [i.e. showed mankind the right as well as the wrong paths, and guided the animals to pasture].) (Qur'an 87: 1-3)

Muslim narrated in his *Şaḥeeḥ* that Ṭaawoos said: "I met some people from among the Companions of the Messenger of Allah who said that everything happens by *qadar*. He said, I heard 'Abdullah ibn 'Umar say: everything happens by *qadar*, even helplessness and resourcefulness, or resourcefulness and helplessness."²

Muslim also narrated that Abu Hurayrah (ﷺ) said: "The *mushrikeen* (polytheists) of Quraysh came and debated about *qadar* with the Messenger of Allah (ﷺ), then the following words were revealed:

﴿ يَوْمَ يُسْحَبُونَ فِي ٱلنَّارِ عَلَى وُجُوهِهِمْ ذُوقُوا مَسَ سَقَرَ ۞ إِنَّا كُلَّ شَيْءٍ خَلَقْتُهُ بِفَدَرٍ ۞ ﴾

² Muslim, 4/2045, No. 2655.

23

(The Day they will be dragged on their faces into the Fire [it will be said to them]: "Taste you the touch of Hell!" Verily, We have created all things with *Qadar* [Divine Preordainments of all things before their creation as written in the Book of Decrees - *Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz*].) (*Qur'an 54: 48-49*)."³

There are many similar texts. The texts which speak of the knowledge, power, will and creation of Allah also refer to His decree (*qadar*). Belief in *qadar* also includes belief in Allah's knowledge, will and creation, as we will see below, supported by the relevant texts.

From the linguistic point of view - as stated by Raaghib al-Asfahaani, according to the report narrated from him by Ibn Hajar al-'Asqalaani - the word *qadar* implies ability or power, and the object of that ability, which exists in the knowledge of Allah.⁴

Allah, the Almighty, has absolute power (*qudrah*), and His power is not lacking in any way whatsoever. Among His Names - may He be blessed and exalted - are the names *Al-Qaadir* (the Able), *Al-Qadeer* (the All-Powerful) and *Al-Muqtadir* (Omnipotent, Able to do everything). Power (*Qudrah*) is one of His Attributes.

Al-Qaadir is the active participle of the verb qadara yaqdiru. Al-Qadeer is a more intensive form, meaning the One Who does what He wants, in accordance with His wisdom, no more and no less. Therefore no one deserves to be described with this name except Allah, may He be glorified and exalted. Allah (3), says:

allog ﴿ ... بَلَيْ إِنَّهُ عَلَى كُلِّ شَيْءٍ قَدِيرٌ ٢٠ ﴾ ما أنه المعا ممالها أنه not A ble, and

⁴ Fath al-Baari, 11/477.

³ Muslim, 4/2046, No. 2656; Tirmidhi, 3/229.

24 Belief in Qadar (Predestination)

...Yes, He surely is Able to do all things.

Al-Muqtadir is the active participle from the verbal form aqtadara, and is more intensive in meaning than Qadeer. For example, Allah (3), says:

(Qur'an 46: 33)

فَعَدَدِ صِدْقٍ عِندَ مَلِيكِ مُقْنَدِرٍ ٢

(In a seat of truth [i.e. Paradise], near the Omnipotent King [Maleek Muqtadir] [Allah, the One, the All-Blessed, the Most High, the Owner of Majesty and Honour].)

Imam Ahmad (may Allah have mercy on him) was asked about *qadar*. He said: "*Qadar* is the power of Allah."⁵

Ibn al-Qayyim said: "Imaam Ahmad said that *qadar* is the power of Allah, and Ibn 'Aqeel liked this comment very much. He said: 'This is indicative of Ahmad's precise and vast knowledge of the basic principles of religion (*usool ad-deen*). Abu'l-Wafaa' said, denying this means denying the power of the Lord to create and decree the actions of His slaves."

Hence those who deny the *qadar* of Allah do not accept the power of Allah. Shaykh al-Islam Ibn Taymiyah (may Allah have mercy on him) said: "Whoever does not accept the opinion of the *salaf* does not believe that Allah has power or that He is Able, like the *Jahamiyah* and those who follow them, and the *Mu'tazilah*, both those who accept the idea of *qadar* but say that it means that man is compelled by *qadar* to do what he does, and those who reject the idea of *qadar* altogether. The essence of their opinion is that Allah is not Able, and that He does not have sovereignty, for sovereignty requires either

⁵ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/308.

power, or the object of power, or both. Whatever the case may be, He must have power, and whoever does not believe that He has true power does not believe that He has sovereignty."⁶

Those who deny *qadar* do not believe in *Tawheed*, because those who deny *qadar* say that the creator of good is different from the creator of evil. Those among our ummah who believe this say that the sins which occur do not happen by the Will of Allah, and they may also say that He does not know about them. They say that all the deeds of living beings happen without His power or creation. So they deny that He has an irresistible Will and complete Power. Hence Ibn 'Abbaas said: *qadar* is the essence of *Tawheed*. Whoever worships Allah, the Almighty, Alone and believes in *qadar* has perfected his *Tawheed*, but whoever worships Allah Alone but does not believe in *qadar*, destroys his *Tawheed* by this disbelief."⁷

Muslim scholars have unanimously affirmed the concept of *qadar* and stated that it is obligatory (*waajib*) to believe in it. There is no scholar among the scholars of *Ahl as-Sunnah*, the banners of guidance and lights in the darkness, who does not state that it is obligatory to believe in it, or state that the one who denies it is either guilty of *bid'ah* or a fool.

In his commentary on the *aḥaadeeth* about *qadar* in *Ṣaḥeeḥ Muslim*, An-Nawawi (may Allah have mercy on him) says:

"In all of these *aḥaadeeth* there is clear evidence that supports the view of *Ahl as-Sunnah* concerning the belief in *qadar*, and that all events, good and bad, beneficial and harmful, happen by the will and decree of Allah, the Exalted."⁸

fest Aby 'Obeydah 'Asmir ibn al-Jatraab

⁶ Shifaa' al-'Aleel, 49.

⁷ Majmooʻ al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/258.

⁸ Sharh an-Nawawi 'ala Muslim, 16/196.

Elsewhere he said:

"The definitive proof of the texts of the Qur'an and Sunnah, and the consensus (*ijmaa*') of the *Ṣaḥaabah* (the Companions) and the prominent figures among the earlier and later generations, overwhelmingly support one another to prove the *qadar* of Allah."⁹

Ibn Hajar (may Allah have mercy on him) said:

"The opinion of all the *salaf* is that all things happen by the decree of Allah, as Allah (號), says:

﴿ وَإِن مِّن شَيْءٍ إِلَّا عِندَنَا خَزَآبِنُهُ وَمَا نُنَزِّلُهُ اللَّهِ إِلَّا بِقَدَرٍ مَّعْلُومِ ٥

(And there is not a thing, but with Us are the stores thereof. And We send it not down except in a known measure [qadar].) (Qur'an 15: 21)."¹⁰

Sharh an-Nawawi 'ala Muslim, 2/155.
 Fath al-Baari, 11/478.

CHAPTER TWO

A GLANCE AT THE HISTORY OF QADAR (PREDESTINATION)

Belief in *qadar* (predestination) is one of the basic principles of faith. The Qur'an and Sunnah explain the concept of *qadar* (predestination), and the Messenger (ﷺ) stated that doing deeds and taking the means to an end is part of *qadar* and does not contradict this idea. He warned his ummah against those who do not believe in *qadar*, or who use *qadar* as a pretext to oppose the commandments of Islam.

The Messenger (ﷺ) became very angry when he came out one day and found his Companions debating about *qadar*; he was so angry that his face turned red as if a pomegranate had been squeezed over his face. He said:

"Is this what you have been commanded to do? Is this why I was sent to you? The people who came before you were destroyed when they disputed about this matter. I urge you not to dispute about this."¹

The *Ṣaḥaabah* (Companions) (may Allah be pleased with them) responded to the urging and direction of their Prophet. It is not known that any of them debated about *qadar* (predestination), either during his lifetime or after he died.

It has not been narrated that any of the Muslims debated about *qadar* during the time of the Rightly Guided *Khulafa* (Caliphs) Abu Bakr, 'Umar and 'Uthmaan (may Allah be pleased with them all). All that has been transmitted is that Abu 'Ubaydah 'Aamir ibn al-Jarraah

¹ Tirmidhi, 2/223.

objected to the fact that 'Umar went back with the people and did not enter Syria when the plague spread there. He said to 'Umar ibn al-Khattaab: "O' *Ameer al-Mu'mineen*, are you running away from the decree (*qadar*) of Allah?"

'Umar said, "If only someone other than you had said this, O' Abu 'Ubaydah! Yes, we are running away from the decree of Allah towards the decree of Allah. Do you not see that if you had a camel and you came to a valley where there were two patches of land, one green and fertile, and the other dry and barren, if you let it graze in the green land, you do so by the decree of Allah, and if you let it graze in the dry land, you do so by the decree of Allah."²

Laalkaa'i narrated that 'Umar ibn al-Khattaab addressed the people in Al-Jaabiyah (in Syria) and said: "Whomever Allah sends astray, no one can guide him." There was a Christian priest in front of him, who said, "Allah does not send anyone astray." When 'Umar ibn al-Khattaab repeated his statement, the priest started to brush his garment as an expression of his objection to 'Umar's words.

After his words had been translated to him, 'Umar said: "You are lying, O' enemy of Allah! For Allah has indeed created you, and Allah has sent you astray, then He will cause you to die, and will send you to Hell, *in sha Allah*... Allah created His creation, and when He created Adam, He spread out his progeny in His hand, and decreed who would be the people of Paradise and what they would do, and who would be the people of Hell and what they would do. Then He said, 'These are for this, and these are for this.' And the people dispersed with no dispute concerning *qadar*."³

during the time of the Rightly Guided Khulafa (Caliphs) Abu Bakt, 'Umar and 'Uthmaan (may Allah be pleased with them all). All that

has been transmitted is that Abu 'I Ihavdah 'A

² Bukhari. See Fath al-Baari, 10/179, hadith no. 5729.

³ Sharh Usool I'tiqaad Ahl as-Sunnah by Al-Laalkaa'i, 3/659.

The first person to discuss *qadar* was a man from among the people of Başrah, a grocer called Sansawayh. Al-Awzaa'i said, "The first person to speak about *qadar* was a man from 'Iraq called Sawsan. He was a Christian who became Muslim, then he went back to Christianity. Ma'bad al-Juhani learned from him, and Gheelaan learned from Ma'bad."⁴

Yoonus ibn 'Ubayd said: "I came to Başrah and there were no *Qadaris* there except for Sansawayh and Ma'bad al-Juhani, and another accursed individual from Bani 'Awaafah."⁵

Muslim narrated that Buraydah ibn Yaḥyaa ibn Yaʿmar said: "The first person who spoke about *qadar* in Baṣrah was Maʿbad al-Juhani." Buraydah mentioned in his hadith that Maʿbad and those who were with him claimed that there was no *qadar*, and that everything happened without being decreed.⁶

The *Ṣaḥaabah* (Companions) who were still alive at this time, such as 'Abdullah ibn 'Umar, Ibn 'Abbaas, Waathilah ibn al-Asqa', Jaabir ibn 'Abdullah, Abu Hurayrah and Anas ibn Maalik launched a war against the people who held this opinion.⁷ This opinion was later adopted from Ma'bad by the leaders of the *Mu'tazilah*, such as Waasil ibn 'Ataa', 'Amr ibn 'Ubayd and Gheelaan ad-Dimashqi.

Waaşil ibn 'Ataa', the leader of the *Mu'tazilah*, claimed that evil could not be attributed to Allah, because Allah is Wise and it could not be right to say that He would want His slaves to do anything different to that which He had commanded, or that He would decree upon them to do anything and then punish them for that. He stated in

⁷ Al-Farq bayna al-Firaq, p. 19.

⁴ Sharh Usool al-I'tiqaad, 3/750. Ash-Sharee 'ah by Aajiree, p. 242.

⁵ Sharh Usool I'tiqaad Ahl as-Sunnah, 3/749.

⁶ Sharh an-Nawawi 'ala Muslim, 1/150.

his writings that it is the individual acting on his own initiative who does good and evil, who believes or disbelieves, who obeys or disobeys Allah, and Allah is the One Who gives recompense for his deeds and enables him to do all that.⁸

An-Nazzaam, one of the Mu'tazilah, said that Allah could not be described as having the power to create evil and sin, for this was not possible for Allah.⁹

This is the group which our scholars dubbed *Al-Qadariyah*. "They called them this because they affirmed that the individual has the power (*qudrah*) to initiate his own actions independently of Allah, and they denied that things happen by the decree (*qadar*) and will (*qadaa'*) of Allah. In their misguidance, they themselves gave this name to their opponents, the people of guidance, and said: you are the *qadariyah* because you say that things happen by a decree (*qadar*) from Allah, so you are more deserving of this name than we are."¹⁰

In his commentary on *Saheeh Muslim*, An-Nawawi said: "Some of the *qadariyah* said: we are not *qadariyyah*, you are *qadariyyah*, because you believe in *qadar*. Ibn Qutaybah and the Imam (i.e., Imam al-Juwayni) said: this is a false and foolish argument on the part of these ignorant people, for the followers of truth refer all their affairs to Allah, the All-High, and attribute *qadar* and deeds to Him, whilst these ignorant people attribute it to themselves and claim that it belongs to them. The one who claims that something belongs to him and attributes it to himself is more entitled to be named after it than one who attributes it to someone other than himself and denies that it belongs to him."¹¹

¹¹ Sharh an-Nawawi 'ala Muslim, 1/154.

⁸ Al-Milal wan-Nihal by Shahrastaani, 1/47.

⁹ Ibid, 1/54.

¹⁰ Jaami' al-Uşool by Ibn al-Atheer, 10/128.

It is narrated in an authentic report that the Messenger (ﷺ) called the *Qadariyah*, the Magians (Zoroastrians) of this ummah. The hadith is narrated by Abu Dawood in his *Sunan* and by Al-Haakim in *Al-Mustadrak*, and it is *şaheeh* according to the conditions of *As-Saheehayn* (the two most authentic collection of hadith - Bukhari and Muslim). He said: it is *şaheeh* according to the conditions of the two Shaykhs (Bukhari and Muslim), if it is proven that Abu Haazim heard it from Ibn 'Umar.¹²

The reason why this group is described as the Magians of this ummah is "because of the similarity to the Magian belief that there are two origins, light and darkness. They claim that good comes from the action of the light, and evil comes from the action of darkness, and so they are dualists. Similarly, the *Qadariyah* attribute good to Allah, and evil to someone or something other than Allah. But Allah, may He be glorified and exalted, is the Creator of both good and evil, and nothing of them happens except by His Will. So both are attributed to Him in the sense that He creates them and brings them into being, and they are attributed to the people who do them in the sense that they do them and have earned them."¹³

At the end of the Umawi (Umayyad) period, there emerged groups who claimed that the individual is compelled to do what he does, and that he has no choice as to whether he does it or not. Some of them claimed that the individual has some power, but that it is ineffective. The first person to say such things was Al-Jahm ibn Ṣafwaan; from this *bid'ah* (reprehensible innovation) there stemmed a number of

¹² Opt. cit

¹³ Nawawi quoted this from Al-Khattaabi in his commentary on Şaheeh Muslim (Sharh 'ala Şaheeh Muslim, 1/154. See also Jaami' al-Uşool, 10/128).

We will discuss this group and its beliefs further, and explain how misguided it is, when we discuss those who went astray concerning *qadar*.

objectionable beliefs, and great deviation and misguidance.¹⁴

This belief spread throughout the ummah and was adopted by many worshippers, ascetics and Sufis. If the previous group was akin to the Magians, this group is more like the *mushrikeen* (polytheists) who said:

﴿ ... لَوْ شَـآءَ ٱللَّهُ مَآ أَشْرَكْنَا وَلَآ ءَابَآؤُنَا وَلَا حَرَّمْنَا مِن شَيْءٍ ...

(...'If Allah had willed, we would not have taken partners [in worship] with Him, nor would our fathers, and we would not have forbidden anything [against His Will]'...) (Qur'an 6: 148)

This latter group is worse than the former, because the former respected the commands and prohibitions (of Islam), although they said that people's actions were not created by Allah. But this (latter) group, although they believed in *qadar*, used it as pretext and evidence to negate the importance of the commands and prohibitions.¹⁵

At the end of the Umawi (Umayyad) period, there emerged groups who claimed that the individual is compelled to do what he does, and that he has no choice as to whether he does it or not. Some of them claimed that the individual has some power, but that it is ineffective. The first person to say such things was Al-Jahm ion Safwaan; from this *bid an* (reprehensible innovation) there stemmed a number of

¹⁴ Majmooʻal-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/460; Al-Milal wan-Nihal by Shahrastaani, 1/85.

¹⁵ 'Aqeedat as-Safaareeni, 1/306. More information about those who follow this view will be given below.

Definition of Oadaa (Divine Will) and Qadar (Predestination)

CHAPTER THREE

DEFINITION OF *QADAA* (DIVINE WILL) AND *QADAR* (PREDESTINATION)

1- Definition of Qadar (Predestination)

The root of *qadar* is *qadara*. In Arabic it is said "*Qadartu ash-shay'a qadran* (or *qadaran*) (I evaluated the thing)," if one knows its quantity and other attributes.¹

In Arabic, *qadar* means decree, judgement, ultimate destiny. *Taqdeer* means to think about how to sort things out.²

In a technical sense, *qadar* means, "something of which there was prior knowledge, one of the things which was written by the Pen when it wrote down everything that was going to happen for the rest of eternity, when Allah decreed the affairs of all His creation and what would happen before it happened. He knew that these things would happen at certain times that were known to Him, and in specific ways, and so things happen in the way that He has decreed."³

Ibn Hajar said in his definition: "What is meant is that Allah knows how things will be and when they will happen, before He initiates them. Then He creates that which He already knows will happen. Hence everything that happens stems from His knowledge, power and will."⁴

⁴ Fath al-Baari, 1/118.

ledge, young and old behave accordingly.

¹ Fath al-Baari by Ibn Hajar al-'Asqalaani, 1/118.

² Al-Qaamoos al-Muheet by Al-Fayroozabaadi, p. 591.

³ 'Aqeedat as-Safaareeni, 1/348.

As-Safaareeni said, narrating from the Ash'ariyah: "*Qadar* means that Allah brings things into being in a specific manner with regard to its essence and qualities, and in accordance with His prior knowledge and that which has been written by the Pen."⁵

These definitions are similar to one another. They indicate that *qadar* (predestination) includes two things:

- (1) The eternal knowledge of Allah, by which He ruled that He would create whatever He wanted to exist, and that He specified the qualities of the things He wanted to create. He wrote down all of that in *Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz* (the Preserved Tablet) in His words. So the heavens and the earth, their size and dimensions, the way they are formed and everything in between them and in them - all of that is preserved in *Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz* in precise detail.
- (2) The creation of whatever Allah, the Almighty, has decreed should exist, according to His prior knowledge and what was written by His Pen; whatever happens in reality is identical to that prior, written knowledge.

Qadar (Predestination) is a general word, referring to the prior knowledge of Allah and that which He created in accordance with that knowledge.

Imam ash-Shaafa'i (may Allah have mercy on him) was asked about *qadar*, and he responded in verse:

"Whatever You want happens, even if I do not want it to, and whatever I want, if You do not want it to happen, it does not happen.

You created mankind according to Your knowledge, and according to Your knowledge, young and old behave accordingly.

You have blessed this one and forsaken that one; You have helped this one and not that one.

⁵ 'Aqeedat as-Safaareeni, 1/345.

35

Some of them are doomed and some are blessed; some are ugly and some are beautiful."⁶

2- Definition of Al-Qadaa' (Divine Will)

Al-Qadaa' means: decision, decree, judgement. Qadaa' is mentioned frequently in the *ahaadeeth* of the Prophet (ﷺ). The root meaning is decision. The verb *qadaa yaqdee* and the words *qadaa*' and *qaadi* ("judge") are used to refer to matters where decisions and judgements are made. Qadaa' (Divine Will) implies doing a thing properly, finishing it and concluding the matter. Thus it also conveys the meaning of creating.

Az-Zuhri said: in Arabic, *qaḍaa*' carries a number of different meanings. It refers to when something is completed and finished, everything that is carried out properly, completed, fulfilled, has become obligatory, is known or is done. All of these meanings are to be found in the *aḥaadeeth*.⁷

There are two scholarly views concerning the difference between *qadaa*' and *qadar*:

(1) *Qadaa* ' means the previous knowledge according to which Allah created all things and ruled by it from eternity, and *qadar* (predestination) refers to when creation follows that which has already been decreed. Ibn Hajar al-'Asqalaani (may Allah have mercy on him) said: "The scholars said that *qadaa*' is the total and general decree from eternity, and *qadar* refers to the details of that decree."⁸ Elsewhere he said: "*Qadaa*' is

⁸ Fath al-Baari, 11/477.

⁶ Al-I'tiqaad by Al-Bayhaqi, p. 162; Sharh Uşool I'tiqaad Ahl as-Sunnah by Al-Laalkaa'i, 1/702.

⁷ An-Nihaayah fi Ghareeb al-Hadith, by Ibn al-Atheer, 4/78.

the decree in general terms from eternity, and *qadar* refers to the details of how that decree is applied."⁹

(2) The second view is the opposite of the above, i.e., that *qadar* is the prior decree, and that *qadaa*' refers to the creation.

Ibn Battaal said: "Qadaa' refers to creation."¹⁰ This was also the view of Al-Khattaabi. In Ma'aalim as-Sunan he said: "Qadar is a name for that which has been decreed as a result of the actions of Al-Qaadir (Allah, the All-High)... Qadaa' in this sense refers to creation, as Allah (\Im), says:

فقضنهن سبع سَمَوَاتٍ في يَوْمَيْنِ ... ٢ ٢ ٢

(Then He completed and finished from their creation [fa qadaahunna] [as] seven heavens in two Days...) (Qur'an 41: 12), i.e., He created them."¹¹

On this basis, "*qadaa*' is more specific than *qadar*, because *qadaa*' refers to the time when things are brought into existence. So *qadar* means the decree, and *qadaa*' means the implementation of that decree."¹²

This view is supported by many texts of the Qur'an. Allah (ﷺ), says:

﴿ ... وَكَانَ أَمْرًا مَقْضِيًا ٢

(...and it is a matter [already] decreed [by Allah].) (Qur'an 19: 21)

﴿ ... كَانَ عَلَى رَبِّكَ حَتَّمًا مَّقْضِبَيًّا ٢

⁹ Fath al-Baari, 11/149.

¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹ Ma'aalim as-Sunan by Al-Khattaabi, 7/70.

¹² Al-Mufradaat by Raaghib al-Asfahaani, p. 406.

€...this is with your Lord, a Decree which must be accomplished. (Qur'an 19: 71)

... وَإِذَا قَضَى آَمَرًا فَإِنَّمَا يَقُولُ لَهُ كُن فَيَكُونُ

(...When He decrees a matter, He only says to it: 'Be!' and it is.) (Qur'an 2: 117)

So *qadaa*' and *qadar* - according to this opinion - are two interwoven matters which cannot be separated from one another, because one of them, *qadar*, is the foundation, and the other, *qadaa*', is the structure. Whoever wants to separate them will destroy the entire structure.¹³

3- The Pillars of Belief in Qadar (Predestination)

Belief in *qadar* is based on four pillars (essential components). Whoever affirms all of them has attained perfect belief in *qadar*. Whoever is sceptic about one or more of them does not have the correct belief in *qadar*. These four pillars are:

- (1) Belief that the knowledge of Allah is all-encompassing.
- (2) Belief that Allah has written in *Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz* (the Preserved Tablet) everything that will come to pass until the Day of Resurrection.
- (3) Belief in the irresistible will and perfect power of Allah; so what He wills happens and what He does not will does not happen.
- (4) Belief that Allah has created everything that exists, and that Allah has no partner in His creation.

We will discuss these four principles in more detail below.

¹³ An-Nihaayah fi Ghareeb al-Hadith by Ibn al-Atheer, 4/78; see also Jaami' al-Usool, 10/104.

The first pillar: belief in the all-encompassing knowledge of Allah

This great principle is frequently reiterated in the Book of Allah and the Sunnah of His Messenger (ﷺ). The knowledge of Allah encompasses all things: He knows what was and what is yet to come; with regard to that which does not happen, if it were to happen, He knows how it would be. He knows what exists and what does not exist, what is possible and what is impossible.

Allah (%), knows about His slaves, how long their lives will be, what their provision will be, their circumstances, their movements, whether they are doomed or blessed. He knows who among them are the people of Paradise and who are the people of Hell, from before the time when He created them, and created the heavens and the earth.

All of this is connected to His having knowledge and to the fact that He is the All-Knowing, All-Aware, All-Hearing, All-Seeing.

Allah (), says:

< هُوَ اللَّهُ ٱلَّذِي لَا إِلَنَهُ إِلَّا هُوٍّ عَالِمُ ٱلْغَيْبِ وَٱلشَّهَانَةِ ... ٢

(He is Allah, beside Whom *Laa ilaaha illa Huwa* [none has the right to be worshipped but He] the All-Knower of the unseen and the seen...) (Qur'an 59: 22)

... أَنَّ اللَهُ عَلَى كُلِ شَيْءٍ قَدِيرٌ وَأَنَّ اللَهُ قَدْ أَحَاطَ بِكُلِ شَيْءٍ عِلْمًا ٢ ﴾

(...that you may know that Allah has power over all things, and that Allah surrounds all things in [His] Knowledge.) (Qur'an 65: 12)

﴿ ... عَلِمِ ٱلْغَنْثِ لَا يَعْزُبُ عَنْهُ مِثْقَالُ ذَرَّةٍ فِي ٱلسَّحْوَٰتِ وَلَا فِي ٱلْأَرْضِ

وَلَا أَصْخَـرُ مِن ذَلِكَ وَلَا أَحْـكَبُرُ إِلَا فِي حِتَّتِ مَّبِينٍ ٢٠٠٠

(...the All-Knower of the Unseen... not even the weight of an atom [or a small ant] or less than that or greater escapes His Knowledge in the heavens or in the earth but it is in a Clear Book [*Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz*].

(Qur'an 34: 3)

﴿ إِنَّ رَبَّكَ هُوَ أَعْلَمُ مَن يَضِلُّ عَن سَبِيلِةٍ وَهُوَ أَعْلَمُ بِٱلْمُهْتَدِينَ ٢

(Verily, your Lord! It is He Who knows best who strays from His Way, and He knows best the rightly guided ones.) (Qur'an 6: 117)

... هُوَ أَعَادُ بِكُرْ إِذْ أَنشَأَكُرْ مِنَ ٱلأَرْضِ وَإِذْ أَنتُدْ أَجِنَةٌ فِى بُطُونِ أَتَهَنَكُمْ ...

(...He knows you well when He created you from the earth [Adam], and when you were fetuses in your mothers' wombs...) (Qur'an 53: 32)

Allah (ﷺ), tells us that He knows how things that do not happen would happen if they were to happen:

﴿ ... وَلَوْ رُدُوا لَعَادُوا لِمَا نَهُوا عَنْهُ ... ۞ ﴾

(...But if they [the *kuffaar* - disbelievers] were returned [to the world], they would certainly revert to that which they were forbidden...) (Qur'an 6: 28)

So Allah knows about these liars, who will wish on the Day of Resurrection that they could go back to the world; He knows that if they were returned, they would go back to their disbelief and misguidance.

Allah, the Exalted, tells us about the *kuffaar* (disbelievers), who cannot bear to hear words of guidance:

﴿ وَلَوْ عَلِمَ ٱللَّهُ فِيهِمْ خَبْرًا لَّأَسْمَعَهُمْ وَلَوْ أَسْمَعَهُمْ لَتَوَلُّوا وَّهُم مَعْرِضُون ٢

40 Definition of Qadaa (Divine Will) and Qadar (Predestination)

(Had Allah known of any good in them, He would indeed have made them listen; and even if He had made them listen, they would but have turned away with aversion [to the truth].) (Qur'an 8: 23)

One aspect of Allah's knowledge of what is to come is that He knows what the children who die in infancy would have done if they had grown up before they died.

Bukhari narrates in his *Saheeh* that Ibn 'Abbaas said: "The Prophet (ﷺ) was asked about the children of the *mushrikeen* (polytheists), and he said, 'Allah knows best what they would have done."¹⁴

Muslim narrated that *Umm al-Mu'mineen* (the mother of the faithful) 'Aaishah, said: "A little boy died, and I said, 'It is better for him, he is one of the little birds of Paradise.' The Messenger of Allah (選) said,

"Do you not know that Allah created Paradise and Hell, and He created people for the one and people for the other?"

According to another report narrated by Muslim, 'Aa'ishah said: "The Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) was called to attend the funeral of a young boy among the Anṣaar, and I said, 'O' Messenger of Allah, it is good for him; he is one of the little birds of Paradise. He did not do evil and did not reach the age to do evil.' He said,

'It is not like that, O' 'Aa'ishah. Allah created people for Paradise; He created them for it when they were still in the loins of their forefathers. And He created people for Hell; He created them for it when they were still in the loins of their forefathers.¹⁵

¹⁴ Fath al-Baari, 11/493. Muslim (4/2049, no. 2659) narrated a slightly different version from Abu Hurayrah.

¹⁵ Muslim, 4/2050, no. 2662.

These *ahaadeeth* refer to the knowledge of Allah concerning those who die in childhood; they do not imply that Allah will send them to Hell on the basis of that knowledge alone, without them having done anything wrong.

Shaykh al-Islam Ibn Taymiyah (may Allah have mercy on him) said, concerning the hadith about the children of the *mushrikeen* (polytheists), "Allah knows best what they would have done": "This means, Allah knows who among them would have believed, and who would have disbelieved, if they had reached full maturity. Then he quoted another hadith from Abu Hurayrah, according to which the Prophet (ﷺ) said:

'When the Day of Resurrection comes, Allah will test them. He will send a messenger to them in the arena of Resurrection, and whoever responds to him will be admitted to Paradise, and whoever disobeys him will be sent to Hell.' Then what is already known to Allah will be made manifest, and He will requite them on the grounds of what has been made manifest, that is, who among them believed and who disbelieved, and not merely on the grounds of knowledge alone."¹⁶

Rational evidence that Allah knew about the *qadar* of His creation before He created it

The truth is that the existence of this universe and every creature in it clearly indicates that Allah had knowledge of it before He created it. "For it is impossible that He could create things without knowing about them, because He creates things by His Will, and will requires a preconceived idea about the desired thing. This preconceived idea about the desired thing is knowledge of the desired thing. So creation requires will, and will requires knowledge, so creation requires knowledge."¹⁷

Moreover, "The created beings which exist in it are made in a proper and perfect manner which implies that the One Who made them must have knowledge of them, because such perfect work could not have been done by one who has no knowledge."¹⁸

The scholars also use a kind of analogy as evidence for the knowledge of Allah: "Among His creation are those who have knowledge, and knowledge is an attribute of perfection, so it is impossible for the Creator not to have knowledge." This can be proven in two ways:

- (1) It may be said: we know that the Creator is inevitably more perfect than His creation, and that the One Who must exist (Allah) is more perfect than one who may or may not exist (creature). If we assume that the former has knowledge whilst the latter does not, then the One Who has knowledge is more perfect. If the Creator does not have knowledge, this would imply that the one who may or may not exist (creature) is more perfect than Him, and this is impossible.
- (2) Every type of knowledge that the created being has, comes from Allah, and it is impossible for the One Who created these beings with some attributes of perfection to be devoid of perfection; He is more entitled to perfection than they are, because whatever attributes of perfection the created beings are known to have, the Creator is more entitled to them, and whatever imperfections the created beings are above having, the Creator is more entitled to be above them and free of them.¹⁹

¹⁷ Sharh at-Tahaawiyah, p. 148.

¹⁸ Opt. cit

¹⁹ Sharh at-Tahaawiyah, p. 148.

All of this evidence may be summed up in the *aayah* (verse):

﴿ أَلَا يَعْلَمُ مَنْ خَلَقَ وَهُوَ ٱللَّطِيفُ ٱلْخَبِيرُ ٢

(Should not He Who has created know? And He is the Most Kind and Courteous [to His slaves], All-Aware [of everything].)
 (Qur 'an 67: 14)

What confirms Allah's knowledge is when He tells us of events before they happen. Allah, the Almighty, told us in His previous Books of the coming of our Messenger (ﷺ), and his attributes, character and signs, and He told us of many of the characteristics of his ummah. In His Book (the Qur'an), He foretold that the Romans would be victorious over the Magian Persians within three to nine years, and this happened as foretold. There are many predictions of future events, which are part of the Unseen, in the Qur'an and Sunnah.

The second pillar: Belief that Allah has written everything in *Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz* (The Preserved Tablet)

The texts of the Qur'an and Sunnah indicate that Allah has written all things in *Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz* (the Preserved Tablet). According to a hadith narrated by Muslim in his *Saheeh*, 'Abdullah ibn 'Amr ibn al-'Aas said: "I heard the Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) say:

'Allah wrote the decrees of His creation fifty thousand years before He created the heavens and the earth, and He said: His Throne is above the water.'²⁰

Tirmidhi narrated it as follows: "Allah decreed the decrees fifty thousand years before He created the heavens and the earth."²¹

²⁰ Muslim, 4/2044, hadith no. 2653.

²¹ Tirmidhi, 4/458, no. 2156. He said: it is a *saheeh hasan hadith* (a good authentic hadith).

43

In Sunan at-Tirmidhi it is narrated that 'Ubaadah ibn aṣ-Ṣaamit related: "The Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) said:

'The first thing which Allah created was the Pen. He (Allah) said, 'Write!' It said, 'What shall I write?" He (Allah) said:
"Write the decree (*al-qadar*) of what has happened and what is to happen, for all eternity.""

Abu 'Eesa at-Tirmidhi said: this is a ghareeb hadith with this Isnad.²²

Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz (the preserved tablet), in which Allah has written the decrees of His creation, is given a number of names in the Qur'an, such as Al-Kitaab, Al-Kitaab al-Mubeen, Al-Imam al-Mubeen, Umm al-Kitaab and Al-Kitaab al-Mastoor. Allah (ﷺ), says:

﴿ بَلْ هُوَ قُرْءَانٌ بَجِيدٌ ٢ فِي فِي لَوْجٍ مَّعْفُونِ ٢

Nay! This is a Glorious Qur'an, [Inscribed] in Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz [The Preserved Tablet]! (Qur'an 85: 21-22)

﴿ أَلَمْ تَعْلَمُ أَتَ اللَّهَ يَعْلَمُ مَا فِي ٱلسَّتَمَاءِ وَٱلأَرْضُ إِنَّ ذَلِكَ فِي كِتَبٍ إِنَّ ذَلِكَ عَلَى ٱللَّهِ يَسِبِرُ ۞ ﴾

(Know you not that Allah knows all that is in the heaven and on the earth? Verily, it is [all] in the Book [Al-Kitaab] [Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz]. Verily, that is easy for Allah.) (Qur'an 22: 70)

﴿ ... وَكُلُّ شَيْءٍ أَحْصَبْنَهُ فِي إِمَامِ مُّبِينِ ٥

...and all things We have recorded with numbers [as a

²² Tirmidhi, 4/458, no. 2055. The hadith is *şaḥeeḥ*. It is *ghareeb* with regard to the Isnad (chain of narrators) with which Tirmidhi quotes it in *Baab al-Qadar*. But he also quotes it in *Kitaab at-Tafseer*, where he says, this hadith is *hasan ghareeb*. It is quoted by Shaykh Naaşiruddin al-Albaani in *Şaḥeeḥ Sunan at-Tirmidhi* (2/228), and he stated that he narrated it in *Silsilat al-Aḥaadeeth aṣ-Ṣaḥeeḥah* and elsewhere.

Divine Will and Predestination

record] in a Clear Book [kitaab mubeen]. (Qur'an 36: 12)

(By the *Toor* [Mount], And by the Book Inscribed [kitaab mastoor], in parchment unrolled.)

(Qur'an 52: 1-3)

﴿ وَإِنَّهُ فِي أَبِّرِ ٱلْكِتَبِ لَدَيْنَا لَعَلَىٰ حَكِدُ ٢

﴿ وَالظُّورِ ٢ وَكِنَّبٍ مَّسْطُورِ ٢ فِي رَقِ مَّنشُورِ ٢ ﴾

(And verily, it [this Qur'an] is in the Mother of the Book [umm al-kitaab] [i.e. Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz] with Us, indeed exalted, full of wisdom.) (Qur'an 43: 4)

The third pillar: Belief that the Will of Allah is All-Encompassing and that His power is irresistible

This principle implies the belief that the Will of Allah is unstoppable and that His power is All-Encompassing. Whatever Allah, the All-High, wills happens, and whatever He does not will does not happen. Nothing can move or come to a halt in the heavens or on earth except by His Will, and nothing happens in His Dominion except what He wills.

There are many texts, which clearly state this. Allah (3), says:

﴿ وَمَا نَشَآءُونَ إِلَّا أَن يَشَآءَ ٱللَّهُ ... ۞ ﴾

(And you cannot will unless [it be] that Allah wills...) (Qur'an 81: 29)

﴿ ٥ وَلَوْ أَنَّنَا نَزَلْنَا إِلَيْهِمُ الْمَلَةِكَةَ وَكَلَّمَهُمُ الْمُؤْتَى وَحَشَرْنَا عَلَيْهِمْ كُلّ شَيْءٍ قُبُلًا مَا كَانُوا لِيُؤْمِنُوا إِلَا أَن يَشَآءَ اللهُ ... ٥

And even if We had sent down unto them angels, and the dead had spoken unto them, and We had gathered

45

together all things before their very eyes, they would not have believed, unless Allah willed...» (Qur'an 6: 111)

﴿ ... وَلَوْ شَاءَ رَبُّكَ مَا فَعَـلُوهُ ... ٢

(...If your Lord had so willed, they would not have done it...) (Qur'an 6: 112)

﴿ إِنَّمَا أَمْرُهُ إِذَا أَرَادَ شَيْعًا أَن يَقُولَ لَهُ كُن فَيَكُونُ ٢

(Verily, His Command, when He intends a thing, is only that He says to it, "Be!" - and it is!) (*Qur'an 36: 82*)

﴿ ... مَن يَشَا اللهُ يُضْلِلُهُ وَمَن يَشَأْ يَجْعَلُهُ عَلَى صِرَطٍ مُّسْتَقِيمٍ ٢

(...Allah sends astray whom He wills and He guides on the Straight Path whom He wills.) (Qur'an 6: 39)

The All-Encompassing will and Irresistible Power of Allah together are manifested in what has happened and what is yet to come. But they diverge with regard to what did not and will not happen.

Whatever Allah decrees will happen inevitably comes to pass by His Power. Whatever Allah does not will does not happen because Allah does not will it, not because He is not able to bring it about. Allah, says:

... وَلَوْ شَاءَ ٱللَّهُ مَا ٱفْتَسَتُلُوا وَلَكِنَ ٱللَّهَ يَفْعَلُ مَا يُرِيدُ

(...If Allah had willed, they would not have fought against one another, but Allah does what He likes.)

(Qur'an 2: 253)

... وَلَوْ شَاءَ اللهُ لَجْعَلَكُمْ أُمَّةً وَحِدَةً ...

(...If Allah had willed, He would have made you one nation...) (Qur'an 5: 48)

﴿ ... وَلَوْ شَاءَ أَلَنَّهُ لَجَمَعَهُمْ عَلَى ٱلْهُدَىٰ ... ٢

(...And had Allah willed, He could have gathered them together [all] on true guidance...) (Qur'an 6: 35)

﴿ وَلَوْ شَاءَ ٱللَّهُ مَا أَشْتَرَكُواْ ... ٢

(Had Allah willed, they would not have taken others besides Him in worship...) (Qur'an 6: 107)

﴿ وَلَوْ شَاءَ رَبُّكَ لَاَمَنَ مَن فِي ٱلْأَرْضِ كُلُّهُمْ جَبِيعًا ... @ ﴾

(And had your Lord willed, those on earth would have believed, all of them together...) (Qur'an 10: 99)

﴿ أَلَمْ تَرَ إِلَىٰ رَبِّكَ كَيْفَ مَدَّ ٱلْظِلُّ وَلَوْ شَآءَ لَجَعَلَهُ سَاكِمًا ... ٢

(Have you not seen how your Lord spread the shadow. If He willed, He could have made it still...) (Qur 'an 25: 45)

And there are many other *aayaat* (verses) which indicate that what He wills should not happen does not happen because He does not will it, not because He is not able to bring it to pass. For He is Able to do all things, may He be Glorified and Exalted.

The fourth pillar: Belief that Allah is the Creator of all things

The texts (of the Qur'an and Sunnah) state that Allah, the All-Powerful, is the Creator of all things. He is the One Who created, formed and brought His creation into being. He is the Creator and everything besides Him is subject to His dominion and control and is created by Him.

﴿ ٱللهُ خَلِقُ كُلِّ شَيْعٌ ... ٢ ٢ ٢ المعا in Al-Lauh al-

(Allah is the Creator of all things...) (Qur'an 39: 62)

٧ ﴿ إِنَّ رَبَّكَ هُوَ ٱلْحَلَنَى ٱلْعَلِيمُ ٥ ﴾ العام العد طحد وحدود العام العدود.

Definition of Qadaa (Divine Will) and Qadar (Predestination)

(Verily, your Lord is the All-Knowing Creator.) (Qur'an 15: 86)

﴿ ٱلْحَمَدُ لِلَّهِ ٱلَّذِي خَلَقَ ٱلسَّمَوَاتِ وَٱلْأَرْضَ وَجَعَلَ ٱلظُّلُمَنَتِ وَٱلنُّوَّرَّ ... ٢

(All praises and thanks be to Allah, Who [Alone] created the heavens and the earth, and originated the darkness and the light...)
(Qur'an 6: 1)

مِنْهُمَا رِجَالًا كَثِيرًا وَنِسَآةً ... ٢

O' mankind! Be dutiful to your Lord, Who created you from a single person [Adam], and from him [Adam] He created his wife [Hawwa (Eve)], and from them both He created many men and women...) (Qur'an 4: 1)

﴿ وَهُوَ ٱلَّذِى خَلَقَ ٱلَّبْلَ وَٱلنَّهَارَ وَٱلْخَمْسَ وَٱلْقَمَّرَ كُلُّ فِي فَلَكٍ بَمْجَحُونَ ٢

(And He it is Who has created the night and the day, and the sun and the moon, each in an orbit floating.)

(Qur'an 21: 33)

And there are many similar aayaat (verses).

4 - People's Deeds are Created by Allah and Decreed by Him

People and their deeds are no different to any other created things when it comes to predestination (*qadar*). Allah already knows what He will create through the actions of His slaves and He knows what they will do. He has written all of that in *Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz* (the preserved tablet). Allah created them as He willed, and His decree concerning them will be fulfilled. They will act in accordance with the will of Allah. Those, whom Allah has decreed will be blessed, will be guided, and those whom Allah has decreed will be doomed will go astray. Allah knows the people of Paradise and facilitates and assists them to the deeds of the people of Paradise, and He knows the people of Hell and facilitates them to the actions of the people of Hell.

The texts that we have quoted above offer sufficient proof of this and there is no need to repeat them here. But there are many other texts, which also provide clear evidence concerning this matter. Allah (); says:

﴿ وَٱللَّهُ خَلَقَكُمْ وَمَا تَعْمَلُونَ ٢

49

(While Allah has created you and what you make!) (Qur'an 37: 96)

﴿ وَكُلُّ شَيْءٍ فَعَــَكُوهُ فِي ٱلزُّبُرِ ٢

(And everything they have done is noted in [their] Records [of deeds].) (Qur'an 54: 52)

أَن مَعْمَدُ عَنْ أَنْثَى وَلَا تَضَمُ إِلَا بِعِلْمِهِ، وَمَا يُعَمَّرُ مِن مُعَمَّرٍ وَلَا يُنقَصُ مِنْ عُمَرٍ وَلَا يُعَمَّرُ مِن عُمَرً مَعَمَّرٍ وَلَا يُنقَصُ مِنْ عُمُرُهِ إِلَا فِي كِنْبٍ إِنَّ ذَلِكَ عَلَى ٱللَّهِ يَمِرُ ()

(...And no female conceives or gives birth but with His Knowledge. And no aged man is granted a length of life nor is a part cut off from his life [or another man's life], but is in a Book [*Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz*]. Surely, that is easy for Allah.)

﴿ مَن يَهْدِ أَلَمَهُ فَهُوَ ٱلْمُهْتَدِى وَمَن يُضْلِلْ فَأُوْلَتِكَ هُمُ ٱلْخَنِيرُونَ ٢

(Whomsoever Allah guides, he is the guided one, and whomsoever He sends astray, - then those! They are the losers.) (Qur'an 7: 178) ... إِنَّ رَبِّكَ هُوَ أَعَامُ بِعَن ضَلَّ عَن سَبِيلِهِ فَهُوَ أَعْلَمُ بِالْمُهْتَلِينَ ٢

(...Truly, your Lord knows best who has gone astray from His path, and He is the Best Aware of those who are guided.) (Qur'an 16: 125)

There are many *ahaadeeth* which reach the level of being *mutawaatir*,²³ whose meaning is that the Lord of people knows what people will do; He has willed and decreed that, and the matter is cut and dried. He knows people's ultimate destiny, whether they are blessed (destined for Paradise) or doomed (destined for Hell). But at the same time He has told us that *qadar* is not a reason why people should not strive: "Strive, for each person will be guided to do that for which he was created."

Texts Which Indicate that Allah Has Decreed the Deeds of His Slaves

(1) *Aḥaadeeth* which indicate that the pens have dried concerning people's deeds and that events materialize accordingly

Muslim narrated in his *Ṣaḥeeḥ* that Jaabir said: "Suraaqah ibn Maalik ibn Ju'sham came and said: 'O' Messenger of Allah, explain our religion to us as if we had only just been created. What should we strive for today? Is it for something concerning which the pens have dried and the decree has been issued, or is it concerning something that is yet to be decided?' He (ﷺ) said, 'No, it is for something concerning which the pens have dried and the decree has been issued.' He said, 'Then why should we strive?' He said: 'Strive, for each person will be

²³ *Mutawaatir*: A terminology of the science of hadith, it means that a particular hadith has been reported through a number of chain of narrators.

51

provided (respective) facilities." According to another report: "Strive, for each person will be facilitated to do his deeds."²⁴

Tirmidhi narrated in his *Sunan* that 'Umar ibn al-Khaṭṭaab (ﷺ) said to the Messenger (ﷺ): "O' Messenger of Allah, Do you think that what we strive to do emanates from our own initiative or something that has been decreed already?" He said,

"It is something that has been decreed already, O' son of al-Khattaab. Every person will be facilitated to what he intends to do. If he is one of the blessed, he will do that which will take him to Paradise, and if he is one of the doomed, he will be facilitated to do that which will send him to Hell." Tirmidhi said: this is a *saheeh hasan* hadith.²⁵

(2) Allah knows who will go to Paradise and who will go to Hell

Bukhari narrated that 'Imran ibn Ḥuṣayn said: "A man said, 'O' Messenger of Allah, is it known who will go to Paradise and who will go to Hell?' He (選) said, 'Yes.' He asked, 'Then why should people strive?' He said: 'Everyone will be guided to do that for which he was created.""

Muslim narrated in his *Şaḥeeḥ* that 'Ali said: "We were at a funeral in *Baqee* '*al-Gharqad*²⁶ and the Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) came to us. He sat down, then we sat down around him. He had a small stick with him, and he lowered his head and started to draw lines on the ground with his stick. Then he said: 'There is no one among you, there is not a living soul, but Allah has already decreed his place in Paradise or in Hell, and it has been decreed whether he is blessed or doomed.'"

²⁴ Muslim, 4/2040, hadith no. 2648.

²⁵ Tirmidhi, 4/445, hadith no. 2135.

²⁶ Baqee ' al-Gharqad: The cemetery of the people of Madeenah.

A man asked: "O' Messenger of Allah, why do we not rely on what has been written, and not bother to strive?" He said: "Whoever is one of the blessed will end up doing the actions of those who are blessed, and whoever is one of the doomed will end up doing the actions of those who are doomed." Then he said²⁷: "Strive, for everyone will be guided. Those who are blessed will be guided to do the actions of those who are blessed, and those who are doomed will be facilitated to do the actions of those who are doomed." Then he (ﷺ) recited:

﴿ فَأَمَّا مَنْ أَعْطَىٰ وَٱلْقَىٰ ۞ وَصَدَّقَ بِٱلْحُسْنَى ۞ فَسَنَيْسِرُمُ لِلْيُسْرَىٰ ۞ وَأَمَّا مَنْ بَخِلَ وَاسْتَغْنَى ۞ وَكَذَبَ بِٱلْحُسْنَى ۞ فَسَنَيْسِرُمُ لِلْعُسْرَىٰ ۞ ﴾

(As for him who gives [in charity] and keeps his duty to Allah and fears Him, And believes in *Al-Husnaa* [the best]. We will make smooth for him the path of ease [goodness]. But he who is greedy, miser and thinks himself self-sufficient. And belies *Al-Husnaa*, We will make smooth for him the path for evil.)

(Qur'an 92: 5-10)

(3) The progeny of Adam were brought forth from his loins after he was created, and were divided into two groups - the people of Paradise and the people of Hell

Our Messenger (ﷺ) told us that after creating Adam, Allah wiped his back and brought forth his progeny from his back, looking like little ants, and from them He brought forth the people of Paradise and the people of Hell.

Maalik, Tirmidhi and Abu Dawood narrated that Muslim ibn Yasaar said: "Umar ibn al-Khattaab (ﷺ) said concerning the *aayah*:

²⁷ This is how it appears in the hadith, the words "then he said" are repeated.

Divine Will and Predestination

53

﴿ وَإِذْ أَخَذَ رَبُّكَ مِنْ بَنِيَ ءَادَمَ مِن ظُهُورِهِمْ ذُرِّيَّنَّهُمْ وَأَسْهَدُهُمْ عَلَى أَنفُسِهِمْ ٱلسَّتُ بِرَبِّكُمُّ قَالُوا بَنَّى شَهِدْنَا أَبِ تَقُولُوا بَوْمَ ٱلْقِيَـٰهَةِ إِنَّا كُنَّا عَنْ هَذَا غنفلين (

And [remember] when your Lord brought forth from the Children of Adam, from their loins, their seed [or from Adam's loin his offspring] and made them testify as to themselves [saying]: "Am I not your Lord?" They said: "Yes! We testify," lest you should say on the Day of Resurrection: "Verily, we have been unaware of this." (*Qur'an 7: 172*)

"Umar said: I heard the Messenger of Allah (選) being asked about this and he said: "Allah created Adam, then He wiped his back with His Right Hand, and brought forth from him his progeny. He said, "I have created these for Paradise, and they will do the deeds of the people of Paradise." Then He wiped his back (again), and brought forth more of his progeny and said: "I have created these for Hell, and they will do the deeds of the people of Hell." The man asked, "So why should we strive?" The Messenger of Allah (送) said:

"If Allah created a person for Paradise, He will cause him to do the deeds of the people of Paradise, until he dies doing one of the deeds of the people of Paradise, so he will enter Paradise by virtue of that deed. If He created a person for Hell, He will cause him to do the deeds of the people of Hell, until he dies doing one of the deeds of the people of Hell, so he will enter Hell by virtue of that deed.""²⁸

²⁸ Mishkaat al-Maşaabeeh, 1/34, hadith no. 95. The editor of Al-Mishkaat, Shaykh Naaşiruddin al-Albaani, said: The men of its Isnad are *thiqaat* (trustworthy), the men of the two shaykhs (i.e., Bukhari and Muslim), but it is *munqați'*, i.e., there is a gap in the Isnad between Muslim ibn Yasaar and 'Umar. But there are many corroborating reports.

Imam Aḥmad narrated in his *Musnad* with a *şaḥeeḥ* Isnad (authentic chain of narrators) that Ibn 'Abbaas said: "The Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) said: 'Allah took the Covenant from the loins of Adam at Nu'maan - i.e., at 'Arafaah. He brought forth from his loins all of his progeny and spread them before Him like small ants, then He addressed them directly, saying:

﴿ ... أَلَسْتُ بِرَبِكُمْ قَالُوا بَنْي شَهِدْنَا آَتِ تَقُولُوا يَوْمَ آلَقِيكُمَةِ إِنَّا كُنَا عَنْ هَنذا غَنفِلِينَ ٢ أَوْ نَقُولُوا إِنَّمَا أَشَرُكَ ءَابَآؤُنَا مِن قَبْلُ وَكُنَا ذُرِيَّةً مِنْ بَعْدِهِمْ أَوْنَبْلِكُنا بِمَا فَعَلْ ٱلْمُتَطِلُونَ ٢

(...'Am I not your Lord?' They said: 'Yes! We testify,' lest you should say on the Day of Resurrection: 'Verily, we have been unaware of this.' Or lest you should say: "It was only our fathers aforetime who took others as partners in worship along with Allah, and we were [merely their] descendants after them; will You then destroy us because of the deeds of men who practised *Al-Baațil* [i.e. polytheism and committing crimes and sins, invoking and worshipping others besides Allah]?

(Qur'an 7: 172-173)."²⁹

Ahmad narrated in his *Musnad* with a *saheeh* Isnad from Abu Dardaa' that the Prophet (ﷺ) said:

"Allah created Adam when He created him, then He struck him on the right shoulder and his progeny emerged, looking white like small ants. Then He struck his left shoulder and his progeny emerged looking black like ashes. He said to those who were on the right, 'To Paradise, and I do not care,' and He said to those who were on the left, 'To Hell, and I do not care.""³⁰

²⁹ *Ibid*, 1/43.

³⁰ Opt. cit, 1/42.

The Messenger (ﷺ) explained in another hadith:

"Allah created His creation in darkness, then He threw from His light upon them. Whoever was touched by that light will be guided, and whomever it missed will be led astray. Hence I say that the pen has dried according to the knowledge of Allah."

This is narrated by Tirmidhi from 'Abdullah ibn 'Amr. He said, this is a *hasan* hadith.³¹

(4) Allah has written down the names of the people of Paradise and the people of Hell

Tirmidhi reported in his Sunan that 'Abdullah ibn 'Amr ibn al-'Aas said: "The Messenger of Allah (差) came out to us with two books in his hand. He said, 'Do you know what these two books are?' We said, 'No, O' Messenger of Allah, we do not know unless you tell us.' Concerning the book in his right hand, he said, 'This is a book from the Lord of the Worlds. In it are the names of the people of Paradise, and the names of their fathers and tribes. They are all listed, down to the very last one of them; no names will ever be added or taken away.' Then he said concerning the book in his left hand, 'This is a book from the Lord of the Worlds. In it are the names of the people of Hell, and the names of their fathers and tribes. They are all listed, down to the very last one of them; no names will ever be added or taken away.' His Companions said: 'So why should we strive, O' Messenger of Allah, if it has been decreed and decided?' He said: 'Do what is right and do your best, for the person who is destined for Paradise will be caused to die when he is doing one of the deeds of the people of Paradise, no matter what he did before, and the one who is destined for Hell will be caused to die when he is doing one of the

³¹ Tirmidhi, 5/26; hadith no. 2642.

deeds of the people of Hell, no matter what he did before.' Then The Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) put the books aside and said: 'Your Lord has finished with the matter of His slaves: some are for Paradise and some are for Hell.'" Tirmidhi said: this is a *şaḥeeḥ ghareeb ḥasan* hadith.³²

(5) The decree on Laylat al-Qadr and the decree day to day

We have stated above that Allah issued His decrees for His slaves fifty thousand years before He created His creation. The Qur'an and Sunnah indicate that there are two kinds of decree: the annual decree and the daily decree. The annual decree takes place on *Laylat al-Qadr*, when details of who will live and die during the coming year, how much provision and rain people will have, what actions people will do, and so on, are transferred from *Umm al-Kitaab*. Allah (35), says:

﴿ إِنَّا أَنزَلْنَهُ فِي لَيْـلَةٍ مُبْنَزَكَةٍ إِنَّا كُنَّا مُنذِينِ ﴾ فِيهَا يُفَرَقُ كُلُ أَمَّرٍ حَكِيمٍ ﴾ أَمْرًا مِنْ عِندِنَأً إِنَّا كُنَّا مُرْسِلِينَ ﴾

(We sent it [this Qur'an] down on a blessed night [(i.e. the Night of *Al-Qadr*) in the month of Ramadaan]. Verily, We are ever warning [mankind that Our Torment will reach those who disbelieve in Our Oneness of *Ruboobiyah* (Lordship) and in Our Oneness of worship]. Therein [that night] is decreed every matter of ordainments. As a Command [or this Qur'an or the Decree of every matter] from Us. Verily, We are ever sending [the Messengers]. (*Qur'an 44: 3-5*)

The daily decree means the carrying out of the decrees so that they happen at the times previously determined. Allah (4), the All-

³² Tirmidhi, 4/450, hadith no. 2141. See also *Şaheeh Sunan at-Tirmidhi* edited by Shaykh Naaşiruddeen al-Albaani, 2/225.

Glorious, says:

﴿ يَسْتَلُمُ مَن فِي ٱلسَّمَنَوَتِ وَٱلْأَرْضُ كُلَّ يَوْمٍ هُوَ فِي شَأْنٍ ٢

(Whosoever is in the heavens and on the earth begs of Him [its needs from Him]. Every day He is [engaged] in some affair [such as giving honour or disgrace to some, life or death to some]!) (Qur'an 55: 29)

Ibn Jareer narrated from Muneeb ibn 'Abdullah that his father said: the Messenger of Allah (變) recited this *aayah* (verse), and we said, "O' Messenger of Allah, what is that affair?" He said: "He forgives sins, relieves distress, raises the status of some people and lowers the status of others."

The summary of the comments of the *mufassireen* on this *aayah* is: that part of Allah's affair every day is to give life and give death, to create and to give provision, to grant glory to some people and to humiliate others, to heal the sick, free prisoners, grant relief to the distressed, answer those who call upon Him, give to those who ask of Him, forgive sins, and other innumerable things that He does and initiates in His creation.³³

(6) The writing of the decree for a person when he is a foetus in his mother's womb

It is narrated in the *aḥaadeeth* that Allah sends an angel to the foetus in his mother's womb, to write down his provision, his lifespan and whether he is doomed (destined for Hell) or blessed (destined for Paradise). In *Ṣaḥeeḥ Bukhari* and *Ṣaḥeeḥ Muslim*, it is narrated that 'Abdullah (i.e., Ibn Mas'ood) said: "The Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) told us:

³³ This is stated by the author of *Ma'aarij al-Qubool*, 1/346, narrating from the *mufassir* Al-Baghawi.

"(As regards your creation) every one of you is collected in the womb of his mother for the first forty days, and then he becomes a clot for another forty days, and then a piece of flesh for another forty days. Then Allah sends an angel to breathe the soul into him. Then he is commanded to write four decrees: his provision, his lifespan, his deeds, and whether he will be doomed or blessed (in the Hereafter). By the One besides Whom there is no other god, one of you may do the deeds of the people of Paradise until there is no more than a cubit between him and it, then the decree overtakes him and he does the actions of the people of Hell, and thus he enters it (Hell). And one of you may do the deeds of the people of Hell until there is no more than a cubit between him and it, then the decree overtakes him and it, then the decree overtakes him and he does the actions of the people of Hell until there is no more than a cubit between him and it, then the decree overtakes him and he does the actions of the people of Paradise until there is no more than a cubit between him and it, then the decree overtakes him and he does the actions of the people of Paradise until there is no more than a cubit between him and it, then the decree overtakes him and he does the actions of the people of Paradise, and thus he enters it (Paradise)."³⁴

In *Şaḥeeḥ Bukhari* it is narrated from Anas ibn Maalik (ﷺ) that the Prophet (ﷺ) said:

"Allah appoints an angel to (oversee the foetus in) the womb, and he says, 'O' Lord, a *nutfah* (drop of sperm); O' Lord, an *'alaqah* (a clot); O' Lord, a *mudghah* (a lump of flesh).' When Allah wants to complete His creation, he (the angel) says, 'O' Lord, male or female, doomed or blessed? What is his provision? What is his lifespan?' All of that is written while he is in his mother's womb."³⁵

Tirmidhi narrated in his Sunan that Anas (会) said: the Messenger of Allah (愛) said: "When Allah wills good for His slave, He guides him." It was said, "How does He guide him, O' Messenger of

³⁴ Bukhari. See *Fath al-Baari*, 11/477. Muslim, 4/2037, hadith no. 2643. This version is narrated by Muslim. Also Abu Dawood and Tirmidhi.

³⁵ Bukhari, *Fath al-Baari*, 11/477; Muslim, 4/2038, hadith no. 2646. This version is by Bukhari.

59

Allah?" He said: "He helps him to do a righteous deed before he dies." Tirmidhi said: this is a *saheeh hasan* hadith.³⁶

Muslim narrated in his *Ṣaḥeeḥ* that Abu Hurayrah (ﷺ) stated: the Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) said:

"A man may do the deeds of the people of Paradise for a long time, then his life ends with an action of the people of Hell, or a man may do the deeds of the people of Hell for a long time, then his life ends with an action of the people of Paradise."³⁷

It is narrated from Sahl ibn Sa'd al-Saa'idi that the Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) said:

"A man may do the deeds of the people of Paradise as far as people can see, but he is one of the people of Hell, or a man may do the deeds of the people of Hell as far as people can see, but he is one of the people of Paradise."³⁸

The story of the man who the Messenger (變) said was one of the people of Hell is worth quoting because of the valuable lesson we may learn from it. In *Saheeh Bukhari* it is narrated from Abu Haazim from Sahl ibn Sa'd that during one of the military campaigns of the Prophet (變) there was a man who was excelling in fighting. The Prophet (變) looked at him and said: "Whoever wants to see a man from among the people of Hell, let him look at that man."

One of the people followed him, and at that point he was one of the fiercest fighters against the *mushrikeen* (polytheists), until he was wounded. Then he hastened his own death by driving his sword into his chest until the point emerged between his shoulders. The man (who had seen this) rushed back to the Messenger (避) and said, "I

³⁶ Tirmidhi, 4/450, no. 2142.

³⁷ Muslim, 4/2042, hadith no. 2651.

³⁸ Ibid.

bear witness that you are the Messenger of Allah!" He said, "What happened?" He said, "You said to so and so, 'Whoever wants to see a man from among the people of Hell, let them look at this man.' He was one of the greatest among us at fighting in defence of the Muslims, but I knew that he would not die like that. When he was wounded, he hastened his own death and killed himself." At this, the Prophet (ﷺ) said:

"A slave may do the deeds of the people of Hell, but he is one of the people of Paradise, or he may do the deeds of the people of Paradise, but he is one of the people of Hell. But it is the final deed that counts."³⁹

³⁹ Fath al-Baari, 11/499, hadith no. 6607.

CHAPTER FOUR

LIMITS WITHIN WHICH PREDESTINATION (*QADAR*) MAY BE SUBJECTED TO RATIONAL ANALYSIS

Abu al-Muzaffar as-Sam'aani said, Ibn Hajar al-'Asqalaani narrated: "The way to understand this matter is to stop at what has been said in the Qur'an and Sunnah, without referring to analogy and reason. Whoever is not contented to stop at this point will be misled and lost in a sea of confusion, and will not find anything to put his mind at rest, because *qadar* is one of the secrets of Allah which is known only to the All-Knowing, All-Aware. He has put a veil around it and has concealed it from the minds and knowledge of His creation, for reasons that are known only unto Him, so it is not known by any Prophet who was sent or by any angel who is close to Allah."¹

At-Țaḥaawi (may Allah have mercy on him) said: "The *qadar* is a secret of Allah concerning His creation. No angel who is close to Allah or Prophet and Messenger has any knowledge of it. Delving into the matter in depth means that one will be forsaken by Allah and lost in confusion, deprivation and transgression. So beware of examining it and thinking about it, and (exposing oneself to) insinuating whispers. Allah, the All-High, has withheld knowledge of *qadar* from His creation, and has forbidden them to seek to understand it. Allah (), says:

﴿ لَا يُسْتَلْ عَمَّا يَفْعَلُ وَهُمْ يُسْتَلُونَ ٢

He cannot be questioned as to what He does, while they

¹ Fath al-Baari, 11/499. See also Sharh an-Nawawi 'ala Muslim, 16/196.

will be questioned.) (Qur'an 21: 23)."²

Al-Aajurri said: "It is not proper for the Muslims to enquire in depth into the matter of *qadar*, because *qadar* is one of the secrets of Allah, and it is obligatory to believe in all the decrees of Allah, good and evil alike. Moreover, there is no guarantee that a person's inquiries into the matter of *qadar* will not cause him to reject the decrees of Allah concerning His slaves, and thus be misguided from the path of truth."³

Imam Ahmad (may Allah have mercy on him) said: "It is a part of the well-known Sunnah to believe in *qadar*, both good and evil, to accept the *ahaadeeth* on this topic and to believe in them, and not to ask why or how. The correct way is to accept it and believe in it. If a person does not know the explanation of a hadith or understand it in a rational sense, he does not have to; but he still has to believe it and accept it, like the *ahaadeeth* of the Prophet (ﷺ) and other reports about *qadar*."⁴

'Ali ibn al-Madeeni said something similar to what Imam Ahmad said about *qadar*.⁵

Some Important Principles About Qadar

What the scholars have said about *qadar* (predestination) sets out a number of principles which are of the utmost importance:

- 1. It is obligatory (waajib) to believe in qadar.
- 2. With regard to understanding *qadar* and defining its limits and dimensions, we must rely on the Qur'an and Sunnah, and not on

² Sharh at-Ţaḥaawiyah, p. 276.

³ Ash-Sharee'ah by Al-Aajurri, p. 149.

⁴ Sharh Usool I'tiqaad Ahl as-Sunnah, p. 157.

⁵ *Ibid*, p. 165.

rational analysis and analogy. For human reason is incapable on its own of forming the guidelines which will save it from going astray on this issue. Those who indulged in discussing this issue from a rational point of view have gone astray and gotten lost. Some of them denied *qadar* altogether; some of them thought that belief in *qadar* implied that we are compelled (*al-jabr*); and some created a conflict between shari'ah and *qadar*. Each one of these deviations caused problems in people's daily lives and societies, because ideological deviations cause deviations in behaviour and daily life.

3. We should avoid discussing *qadar* in depth, because some aspects of it cannot be comprehended by the human mind, no matter how brilliant it may be, and others cannot be comprehended except with a great deal of difficulty.

It may be said: is this not a means of restricting the human intellect? The answer is that this is not aimed at restricting human thought, but at protecting the human mind from wasting its energy on something at which it cannot excel, so that it can engage in areas where can succeed.

Islam presents man with the guidelines for believing in *qadar*. The concept of *qadar* is based on the fact that Allah knew everything that would be, and He wrote it, willed it and created it. It is easy for the human mind to understand these facts; there is nothing difficult, complex or ambiguous here.

But searching for the secret of *qadar* and pursuing the matter in depth is a waste of intellectual energy. The attempt to understand how Allah knew, wrote, willed and created, is an attempt to understand the essence of Allah's attributes and how these attributes operate these matters are hidden from the human mind. This is something which is unseen, which we are required to believe in, but it is not permissible to ask about their nature and essence. The one who asks about these things is like the one who asks how Allah rose over the Throne. What we say to him is: these are attributes on which the principle of predestination (*qadar*) is based. The apparent meaning is understood, but how it happens is not known to us. It is obligatory to believe in it, but asking how is *bid'ah* (heresy).

Asking about its nature, how is the matter, exhausts those who ask about *qadar*, and makes the matter complicated and makes believing in *qadar* difficult. This is the cause of the confusion which affects many of those who look into this matter.

Hence, scholars defined the limits beyond which it is not permissible to go when discussing *qadar*. We have quoted above what Imam Ahmad ibn Hanbal (may Allah have mercy on him) said: "It is a part of the well-known Sunnah to believe in *qadar*, both good and evil, to accept the *ahaadeeth* on this topic and to believe in them, and not to ask why or how."⁶

Those who discussed the matter of *qadar* (predestination) indulged in discussing how Allah creates the deeds of His slaves when these deeds in fact stem from the individual, and they discussed how Allah knows what His slaves will do, and how He obliged His slaves to strive even though He knew what they would do, and He knows whether their ultimate destination will be Paradise or Hell.

Those who discussed this matter tried to create conflicts between parts of the Qur'an, and they became confused and lost, and failed to reach any sound conclusion. The Messenger (變) warned his ummah against following this path and indulging in this vast desert. In *Sunan at-Tirmidhi* it is narrated with a *hasan* Isnad that Abu Hurayrah (之) said: "The Messenger of Allah (變) came out when we were debating about *qadar*, and he became so angry that his face turned red, as if a pomegranate had been squeezed over his face. He said,

⁶ Sharh I'tiqaad Ahl as-Sunnah by Al-Laalkaa'i, 1/157.

'Is this what you have been commanded to do? Is this why I was sent to you? Those who came before you were destroyed when they debated about this matter. I urge you not to dispute about it."⁷

The extent to which the human mind can comprehend the reasons behind things, the commands and deeds, and what is good or evil in them

The majority of scholars of earlier and later times said that there are reasons and wisdom behind the commands that Allah gives and the things that He creates, because He does not issue any command except for a reason, and He does not create anything except for a reason.

Some of these reasons are connected with people, and others are related to Allah. Those that are connected with people have to do with what is good for them and is in their best interests, in this world or in the Hereafter. Those that are connected to Allah have to do with the fact that He loves to be worshipped and obeyed, and to have people turn to Him in repentance, put their hopes in Him, fear Him, place their trust in Him and struggle hard in His way and for His sake. Allah (ﷺ), says:

Evc ﴿ وَمَا خَلَقْتُ أَلِجْنَ وَأَلْإِنسَ إِلَّا لِيَعْبُدُونِ ٢ ﴾ ما or mischievous, even if

(And I [Allah] created not the jinn and mankind except that they should worship Me [Alone].) (Qur'an 51: 56)

﴿ أَيْحَسَبُ ٱلْإِنْسَنُ أَنْ يُتَرَكُ سُدًى ٢

without sending Messengers

Does man think that he will be left neglected [without being punished or rewarded for the obligatory duties

⁷ Tirmidhi, 2/223.

enjoined by his Lord Allah on him]? (Qur'an 75: 36)

﴿ وَمَا أَرْسَلْنَكَ إِلَّا رَحْمَةُ لِلْعَلَمِينَ ﴾

And We have sent you [O' Muhammad] not but as a mercy for the 'Aalameen [mankind, jinn and all that exists]. (Qur'an 21: 107)

﴿ أَنْحَسِبْتُمْ أَنَّمَا خَلَقْنَكُمْ عَبَثًا وَأَنَّكُمْ إِلَيْنَا لَا تُرْجَعُونَ ٢

(Did you think that We had created you in play [without any purpose], and that you would not be brought back to Us?) (Qur'an 23: 115)

There are many texts, which indicate that Allah is Wise in all that He commands and creates; it is not possible to list them all here. The human mind can comprehend only a little of this wisdom.

Majority of the scholars also said that the human mind is able to grasp what deeds are good and evil. So reason understands that oppression, lying, stealing and killing are evil, and that justice, truthfulness, reconciliation and saving someone who is drowning are good.

The purposes that shari'ah seeks to achieve fall into three categories:

 Every action is either good and beneficial or mischievous, even if shari'ah does not refer specifically to a given action. It is known that justice serves the interests of all, whilst oppression has the opposite effect. This category refers to right and wrong, and we may know what is right and wrong through reason or through shari'ah. But reason alone cannot know that a person will be punished for a wrong action in the Hereafter, unless shari'ah clearly states that this is the case. Whoever asserts that Allah can punish His slaves for evil actions such as *shirk*, *kufr*, etc., without sending Messengers to them, is mistaken.

- 2. When the Lawgiver commands something, it is good, and when He forbids something, it is evil. Thus, actions are determined to be either good or evil according to the statements of the Lawgiver.
- 3. The Lawgiver commands things as a test and a trial, as when Allah commanded Ibraaheem (Abraham) to sacrifice his son Ismaa'eel (Ishmael). The intention was not that the child should be slaughtered; the aim was to test Ibraaheem.

The *Mu'talizah* approved of the first category, but not the second or third. The *Ash'ari'ah* said that all the commands and prohibitions of shari'ah were in the nature of a test, and that no deeds could be described as being good or evil, whether in the light of shari'ah or otherwise. But wise people, and the majority of scholars, affirm all three categories.⁸

This is the view of the majority of *Ahl as-Sunnah*, that there are reasons behind all that Allah does and that it is possible, by rational analysis, to know which actions are good and which ones are evil. This opens the door for the human mind to examine the clear reasons for which Allah created all things, and why He prescribed the laws that He prescribed. This is a vast area, in which people can gain great knowledge, strengthen their faith, increase their conviction and come to realize the absolute perfection of the Mighty Creator.

﴿ ٱلَّذِي أَحْسَنَ كُلُّ شَيْءٍ خَلَقَهُم ... ٥

(Who made everything He has created good...) (Qur'an 32: 7)

How can it be otherwise, when Allah has promised to show His slaves His mighty Signs which confirm the truth of the Message

67

⁸ Concerning the reasons behind what Allah does and the rational analysis of which actions are good and which are bad, see *Majmoo' al-Fataawa* of Shaykh allslam Ibn Taymiyah 8/122, 308, 428.

brought by His Messenger, and He has revealed in His Book the words:

﴿ سَنُرِيهِمْ ءَايَنِنَا فِي ٱلْآفَاقِ وَفِيَّ أَنْفُسِمِمْ حَتَّىٰ يَتَبَيَّنَ لَهُمْ أَنَّهُ الْحَقُّ ... ٢

(We will show them Our Signs in the universe, and in their own selves, until it becomes manifest to them that this [the Qur'an] is the truth...) (Qur'an 41: 53)
The Qur'an commands us to look at, think about and ponder the aavaat (verses) that He has revealed, and the signs that He has created:

(Do they not then think deeply in the Qur'an 47: 24)

﴿ قُلِ ٱنْظُرُواْ مَاذَا فِي ٱلسَّمَوَتِ وَٱلْأَرْضِ ... ٢

(Say: 'Behold all that is in the heavens and the earth'...) (Qur'an 10: 101)

﴿ أَفَلَا يَنْظُرُونَ إِلَى ٱلْإِبِلِ كَيْفَ خُلِقَتْ ﴾

Do they not look at the camels, how they are created? (Qur'an 88: 17)

﴿ فَلَيْظُرِ ٱلْإِنسَنُ إِلَى طَعَامِهِ ۞ أَنَا صَبَبَنَا ٱلْمَآة صَبَّا ۞ ثُمَّ شَقَقًا ٱلأَرْضَ شَقًا ﴾ ﴾

(Then let man look at his food: We pour forth water in abundance. And We split the earth in clefts.)

(Qur'an 80: 24-26)

CHAPTER FIVE

SCHOOLS OF THOUGHT ON QADAR (PREDESTINATION)

Among the Muslims there are a number of schools of thought on the issue of *qadar* (predestination), which may be classified as follows:

1 - The View of those Who Deny Qadar

Some of those who are misguided on this matter deny *qadar* and claim that Allah - Exalted be He above what they say - does not know anything before it happens, and that He does not have prior knowledge. They say that Allah only knows about things after they are created and brought into being.

These people falsely claim that when Allah issues commands and prohibitions to His slaves, He does not know who will obey Him and who will disobey Him, and that He does not know who will enter Paradise and who will enter Hell, until some of His slaves respond to His commands and others reject them; only then does He know who is blessed and who is doomed. These misguided people reject belief in the prior knowledge of Allah, and they deny that Allah wrote the decrees concerning His creation before He created the heavens and the earth, as is stated in the Qur'an and Sunnah.

This view developed at the end of the era of the *Ṣaḥaabah* (the Companions of the Prophet). The first one to say this was Ma'bad al-Juhani, whose deviated belief was followed by the leaders and *aaimmah* of the *Mu'tazilah*, such as Waaşil ibn 'Aṭaa' al-Ghazzaal and 'Amr ibn 'Ubayd. Many reprehensible remarks have been transmitted from them on this issue, which imply disbelief in what Allah and His Messenger (ﷺ) said about Allah having knowledge of

things and having written them before He created them.¹

The Messenger (2) was afraid that his ummah would fall into the error which this group fell into. According to a *saheeh* (authentic) hadith narrated by Ibn Abi Mihjan, the Messenger of Allah (2) said:

"I fear for my ummah three things after I am gone: oppression of their leaders, belief in the stars (astrology) and disbelief in aadar."2

It is narrated by Abu Ya'la in his Musnad, Al-Khateeb in At-Taareekh and Ibn 'Adiy in Al-Kaamil, with a saheeh (sound) Isnad that Anas (論) said: the Messenger of Allah (體) said:

"I fear for my ummah two things after I am gone: disbelief in qadar and belief in the stars (astrology)."3

The Messenger () warned his ummah against this misguidance. In a hadith narrated by Tabaraani in Al-Mu'jam al-Awsat, and by Al-Haakim in Al-Mustadrak, from Abu Hurayrah (認識), the Prophet (幾) said:

"Discussion about *qadar* has been left for the evil people among my ummah to discuss."4

Tabaraani narrated in Al-Mu'jam al-Kabeer that Abu Umaamah said: the Messenger of Allah (梁) said:

"This ummah is fine and will remain so until they start to speak about those who die in childhood and about gadar."5

⁵ Ibid, 3/72, hadith no. 3060.

¹ 'Ageedat as-Safaareeni, 1/300; Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/59.

² Saheeh al-Jaami' as-Sagheer, 1/120, hadith no. 212. and 'Amr ibn 'Ubayd. Many reprehen

³ *Ibid*, 1/120, hadith no, 120,

⁴ Ibid, 1/123, hadith no. 224.

The Messenger (3) called this group the "Magians" of this ummah, because the Magians (Zoroastrians) believe in the existence of two creators, light and darkness, and this group believes in the existence of many creators and say that each person is a creator alongside Allah. The Messenger (3) commanded that this group should be forsaken and boycotted, they should not be visited even when they are sick. According to the hadith narrated by Aḥmad in his *Musnad* with a *ḥasan* Isnad from Ibn 'Umar, the Prophet (3) said:

"Every nation has its 'Magians', and the 'Magians' of my ummah are those who say that there is no *qadar*. If they fall sick, do not visit them, and when they die, do not attend their funerals."⁶

According to another hadith narrated by Aḥmad and Abu Dawood from Ibn 'Umar, the Messenger of Allah (邂) said:

"The *qadariyah* are the 'Magians' of this ummah. If they fall sick do not visit them and when they die, do not attend their funerals."⁷

The *Ṣaḥaabah* (the Companions of the Prophet), attacked those who held these misguided beliefs on all fronts, denouncing them for their message of misguidance and falsehood. They forbade the people to mix with them and sit with them, and quoted to them the texts which exposed their falsehood and confirmed the truth of the matter of *qadar*.

In *Sunan at-Tirmidhi* it is narrated from Naafi' that a man came to Ibn 'Umar and said: "So and so sends greetings of *salaam* to you." Ibn 'Umar said: "I have heard that he has innovated something. If he has

⁶ Saheeh al-Jaami' as-Sagheer, 5/37, hadith no. 5039.

⁷ Mishkaat al-Maşaabeeh, 1/38, hadith no. 107. The editor, Shaykh Naaşiruddin al-Albaani, noted in his commentary on Al-Mishkaat that the hadith has a hasan Isnad.

innovated something then do not convey my greetings of *salaam* to him, for I heard the Messenger of Allah (避) say:

'In this ummah (or in my ummah) there will be landslides, transformation (of humans into animals) or stoning (from the heavens) to those who deny *qadar*."' Tirmidhi said: this is a *ghareeb saheeh hasan* hadith.

Tirmidhi also recorded a *marfoo* ' report from Ibn 'Umar which says: "In my ummah there will be landslides and transformation (of humans into animals). This will happen to those who deny *qadar*."⁸

In *Sunan at-Tirmidhi* it is narrated that 'Abd al-Waahid ibn Saleem said: "I came to Makkah where I met 'Ataa' ibn Abi Rabaah. I said to him, 'O' Abu Muhammad, the people of Başrah are saying that there is no *qadar*.' He said, 'O' my son, do you not read the Qur'an?' I said, 'Yes, I do.' He said, 'Then recite *Al-Zukhruf*.' So I recited:

﴿حمّ ۞ وَٱلْكِتَبِ ٱلْمُبِينِ ۞ إِنَّا جَعَلْنَهُ قُرْءَنًا عَرَبِيًّا لَعَلَكُمُ تَعْقِلُونَ ۞ وَإِنَّهُ فِي أَثِر ٱلْكِتَبِ لَدَيْنَا لَعَلِيُّ حَكِيمُ ۞ ﴾

(*Ha-Meem.* By the manifest Book [i.e. this Qur'an that makes things clear]. Verily, We have made it a Qur'an in Arabic that you may be able to understand [its meanings and its admonitions]. And verily, it [this Qur'an] is in the Mother of the Book [i.e. *Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz*] with Us, indeed exalted, full of wisdom.') (*Qur'an 43: 1-4*)

He said: 'Do you know what *Umm al-Kitaab* (the Mother of the Book) is?' I said, 'Allah and His Messenger know best.' He said: 'It is a book which Allah wrote before He created the heavens and the earth. In it, it says that Pharaoh is one of the people of Hell, and it says,

al-Albani, noted in his commentary on Al-B

⁸ Tirmidhi, 4/456, hadith no. 2152, 2153.

73

Perish the two hands of Abu Lahab, and perish he! (Qur'an 111: 1).""

< تَبَتَ يَدَآ أَبِي لَهَبٍ وَتَبَّ () > Downdays, and the analy accerd

eds of His slaves before they happen

'Aṭaa' said: "And I met Al-Waleed, the son of 'Ubaadah ibn aṣ-Ṣaamit, the Companion of the Messenger of Allah. I asked him, 'What did your father advise you when he was dying?' He said: 'My father called me and said to me, "O' my son, fear Allah, and know that you cannot fear Allah unless you believe in Allah, and believe in *qadar*, all of it, both good and evil. If you die believing otherwise, you will go to Hell, for I heard the Messenger of Allah (選) say:

'The first thing that Allah created was the pen, and he told it, Write! It said, What shall I write? He said, Write what has happened, and what will happen until eternity.""" Tirmidhi said: this is a *ghareeb* hadith with this isnad.⁹

The *aimmah* (leading religious scholars) stated that these people who do not believe in the (prior) knowledge of Allah are *kaafir* (disbelievers). Among those who stated this are Imam Maalik, Imam ash-Shaafa'i and Imam Aḥmad.¹⁰

The group which denied the prior knowledge of Allah has more or less disappeared. Safaareeni says: "The scholars said, those who denied *qadar* have vanished. Those who denounced them as *kaafir* for this belief include Imam Maalik, Imam ash-Shaafa'i, Imam Aḥmad and other *aimmah*."¹¹

"Qurtubi said: this school of thought no longer exists, and we know of no one in later times who belongs to it. Haafiz ibn Hajar al-

¹¹ 'Aqeedat as-Safaareeni, 1/301.

⁹ Tirmidhi, 4/457, no. 2155. See also *Saheeh Sunan at-Tirmidhi* edited by Shaykh Naasiruddin al-Albaani, 2/28.

¹⁰ Majmooʻ al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/288.

'Asqalaani said: the *Qadariyah* nowadays are unanimously agreed that Allah knows about the deeds of His slaves before they happen, but they differ from the *Salaf* (the Pious Predecessors) in their claim that people's deeds are done by them and stem from them independently of Allah. Although this is a false opinion, it is less serious than the former view. In later times, some of them denied that the Will of Allah has anything to do with the deeds of man, in an attempt to avoid connecting the Eternal with the created."¹²

Nawawi said: "Those scholars of '*ilm al-kalaam* (Islamic philosophy - scholasticism) who discuss the differences between different schools of thought said that those *Qadariyah* who believed in this reprehensible and false idea no longer exist. There is no longer anyone among the people of the *Qiblah* (i.e., Muslims) who believes in that. The *Qadariyah* in later times believed in *qadar*, but they say that what is good comes from Allah and what is bad comes from elsewhere - Exalted be Allah above what they say."¹³

"The *Qadariyah* acknowledge that Allah has created man with a will (to choose), but they say that this will is the potential to choose; when his will is connected to something specific, then this action is not created (by Allah)."¹⁴

"In fact these people are Magians and dualists, and even worse than them. For the dualists say that there are two creators for the entire universe, but these people say that there are numerous creators for each individual, and for each action. They say that every created being is also a creator. If it were not for the fact that they have contradictory ideas, they would be counted as worse *kaafir* (disbelievers) than the Magians.

¹⁴ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/206.

¹² Ibid, 1/301.

¹³ Sharḥ an-Nawawi 'ala Muslim, 15/154.

The inevitable implication of this view is that people's actions lie beyond the creation of Allah and are not subject to His sovereignty and control. This means that there may exist in His Dominion things that He does not will, and that He wills things that do not happen, so they are independent of Allah and do not seek His help to obey Him or to avoid disobeying Him, and they do not seek refuge with Allah from the evil of their own selves or from their evil actions, and they do not seek his guidance to the Straight Path."¹⁵

The *Qadariyah* intended to glorify Allah when they said that Allah wanted the *kaafir* (disbelievers) to believe, but the *kaafir* is the one who wants to follow *kufr* (disbelief). Their argument is that this would lead to injustice, for how could Allah will the *kaafir* to follow *kufr* and then punish him for that? But - as the commentator on *At*-*Tahaawiyah* said - "they became like someone who is trying to get out of the frying pan into the fire; they ran away from one thing and fell into something even worse, for they implied that the will of the *kaafir* overpowered the will of Allah, because Allah willed that he (the *kaafir*) should believe - according to them - but the *kaafir* willed that he should follow *kufr*, so the will of the *kaafir* was carried out instead of the will of Allah. This is one of the most reprehensible of beliefs, for which there is no evidence (*daleel*); in fact it goes against the *daleel*."¹⁶

The fact that Allah decrees that the *kaafir* will follow *kufr* is not a form of injustice towards him as the wrongdoers of the *Qadariyah* say. Allah has the strongest evidence and perfect wisdom as far as His slaves are concerned, which nobody knows except Him, may He be Exalted.

¹⁶ Sharh at-Tahaawiyah, p. 277.

¹⁵ Ma'aarij al-Qubool, 2/253.

In *Şaheeh Muslim* it is narrated that Abu al-Aswad ad-Di'ali said: "Imran ibn al-Huşayn said to me: 'What do you think about what people are striving to do - is it something that has been decreed for them aforetime, or are they striving in accordance with the teachings of their Prophet and the proof that has been established for them?' I said, 'It is something that has been decreed for them and is cut and dried.' He said, 'Would that not be unjust?' I became very nervous and said, 'Everything has been created by Allah, the All-Glorious, and is under His Dominion, He cannot be questioned as to what He does, while they will be questioned. (cf Qur'an 21: 23).'

He said, 'May Allah bless you, all I meant by my question was to see how much you understand. Two men from (the tribe of) Muzaynah came to the Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) and said, "O' Messenger of Allah, what do you think about people's efforts and striving today - is it something that has been decreed for them aforetime and is cut and dried, or are they striving in accordance with the teachings of their Prophet and the proof that has been established for them?" He said, "No, it is something that has been decreed for them aforetime, and is cut and dried. Confirmation of this to be found in the Book of Allah:

﴿ وَنَفْسٍ وَمَا سَوَّنِهَا ﴾ فَأَلْهُمُهَا فَجُوَرَهَا وَتَقُونُهُمَا ﴾

('By *Nafs* [Adam or a person or a soul], and Him Who perfected him in proportion; Then He showed him what is wrong for him and what is right for him')

(Qur'an 91: 7-8).""¹⁷

In *Sunan Abi Dawood* it is narrated that Ibn ad-Daylami said: "I came to 'Ubayy ibn Ka'b and said to him: "I am somewhat confused about *qadar*; tell me something that will take away this confusion from my heart.' He said, 'If Allah were to punish the people of His heavens

¹⁷ Muslim, 4/2041, hadith no. 2650.

and His earth, He could do that without being unjust towards them, and if He were to have mercy upon them His mercy would be better for them than their own deeds. Even if you were to spend an amount of gold equal in size to Mount Uhud for the sake of Allah, Allah would not accept that from you until you believe in *qadar* and know that whatever befalls you could not have missed you, and that whatever missed you could not have befallen you. If you die believing anything other than this, you will enter Hell.' Then I came to 'Abdullah ibn Mas'ood, and he said something similar. Then I came to Hudhayfah ibn al-Yamaan and he said something similar."¹⁸

By saying what they said, the *Qadariyah* gave the people of misguidance a way to defeat them in argument. 'Umar ibn al-Haytham said, "We went out on a ship, and we were accompanied by a *Qadari* and a Magian. The *Qadari* said to the Magian, 'Become Muslim.' The Magian said, 'Not until Allah wills.' The *Qadari* said, 'Allah wills it, but the *Shaytaan* (Satan) does not want it.' The Magian said, 'Allah wills and the *Shaytaan* wills, but what has been carried out is the will of the *Shaytaan*; this is a strong *Shaytaan*.''' According to another report, (the Magian) said, "I will stay with the stronger of the two."¹⁹

The debate of Ahl as-Sunnah with the Qadariyah

The arguments of the *Mu'tazilah* cannot stand up in debate with the rank and file of the *Ahl as-Sunnah*, let alone their scholars and leading thinkers.

The scholars mentioned that a Bedouin came to 'Amr ibn 'Ubayd and said to him: "My she-camel has been stolen; pray to Allah to bring it

¹⁹ Sharh at-Tahaawiyah, 278.

¹⁸ Abu Dawood, 4/310, hadith no. 3699.

back to me." 'Amr ibn 'Ubayd said: "O' Allah! this poor man's shecamel has been stolen, and You did not want it to be stolen. O' Allah! bring it back to him." The Bedouin said, "Now it is lost for sure; I have given up on it." ('Amr) said, "How is that?" (The Bedouin) said: "Because if Allah did not want it to be stolen and it was stolen, how can I be sure that if He wants to bring it back that He will be able to? And he got up and left him.²⁰

The response of Abu 'Isaam al-Qastalaani to a Qadari

A man said to Abu 'Iṣaam al-Qaṣtalaani: "Do you think that if Allah denies me guidance and allows me to go astray, then He punishes me, then this is just and fair?" Abu 'Iṣaam said to him: "If guidance is something that belongs to Him, then He can give it to whomsoever He wills and withhold it from whomsoever he wills."²¹

The debate between 'Abd al-Jabbaar al-Hamadaani and Abu Ishaaq al-Asfaraayeeni

'Abd al-Jabbaar al-Hamadaani, one of the shaykhs of the *Mu* 'tazilah, met Aṣ-Ṣaaḥib ibn 'Abbaad, when Abu Isḥaaq al-Asfaraayeeni, one of the *aaimmah* (guides and leaders) of the Sunnah, was with him. When he saw the imam he said, "Glory be to the One Who is above all evil."

The imam immediately said: "Glory be to the One in Whose Realm nothing happens except that which He wills."

The qaadi ('Abd al-Jabbaar) said: "Do you mean that our Lord wills that He should be disobeyed?"

²⁰ Sharh Usool I'tiqaad Ahl as-Sunnah, p. 740.

²¹ Sharh at-Tahaawiyah, p. 278.

79

The imam said: "Will Allah be disobeyed by force (i.e., is He so weak)?"

The qaadi said: "Do you think that if He denies me guidance, then decrees that I should be doomed, then He has treated me fairly or unfairly?"

The imam said: "If He were to withhold from you something that belongs to you, then this would be unfair, but if He withholds from you something that belongs to Him, then He may bestow His Mercy upon whomsoever He wills." The qaadi was lost for words.

In *Taareekh at-Ţabari* it is reported that Gheelaan said to Maymoon ibn Mihraan, in the presence of Hishaam ibn 'Abd al-Maalik, whom he had brought to debate with him: "Does Allah will that He should be disobeyed?" Maymoon said to him, "Would He be disobeyed by force (i.e., when He does not want that)?"

Between 'Umar ibn 'Abd al-'Azeez and Gheelaan ad-Dimashqi

'Umar ibn 'Abd al-'Azeez debated with Gheelaan ad-Dimashqi, one of the leaders of the *Mu'tazilah*. 'Umar said to him: "O' Gheelaan, I have heard that you are talking about *qadar*." He said: "They are lying about me, O' *Ameer al-Mu'mineen*." He said: "Recite *Sooraah Ya-Seen* to me." So he recited:

﴿ يَسَ ۞ وَٱلْقُرْءَانِ ٱلْحَكِمِ ۞ إِنَّكَ لَمِنَ ٱلْمُرْسَلِينَ ۞ عَلَى صِرَطِ مُسْتَقِيمِ ۞ تَنزِيلَ ٱلْعَزِيزِ ٱلرَّحِيمِ ۞ لِلْسَنَدِرَ قَوْمًا مَآ أُنذِرَ ءَابَآؤُهُمْ فَهُمْ عَمْتُ عَنْفُونَ ۞ لِقَدْ حَقَ ٱلْقَوْلُ عَلَىٰ ٱكْثَرِهِمْ فَهُمْ لَا يُؤْمِنُونَ ۞ إِنَّا جَعَلْنَا فِي الْعَنزِيقِ أَغْلَنَكُ فَعَمْ لَا يُؤْمِنُونَ ۞ إِنَّا جَعَلْنَا فِي أَعْنَقِهِمْ أَغْلَنَكُ فَعَمْ أَغْذَرَ ۞ أَغْذَرَ عَلَىٰ أَنْذَرَ عَلَىٰ الْعَزِيزِ الرَّحِيمِ ۞ لِلْسَنَدِرَ قَوْمًا مَآ أُنذِرَ ءَابَآؤُهُمْ فَهُمْ عَنْفُونَ ۞ عَلَىٰ عَنْفَوْلُ عَلَىٰ أَكْثَرِهِمْ فَهُمْ لَا يُؤْمِنُونَ ۞ إِنَا جَعَلْنَا فِي أَعْنَقُونَ ۞ لَقَدْ حَقَ ٱلْقَوْلُ عَلَىٰ أَكْثَرِهِمْ فَهُمْ لَا يُؤْمِنُونَ ۞ وَجَعَلْنَا فِي أَعْنَقِهِمْ أَغْلَنَاكَ فَعَنْ عَلَىٰ إِنَّا الْعَنْقُونَ ۞ الْعَنْ أَعْلَىٰ إِنَّ الْعَنْقِيمِ أَعْنَانَهُ عَلَىٰ إِنَّا الْعَنْقُولُ عَلَىٰ أَعْنَ عَلَىٰ أَعْنَ عَلَىٰ الْعَنْ أَعْنَ أَعْتَى أَعْنَ عَلَىٰ الْعَنْ أَعْنَ عَلَىٰ أَعْنَ عَلَىٰ إِنَهُمْ لَا يَقْوَعُنُونَ ۞ وَيَعَلَىٰ إِنَ أَعْنَ عَلَىٰ أَنْتُرَالُ الْعَنَا فَ أَعْنَانَهِ إِنَا أَعْنَائِهُ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ الْعَنَقِيمِ أَعْنَا لَهُ مَعْتَعَنِ وَعَنْ عَلَى الْنَعْذَى إِنَهُمَا لَا إِنَا عَابَاتُهُمُ مَعْهُمُ مُعُهُمُ مَنَ أَنَا أَنْ عَنَى الْعَنْ أَعْنَ الْعَنْ الْعَنْهُمْ مُ لَا يَعْنَ وَيَ إِنَا أَعْلَىٰ إِنَ أَعْنَتَنِ عَلَىٰ الْعَنْ الْعَنْ أَعْنَ أَعْنَ الْعَالَى أَعْلَى الْعَنْ عَلَيْ أَعْنَا الْعَنْعَانَ أَعْنَا الْعَنْ أَعْنَا الْعَنْ عَالَى أَعْنَ الْعَنْ الْعَالَى أَعْنَا الْعَنْ أَعْنَا الْعَنْ عَالَا الْعَانِ عَنْ أَعْنَا الْعَنْ عَلَى الْعَنْ عَنْ أَعْنَ عَنْ أَعْنَ عَنْتَ وَا عَنْنُونَ إِنَا إِنَا إِنَا إِنَا أَعْنَالَةُ وَالْعَانَ عَلَى مَا أَعْنَ الْعَنْ عَالَهُ مَا لَهُ عَنْ الْعَنْ عَالَا الْعَاعَانَا مَا أَعْنَا الْعَانَا مَالْعَانَا إِنَا الْعَنْ عَالَنَا الْعَالَا عَالَا مَا أَعْنَا الْعَالَا الْعَالَا الْعَال الْعَانَا مَا إِنَا الْعَالَيْنَا عَالَهُ مَا إِنَا الْعَانَا الْعَالَ الْعَالَا الْعَالَا الْعَانَا الْعَانَا أَعْنَا الْعَالَ الْعَالَا الْعَالَى الْعَالَا الْعَالَ الْعَالَى أَعْلَى الْعَا الْعَالَيْ الْعَا الْعَا الْعَالَ الْعَانَ *(Yaa-Seen.* [These letters are one of the miracles of the Qur'an, and none but Allah (Alone) knows their meanings.] By the Qur'an, full of wisdom [i.e. full of laws, evidences, and proofs], Truly, you [O' Muhammad] are one of the Messengers, On the Straight Path [i.e. on Allah's religion of Islamic Monotheism]. [This is a Revelation] sent down by the All-Mighty, the Most Merciful, In order that you may warn a people whose forefathers were not warned, so they are heedless. Indeed the Word [of punishment] has proved true against most of them, so they will not believe. Verily, We have put on their necks iron collars reaching to the chins, so that their heads are raised up. And We have put a barrier before them, and a barrier behind them, and We have covered them up, so that they cannot see. *Qur'an 36: 1-9*

Gheelaan said: "By Allah, O' Ameer al-Mu'mineen, it is as if I had never read it before today. I bear witness, O' Ameer al-Mu'mineen, that I repent from what I said about qadar (predestination)." 'Umar said: "O' Allah! If he is sincere, then accept his repentance, and if he is lying then make him a sign for the believers."²²

Mu'aadh ibn Mu'aadh said: a friend of mine told me: "At-Taymi passed by the house of Ibn 'Awn and told him about this conversation. Ibn 'Awn said: 'I saw him crucified in Damascus."²³

Abu Ja'far al-Khatmi said:

²² The editor of *Sharh Usool I'tiqaad Ahl as-Sunnah* said: This report is narrated by Al-Aajurri in *Ash-Sharee'ah*, p. 229, and by Ibn Battah in Al-Ibaanah, 2/326-327.

²³ The editor of *Sharh Uşool I'tiqaad Ahl as-Sunnah* said: this is narrated by 'Abdullah ibn Ahmad with a direct link between Mu'aadh and Ibn 'Awn, in *As-Sunnah*, p. 128, and by Ibn Baţtah, where the person who said "I saw him..." was reported to be Ibn 'Awn. Al-Ibaanah, 2/327. Also narrated by Ahmad, and its men are *thiqaat* (trustworthy). *Majma' az-Zawaa'id*, 7/207.

"I was with 'Umar ibn 'Abd al-'Azeez when he summoned Gheelaan because of something that he had heard of him about *qadar*. He said to him, 'Woe to you, O' Gheelaan! What is this that I have heard of you?'

He said: 'They are lying about me, O' Ameer al-Mu'mineen, and putting words into my mouth that I did not say.'

'Umar said: 'What do you say about knowledge (the prior knowledge of Allah)?'

Gheelaan said: 'Knowledge is executed.'

'Umar said: 'You are defeated. Go now and say what you like, O' Gheelan! If you admit the prior knowledge you are defeated (in argument), and if you deny it you are a *kaafir* (disbeliever). If you admit it and are defeated in argument that is better for you than denying it and becoming a *kaafir*.' Then he said to him, 'Have you read *Yaa-Seen*?' Gheelaan said, 'Yes.' 'Umar said, 'Recite it.' So Gheelaan recited:

﴿ يَسَ ۞ وَٱلْقُرْءَانِ ٱلْحَكِيمِ ۞ إِنَّكَ لَمِنَ ٱلْمُرْسَلِينَ ۞ عَلَى صِرَطِ مُسْتَقِيمِ ۞ تَذَيْلَ صَرَطِ مُسْتَقِيمِ ۞ تَذَيْلَ مَا تَقَدِّمَ الْمُسْتَقِيمِ ۞ لِتُنَاذِرَ قَوْمًا مَآ أُنذِرَ ءَابَاؤُهُمْ فَهُمْ عَنْمُ مَنْتَقِيمِ ۞ لِنُناذِرَ قَوْمًا مَآ أُنذِرَ ءَابَاؤُهُمْ فَهُمْ عَنْهُمْ عَنْهُمْ لَا يُؤْمِنُونَ ۞ ﴾

Yaa-Seen. [These letters are one of the miracles of the Qur'an, and none but Allah (Alone) knows their meanings.] By the Qur'an, full of wisdom [i.e. full of laws, evidences, and proofs]. Truly, you [O' Muhammad] are one of the Messengers, on the Straight Path [i.e. on Allah's religion of Islamic Monotheism]. [This is a Revelation] sent down by the All-Mighty, the Most Merciful, in order that you may warn a people whose forefathers were not warned, so they are heedless. Indeed

the Word [of punishment] has proved true against most of them, so they will not believe. (Qur'an 36: 1-7)
'Umar said: 'Stop. What do you think?' Gheelaan said, 'It is as if I have never read this aayah, O' Ameer al-Mu'mineen.' 'Umar said, 'Carry on.' Gheelaan recited:

﴿ إِنَّا جَعَلْنَا فِي أَعْنَقِهِمْ أَغْلَلًا فَهِى إِلَى ٱلْأَذْقَانِ فَهُم مُقْمَحُونَ ٥ وَجَعَلْنَا مِنْ بَيْنِ أَيْدِيهِمْ سَكَدًا وَمِنْ خَلْفِهِمْ سَدًا...

(*Verily, We have put on their necks iron collars reaching to the chins, so that their heads are raised up. And We have put a barrier before them, and a barrier behind them...?) (Qur'an 36: 8-9)

'Umar said: 'Say

... سَدَّا فَأَغْنَبْنَهُمْ فَهُمْ لَا يُجِرُونَ ۞ وَسَوَآةً عَلَيْهِمْ ءَأَنَذَرْتَهُمْ أَمَر لَتُر تُنذِرْهُمْ لَا يُؤْمِنُونَ ۞ ﴾

(...barrier and We have covered them up, so that they cannot see. It is the same to them whether you warn them or you warn them not, they will not believe.)

(Qur'an 36: 9-10)'

'Umar said, 'What do you think?' Gheelaan said, 'It is as if I have never read these *aayaat* (verses) before. I swear by Allah that I will never again speak of the things that I used to speak about.' 'Umar said, 'Go.' And when Gheelaan turned away, he said, 'O' Allah, if he is lying, then make him taste the edge of the sword.'

He did not speak during the time of 'Umar, but (his successor) Yazeed ibn 'Abd al-Malik was a man who did not care about this matter or pay attention to it, so Gheelaan started to speak. When Hishaam became the *khaleefah*, he sent for him and said to him, 'You swore by Allah to 'Umar that you would never again speak about this matter.' Gheelaan said, 'Let me off, and by Allah I will not do it again.' Hishaam said, 'May Allah not let me off if I let you off. Have you read the Opening of the Book (*Al-Faatiḥah*)?' Gheelaan said, 'Yes.' Hishaam said, 'Recite:

﴿ ٱلْحَمَدُ لِلَّهِ رَبِّ ٱلْعَالَمِينَ ٢

i.e., the Opening Chapter.

Gheelaan recited,

مَدُ لِلَّهِ رَبِّ ٱلْعَنْلَمِينَ ٢ ٱلْرَّحْسَنِ ٱلرَّحِيمِ ٢ مَنْلِكِ يَوْ الدِّيبِ ۞ إِيَّاكَ نَعْبُدُ وَإِيَّاكَ نَسْتَعَيْنُ ۞﴾

All the praises and thanks be to Allah, the Lord of the 'Aalameen [mankind, jinn and all that exists]. The Most Gracious, the Most Merciful. The Only Owner [and the Only Ruling Judge] of the Day of Recompense [i.e. the Day of Resurrection]. You [Alone] we worship, and You [Alone] we ask for help [for each and everything]. (Qur'an 1: 2-5)

Hishaam said, 'Stop. For what do you ask His help? For something which is in His hands and which you are not able to do, or for something that is in your hands? Take him and cut off his hands and feet, and cut off his head, and crucify him.²⁴

The *Qadariyah* who deny *qadar* deprive themselves of the opportunity to seek the help of Allah, the One, the Unique, because they claim that Allah could not create the deeds of His slaves, and that the individual is the creator of his own deeds, so how can they seek the help of Allah with regard to something that He could not create?

²⁴ The editor of *Sharh I'tiqaad Usool Ahl as-Sunnah*, said: This is narrated by 'Abdullah ibn Ahmad - who is mentioned in the Isnad - in *As-Sunnah*, p. 713-715.

With regard to what they do, they rely on their own power, strength and actions, and they demand the reward from Allah as a hired man demands his wages from his employer. But Allah has no need of His slaves and their deeds; the benefit of that goes back to the people themselves. It is the people who are in need of their own deeds, and they cannot do without the help of Allah:

﴿ إِيَّاكَ نَعْبُدُ وَإِيَّاكَ نُسْحِينُ ٥

... فَأَعْبُدُهُ وَتَوَكَّلْ عَلَيْهُ ...

(You [Alone] we worship, and You [Alone] we ask for help [for each and everything].) (Qur'an 1: 5)

(...So worship Him [O' Muhammad] and put your trust in Him...) (Qur'an 11: 123)

Specious Arguments and their Refutation

(1) The meaning of blotting out and confirming in the books, and the increase and decrease in people's lifespans

Some people misunderstand certain Qur'anic passages and *ahaadeeth* of the Messenger of Allah (ﷺ). Some of them say that if Allah knew everything that is to happen, and He has written all that in a Book which is with Him, then what is the meaning of the *aayah* (verse),

(Allah blots out what He wills and confirms [what He wills]...) (Qur'an 13: 39)?

If people's provision and lifespan is decided and they do not increase or decrease, then how do we interpret the hadith, "Whoever would like his provision to be increased and his life to be prolonged, let him uphold the ties of kinship"? How do you understand the words of the Prophet Nooh [Noah (ﷺ)] to his people:

﴿ أَنِ ٱعْبُدُوا ٱللَّهَ وَٱقَقُوهُ وَأَطِيعُونِ ﴾ يَغْفِرُ لَكُمْ مِّن ذُنُوبِكُرْ وَيُؤَخِّرُكُمْ إِلَى أَجَلِ مُسَمَّى ... ﴾

("That you should worship Allah [Alone], fear [be dutiful to] Him, and obey me, He [Allah] will forgive you of your sins and respite you to an appointed term...")

(Qur'an 71: 3-4)

What do you say about the hadith which says that Allah made the lifespan of Prophet Dawood () one hundred years, when it had originally been forty years?

The answer is that provision and lifespans are of two types: one type which has been decreed and is written in *Umm al-Kitaab*, which cannot be changed or altered, and another type of which Allah informs His angels. This is the type which can increase and decrease. Hence Allah (ﷺ), says:

﴿ يَمْحُوا ٱللَّهُ مَا يَشَاءُ وَيُثْبِثُ وَعِندَهُ أَمُّ ٱلْكِتَبِ ٢

(Allah blots out what He wills and confirms [what He wills]. And with Him is the Mother of the Book.) (Our 'an 13: 39)

The Mother of the Book (*Umm al-Kitaab*) is *Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz*, in which Allah has decreed all things as they will be.

In the books of the angels, lifespans and provisions increase and decrease according to the means and causes, and the angels write down a person's provision and lifespan. If he upholds the ties of kinship, his provision and lifespan be extended, otherwise they will decrease.²⁵

²⁵ Majmooʻ al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/540.

"Lifespans are also of two types: the definite lifespan which is known to Allah, and the variable lifespan. Allah commands the angel to write down the lifespan of His slave. If he upholds the ties of kinship, He commands the angel to increase his lifespan and provision. The angel does not know whether it will be increased or not, but Allah knows how matters will proceed, and when the appointed time (of death) comes, it cannot be brought forward or delayed.²⁶

Ibn Hajar al-'Asqalaani said: "What is previously known to Allah cannot be changed or altered. What can be changed or altered is what people see of the deeds of a person. It has to do with what the angels who are entrusted with caring for human beings know. This is what may be blotted out or confirmed, such as extending people's lifespan and provision. But whatever was previously known to Allah cannot be blotted out or confirmed, and that knowledge rests with Allah.²⁷

(2) Reconciliation between the idea that Allah decrees all things and the hadith "every child is born in a state of *fitrah* (the natural inclination of mankind)"

Some people may say, how it is that Allah has decreed all things, when according to a *saheeh hadith* our Prophet (ﷺ) said that every child is born in a state of *fitrah*?

The answer is that there is no contradiction between the texts which state that everything is decreed by Allah and the texts which state that every child is born in a state of *fitrah*.

Allah has created His slaves in such a way that they are free from false beliefs, and has created them with the readiness to accept the sound beliefs, but when they are born, the devils from among mankind and the jinn surround them and corrupt their sound nature (*fitrah*), but

reased and his life to be prolonged, let him

²⁷ Fath al-Baari, 11/488.

²⁶ Opt. cit 8/540.

87

Allah protects those whom He wishes to guide to the truth.

Allah knows those who will remain steadfast and adhere to the sound *fiţrah*, and those whose *fiţrah* will be changed. He knows that from eternity and it is written. So there is no contradiction between these texts. According to the hadith narrated by Muslim, 'Iyaad ibn Hammaar said: the Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) said that Allah, the Exalted, said: "I have created My slaves as *Haneefs* (pure monotheists), then the *shayaateen* (devils) mislead them, forbidding them that which I have permitted for them, and commanding them to associate others in worship with Me for which I have not revealed any authority."

Allah knows best who will be misguided and led astray by the *shayaateen*, and He knows who will adhere firmly to the truth and be guided to the right way.

Once you understand this that we have explained here, you will know how to interpret the hadith, "Allah created Yaḥyaa ibn Zakariyya as a believer in his mother's womb, and He created Pharaoh as a *kaafir* in his mother's womb." This has been narrated by Ibn 'Uday in *Al-Kaamil*, and by Țabaraani in *Al-Awsat*.²⁸

(3) If all things are decreed, what is the meaning of the *aayah*, (whatever of evil befalls you, is from yourself"?)

Some of the *Qadariyah* who deny *qadar* quote as evidence the *aayah* (verse):

﴿ مَمَّا أَصَابَكَ مِنْ حَسَنَةٍ فَيْنَ اللَّهِ وَمَا أَصَابَكَ مِن سَيِّنَةٍ فِمِن نَّفْسِكُ ... 🕅 ﴾

(Whatever of good reaches you, is from Allah, but whatever of evil befalls you, is from yourself...)

(Qur'an 4: 79)

28 Saheeh al-Jaami' as-Sagheer, 3/113, hadith no. 3232.

They think that what is referred to by good and evil here is deeds of obedience (good deeds) and acts of sin (bad deeds).

But this is a misunderstanding, because what is meant by good here is blessings, and what is meant by evil is disasters. The context indicates that this is the correct understanding, because Allah (ﷺ), says:

﴿ أَيْنَمَا تَكُوْنُوا يُدْرِكُكُمُ ٱلْمَوْتُ وَلَوْ كُنْهُمْ فِى بُرُوجٍ مُشَيَّدَةً وَإِن تُصِبْهُمْ حَسَنَةً يَقُولُوا هَذِهِ مِنْ عِندِ ٱللَّهِ وَإِن تُصِبْهُمْ سَيِّقَةُ يَقُولُوا هَذِهِ مِنْ عِندِكَ قُلْ كُلُّ مِنْ عِندِ ٱللَّهِ فَمَالِ هَتُؤْلَاء ٱلْقَوْمِ لَا يَكَادُونَ يَفْقَهُونَ حَدِيثًا ۞ مَآ أَصَابَكَ مِنْ حَسَنَةٍ فِنَ ٱللَّهِ وَمَآ أَصَابَكَ مِن سَيَتْقَر فِين نَفْسِكَ ... ۞ ﴾

("Wheresoever you may be, death will overtake you even if you are in fortresses built up strong and high!' And if some good reaches them, they say, 'This is from Allah,' but if some evil befalls them, they say, 'This is from you [O' Muhammad].' Say: 'All things are from Allah,' so what is wrong with these people that they fail to understand any word? Whatever of good reaches you, is from Allah, but whatever of evil befalls you, is from yourself...") (Qur'an 4: 78-79)

Allah tells us that when something good happened to the *munaafiqeen* (hypocrites), such as provision, victory or good health, they would say, "This is from Allah." But if something bad happened to them, such as sickness or fear of an enemy, they would say, "This is from you, O' Muhammad, you are the one who has brought this religion which has turned the people against us and because of which we are suffering these calamities."

"Good" here refers to blessings, and "evil" refers to calamities. This is like the *aayaat* (verses):

﴿ إِن تَسْسَلُمُ حَسَنَةٌ تَسْؤَهُمْ وَإِن تُصِبْكُمْ سَيِّنَةٌ يَفْرَحُوا بِهَأَ وَإِنَّ تَصْبِرُوا وَتَتَّقُوا لَا يَفُرُكُمْ كَيْدُهُمْ شَيْعًا ... ٢

(If a good befalls you, it grieves them, but if some evil overtakes you, they rejoice at it. But if you remain patient and become *Al-Muttaqoon* [the pious], not the least harm will their cunning do to you...)

(Qur'an 3: 120)

﴿ ... وَبَكُوْنَهُم بِٱلْحُسَنَنَتِ وَٱلسَّيِّعَاتِ لَعَلَّهُمْ يَرْجِعُونَ ۞ ﴾

(...And We tried them with good [blessings] and evil [calamities] in order that they might turn [to Allah's Obedience].) (Qur'an 7: 168)

Then Allah, tells us that calamities and blessings do not happen outside of the framework of His decree and will:

﴿ ... قُلْ كُلُّ مِّنْ عِندِ ٱللَّهِ فَمَالِ هَتُؤَلَّهِ ٱلْقَوْمِ لَا يَكَادُونَ يَفْقَهُونَ حَدِيثًا ٢

(...Say: 'All things are from Allah,' so what is wrong with these people that they fail to understand any word?) (Qur'an 4: 78)

Then Allah, the All-High, explains that evil, i.e., calamities, does not have any cause except the sins of a person, which come from his own self. But the good things that happen to a person have countless reasons, because they happen by the Grace of Allah - they may happen because of a person's good deeds, or otherwise, simply by the grace of Allah. What people must do is to give thanks to their Lord and praise Him for His blessings to them, and they must repent frequently and seek His forgiveness for the sins that they have committed, which have brought upon them these disasters and calamities.

If you think about the words,

﴿ مَمَّا أَصَابَكَ مِنْ حَسَنَةٍ فِمَنَ اللَّهِ وَمَا أَصَابَكَ مِن سَبِّيْنَةٍ فِمِن نَّفْسِكً ... 🕲 ﴾

(Whatever of good reaches you, is from Allah, but whatever of evil befalls you, is from yourself...)

(Qur'an 4: 79),

You will realize that good and evil are what Allah does to His slaves, the calamities and blessings that He sends upon them. But the phrase "is from yourself" means, because of the sins of the person. Even if this is decreed, it is because Allah has decreed that calamities will come about because of sins.

Concerning good and evil in the sense of a person's good deeds and bad deeds, the Qur'an does not say "whatever befalls you"; rather, Allah (); says:

أمن جاآة بِالْمُسْنَةِ فَلَهُ حَبَّرٌ مِنْهَاً وَمَن جَاآة بِالتَّبِيَّةِ فَلَا يُجْزَى الَّذِيبَ عَيلُوْا السَّبِيَّاتِ إِلَا مَا كَانُوا يَعْمَلُونَ ٢ ﴾

Whosoever brings good [Islamic Monotheism along with righteous deeds], he shall have the better thereof; and whosoever brings evil [polytheism along with evil deeds], then those who do evil deeds will only be requited for what they used to do. *Qur'an 28: 84*)

It says, "whoever brings" here because the good deed is the action of the person who does it, hence this is also said with regard to sins and evil actions:

٨.. أَلَذِينَ عَمِلُوا ٱلسَّيَّاتِ إِلَا مَا كَانُوا يَعْمَلُونَ ٥ ٢

(...then those who do evil deeds will only be requited for what they used to do.) $(Qur'an \ 28: \ 84)$.²⁹

²⁹ Majmooʻ al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/110-224.

91

(4) How did Allah create and decree evil?

Some of the *Qadariyah* tried to cause confusion by saying that Allah is Holy and is above doing evil, so His slaves must also declare Him to be above doing evil. They have mixed truth with falsehood, thus confusing matters.

The answer to this argument is that Allah (ﷺ) does not create pure evil in which there is no good or benefit whatsoever for anybody, and in which there is no wisdom and mercy. He does not punish people without them having sinned. Some scholars such as Shaykh al-Islam Ibn Taymiyah, Ibn al-Qayyim and others have explained the wisdom and mercy behind the creation of *Iblees*, insects and wild beasts.

Any created thing may be considered good in one sense and evil in another. Allah created *Iblees* in order to test His slaves through him, for some will hate him and will fight him and oppose his way and fight his supporters, and will be friends of Ar-Rahmaan (Allah), and will submit themselves to Him; but others will befriend *Iblees* (Satan) and follow in his footsteps.

2 - Those Who do not Strive, Relying on Qadar Instead

Another group have gone astray with regard to *qadar*, because they said: if Allah knows everything that we will do, and He knows where our final destiny will be, in Paradise or in Hell, and He is the Creator of our deeds, then why should we bother to strive? Why not let Allah's decree take its course, and we will get what is decreed for us whether we like it or not.

This misguidance is even worse in the cases of some devout worshippers, ascetics and *Sufis*, although it was not adopted *per se* by any distinctive group. It has not been adopted by any specific group, but this belief is held by many ignorant Muslims and misguided heretics.³⁰

This group believes in predestination (*qadar*), and that Allah knows all things and created all things, and willed all things that exist, but they claim that Allah is pleased with and loves everything that He created and willed. They claim that there is no need for people to strive and pursue the means (of achieving things), because whatever has been decreed for them will come to them. They claim that people are forced or compelled to do the things they do, and that man has no ability to influence his actions; on the contrary, in relation to *qadar* he is like a feather blown about on the wind, or like a person who falls from a high mountain top into a vast and deep valley - as he is falling, he has no control over himself whatsoever.

These people forsake striving on the grounds of *qadar*, even before it happens. They also use *qadar* (predestination) as an excuse for the things that they do which are contrary to shari'ah. They have taken this to such extremes that they do not differentiate between *kufr* (disbelief) and *eemaan* (belief), or between those who are guided and those who are misguided, because all of that is the creation of Allah, so why should we differentiate?

This deviant belief has misled many people and diverted them from the right path; it has upset the balance of justice and truth, and wasted a huge amount of energy in the Muslim world, crippling it and, in some cases, turning it to the advantage of the enemies of Islam.

One of the effects of this belief has been the claim that Allah loves *kufr* (disbelief), *shirk* (polytheism), killing, *zinaa* (adultery and fornication), theft, disobedience to parents and other sins and crimes, because they claim that Allah loves and is pleased with everything

³⁰ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/59, 99, 256.

that He has created or brought into existence.

Another effect is that the people who believe so give up doing good and righteous deeds that will lead them to Paradise and save them from Hell, and they commit many of the major sins that doom a person to Hell, on the grounds that *qadar* (predestination) is bound to be carried out, and that everything that has been decreed for a person will come to him, so why should we strive and make the effort and exhaust ourselves?

These people have given up the idea of taking the means to an end, and they have forsaken prayer and fasting, along with du'aa' and the idea of seeking the help of Allah and putting one's trust in Him, because (they think) there is no point in doing any of that. Whatever Allah wills, will come to pass, so there is nothing to be gained by making du'aa' or striving.

Many of these people accept the oppression of evildoers and the corruption of the immoral, because what they do is in accordance with the will and decree of Allah. They neglect the duty of enjoining what is good and forbidding what is evil, and they do not care about carrying out the punishments prescribed by shari'ah (*hudood* and *qaṣaaṣ*, because whatever evils and crimes happen are decreed and cannot be avoided.

Shaykh al-Islam Ibn Taymiyah (may Allah have mercy on him) discussed this group and its beliefs in several places in his books. He said: "Those who believe in *Al-Qadaa' wal-Qadar* (Divine Will and Predestination), but claim that this corresponds to what Allah likes, end up cancelling out the laws, commands and prohibitions, although they acknowledge that Allah is the Lord of every created being in general terms, and that there is no living being except Allah who has hold of its forelock (i.e., has full control over it). This is the problem with many groups of *Şufis* and ascetics, whether in terms of their

beliefs or in actual fact, to the extent that some of them go to the extreme of permitting things which are forbidden, saying that obligatory actions are no longer compulsory, and favour lifting punishments."³¹

He also says concerning them:

"These people think that Allah is the Creator of every created thing, so He is the Creator of the deeds of His slaves, and He wills everything that exists. But they do not distinguish between *eemaan* (belief) and kufr (disbelief), between what is good and what is evil, between truth and falsehood, between one who is guided and one who is led astray, between one who is upright and one who is sinful, between a true Prophet and a false prophet, between a friend of Allah and His enemy, between one with whom Allah is pleased and one with whom He is angry, between one whom Allah loves and one whom He hates, between justice and oppression, between righteousness and disobedience, between the actions of the people of Paradise and the actions of the people of Hell, between the righteous and the immoral. They recognize the factors that all created things have in common, that they are subject to the prior decree, irresistible will and all-encompassing power of Allah, and they are all created by Him. They recognize these common factors, but they fail to see the difference between things."32

"Those who followed this path went to such extremes that they said that the essence of all created things is Allah Himself. They adhered to the concept of nothing happening except by the will of Allah, to justify their own evil actions, as when Al-Hareeri said, 'I reject a Lord Who could be disobeyed,' and Ibn Israa'eel said:

³¹ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/256.
 ³² Ibid 8/60.

95

'I started to do whatever He chooses for me to do,

So all of my action become acts of obedience.'

They called this reality, in the sense that this is the reality of *ruboobiyah*.³³

Ibn al-Qayyim also discussed this group and its misguided notions in his valuable book *Shifaa' al-'Aleel*, where he said: "Then there emerged another group which claimed that man's voluntary actions and in their view he has no choice in the matter - are like the actions of a tree blown off by the wind, or the actions of waves; this is forced obedience. He is not guided to do that for which he was created, rather he is forced and compelled.

Then their followers traced their footsteps and followed their path, and established this school of thought. They wrote books and added the idea that all of the obligations imposed on man by Allah are beyond his means, and that in fact was like obliging a paralyzed man to rise up to the seven heavens. So obliging man to believe and follow the laws of Allah is obliging him to something of which he is incapable; it is obliging him to do something which only the Creator can do, Who is Able to do all things. So He has obliged His creation to do His deeds, and they are not able to do that, and then He punishes them for doing it, when in fact they are not the ones who do it.

Then they were followed by another group of worshippers who said that there was no sin in the universe at all, for the person who does something is obeying the will of Allah and acting in harmony with it, as it is said:

'I started to do whatever He chooses for me to do,

³³ Opt. cit, 8/257.

So all of my action become acts of obedience.'

One of these people was condemned for something that he did, and he said: If I disobeyed His command, I still obeyed His Will, and the one who obeys His will is not to be blamed and in fact cannot be condemned. Their thinkers and philosophers who established this school of thought stated that in the case of Allah, what He wills and what He loves are the same thing, so what He loves is what He wills. He willed everything that exists in the universe, and everything that He willed, He also loves.

This group thought of Allah in the worst possible terms, attributing the worst kind of injustice to Him. They said that the commands and prohibitions of the Lord were like obliging a paralyzed man to rise up to the seven heavens, or like obliging a dead man to give life to the dead, and that Allah punishes His slaves severely for doing that which they cannot avoid doing, and for not doing that which they are incapable of doing. Rather He punishes them for doing His deeds, which man is incapable of doing and is not guided to do, rather he is compelled to do it. We see one of their *'aarifs* (one who is deemed to have attained knowledge of Allah) saying in his poetry where he complains about his Lord:

'He was thrown into the sea, tied up and was told,

Beware! Beware! Do not get wet!""34

Ibn al-Qayyim noted that this type of person wants to "attribute their sins to the decrees (of Allah), so that they can absolve themselves of guilt and sin, and say that in fact these are the deeds of the All-Knowing Creator."³⁵

³⁴ Shifaa' al-'Aleel by Ibn al-Qayyim, p. 15-16.

³⁵ Ibid, p. 16.

97

The author of the introduction to *Ash-Shifaa*' pointed out that this (reluctance to acknowledge one's own deeds) is the reason why "the prevailing trend in every age is *al-jabr* (the belief that one is forced or compelled to do what one does)." And he said: "The belief in *al-jabr* takes away man's responsibility and the burden of having committed sins, and puts the blame on the forces which motivate the will of man and lead him to commit those sins. The overwhelming majority of people follow this belief in *al-jabr*. The one who worships idols believes that his affairs are in the hands of the gods whom he worships, and he puts the blame on time (*Ad-dahr*), and believes that man is under the control of night and day (or circumstances).

Those who say that they believe in Allah believe that divine decrees direct man as they will, and that he has no will and no choice. This idea has taken on a new form in modern times, whereby those who believe in *al-jabr* say that man's will is controlled by his instincts, genes and environment, and he has no control over these things. So he has no choice but to commit sin, because man's will has no influence over his psychological motives. It is rather the result of these psychological motives and is dominated by psychological influences or external influences which are unavoidable.

When the idea of *al-jabr* spread among the Muslims in later times, through various misguided *Sufi tariqahs* (schools), it caused a great deal of harm, especially when it was combined with the rejection of the idea of cause and effect. One of them said:

'The pen of destiny has written down what is to come.

It is all the same if we move or stay still.

It is crazy of you to seek provision,

When the foetus hidden in his mother's womb gets his provision.""³⁶

The ideas of this group leads to disbelief in Allah and rejection of what is said in His Books and the message brought by His Messengers. Ibn Taymiyah (may Allah have mercy on him) said:

"Whoever affirms *qadar* but uses it as evidence and pretext to cancel out the commandments and prohibitions, is worse than one who affirms the commandments and prohibitions, but denies *qadar*. There is consensus among the Muslims and followers of other religions that whoever uses *qadar* as evidence and pretext and recognizes that Allah is the Lord of all created beings, but does not differentiate between what is permitted and what is forbidden, between a believer and a disbeliever, between one who is obedient and one who is disobedient, does not believe in any of the Messengers or in any of the Books. In this person's view, Adam and *Iblees* (Satan) are the same, as are Nooh (Noah) and his people, Moosa (Moses) and Fir'aun (Pharaoh), the *Ṣaḥaabah* (Companions) and the *kuffaar* (disbelievers)."³⁷

He also said concerning them: "Whoever acknowledges the prior knowledge of Allah and His book, but claims that that is sufficient and that there is no need for command and prohibitions, or for striving, and that whoever is decreed to enter Paradise will do so without any effort at all on his part, and that whoever is decreed to enter Hell will do so without any evil actions on his part, these people are worse *kaafir* (disbelievers) than those (i.e., those who simply disbelieve in *qadar*), and are more astray. The implication of what they say is that commands and prohibitions, *halaal* (lawful) and *haraam* (unlawful), the promise of Paradise and the threat of Hell, do not count. They are worse *kaafir* than the Jews and the Christians, far worse."³⁸

³⁷ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/100

³⁸ *Ibid* 8/288.

And he said: "If these people insist on this belief, then they are worse *kaafir* (disbelievers) than the Jews and the Christians, for the Jews and the Christians believe in commands and prohibitions, in the promise of Paradise and the threat of Hell, in reward and punishment, but they changed and distorted (the religion) and believed in parts of it and rejected other parts."³⁹

Refutation of *Al-Qadariyah al-Jabariyah* [Those who Believe in Predestination (*Qadar*) but Say that Man is Compelled to do What he Does and has no Freedom of Will]

This group may be refuted on a number of points:

(1) Their error in using the word *jabr* (compulsion) to describe all actions of man

They use a term that is not used in the Qur'an or the Sunnah, when we are obliged to use the words narrated in the texts (i.e., the Qur'an and Sunnah). Laalkaa'i narrated with his Isnad that Baqiyah said: "I asked Awzaa'i and Zubaydi about *jabr*.

Zubaydi said: 'Allah is too great and mighty to compel or force anyone, but He decrees, and creates His slave according to the *Fitrah* that He likes.'

Awzaa'i said: 'I do not know of any origin for the word *al-jabr* in the Qur'an or Sunnah, so I hesitate touse theword. But *al-qadaa', al-qadar, al-khalq* (creation) and *al-jabl* (forming, fashioning) - these words are known in the Qur'an and words of the Messenger of Allah."⁴⁰

³⁹ Opt. cit 8/262.

⁴⁰ Sharh I'tiqaad Usool Ahl as-Sunnah, p. 700; Majmooʻ al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/105.

Similar views were narrated from a number of the scholars of the *Salaf* (Pious Predecessors), such as Sufyaan ath-Thawri, Abu Ishaaq al-Fazaari and others.⁴¹

They did not like to say that man was compelled (*mujbar*) to do what he does, because this word (*jabr*) is vague. The word *ijbaar* may mean forcing, as in the phrase *Ajbara al-abb ibnatahu 'ala'n-Nikaḥ* (the father forced his daughter to get married), or *jabara al-haakim ar-rajul 'ala bay'i maalihi li wafaa' daynihi* (the judge forced the man to sell his property to pay off his debt). In these cases, *ijbaar* means forcing, so when they say *ajbara Allah al-'ibaad* (Allah compelled His slaves), it means that He forced them, not that He made them want to do their deeds because they themselves like them.

Applying this expression to Allah - may He be Blessed and Exalted is an obvious mistake, "For Allah is far above forcing anyone. The one who forces others is the one who is not able to make others want to choose something because they themselves like it and want to do it. But Allah is Able to do that, for He is the one who makes a person want and like to do something. So how can you say that He forces and compels him, as one created being forces another?"⁴²

Using the word *jabr* (forcing, compelling) in the sense that Allah has made people want to do what He wills and choose to do that, without being forced, is correct. One of the *Salaf* (Pious Predecessors) said, concerning the meaning of *Al-Jabbaar* (The Compeller, one of the names of Allah), He is the One Who makes people do what He wants.⁴³

⁴¹ *Ibid*, 8/132, 294, 461.

 ⁴² Majmooʻ al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/463.
 ⁴³ Ibid, 8/464.

Because the word *jabr* is vague and may mean either thing, the *Salaf* prohibited using it in either a negatory or an affirmative sense.

Shaykh al-Islam mentioned, quoting from Abu Bakr al-Khallaal in his book *As-Sunnah*, that Al-Mardhawi said to Imam Aḥmad: "O' Abu 'Abdullah! A man is saying that Allah compels (*ajbara*) His slaves." He said, "We do not say this," and he denounced it. He said: "Allah sends astray whomsoever He wills and guides whomsoever He wills."

It is narrated from Al-Mardhawi that a man said, "Allah does not compel people to commit sin." Another man refuted that and said, "Allah does compel people." What he meant by that was to affirm *qadar*. They asked Ahmad ibn Hanbal about that, and he rebuked both of them, the one who had said that Allah compels people and the one who has said that there is no compulsion, until they repented. He told them to say, "Allah sends astray whomsoever He wills and guides whomsoever He wills."

And it is narrated that Abu Ishaaq al-Fazaari said: "Al-Awzaa'i came to me and said, 'Two men came to me and asked me about *qadar* (predestination), and I wanted to bring them to you so that you could hear what they say and respond to it.'

I (Abu Ishaaq) said: 'May Allah bless you, you can answer this better than I.'

So Al-'Awzaa'i came to me, bringing the two men with him, and he told them to speak.

They said, 'Some of the *Qadariyah* came to us and debated about *qadar* with us, and we debated with them, until finally we said, Allah compels us to do that which He has forbidden us to do, and He prevents us from doing that which He has commanded us to do, and He gives us provision of things that He has forbidden to us.'

I said, 'Those who came to you with what they said have come up with *bid* '*ah* (a reprehensible innovation) and have invented something new in the religion, and I think that you have come up with a *bid* '*ah* similar to theirs.'

Al-'Awzaa'i said, 'You are right and you have done well, O' Abu Ishaaq.'"44

(2) Denying that man has the freedom to choose what he does is a sign of irrational thinking

Those who claim that man does not have the will to do as he chooses are not thinking straight. They are misguided and they lead others astray. We know from our own selves that our actions are not like the actions of inanimate objects which have no control whatsoever over their own movements.

Indeed, we distinguish between the involuntary actions of our bodies, and the actions which we choose to do. So we have no control over the actions of the heart and lungs, the flow of blood through man's veins, and the thousands of complex actions which take place within our bodies without our knowledge; these are involuntary actions in which man's will plays no role. The same applies to the movements of a person who is afflicted with tremors and cannot stop his hand from shaking.

But when a person eats and drinks, rides (on an animal or in a vehicle), buys and sells things, sits down, stands up, gets married, gets divorced, and so on, he does those things by choice, by his own will and strength. Those who say that man does not have this power are not thinking straight, and the way they look at things is confused.

⁴⁴ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/103.

The Qur'an constantly attributes deeds to the people who do them, as when Allah (3), says:

﴿ وَجَاءَ مِنْ أَقْصَا ٱلْمَدِينَةِ رَجُلٌ يَسْعَىٰ... ۞ ﴾

And there came a man running from the farthest part of the town...) (Qur'an 36: 20)

﴿ فَلَمَّا أَسْلَمَا وَتَلْهُ لِلْجَبِينِ

(Then, when they had both submitted themselves [to the Will of Allah], and he had laid him prostrate on his forehead [or on the side of his forehead for slaughtering].) (Qur'an 37: 103)

... فَوَكَزُوُ مُوسَىٰ فَقَضَىٰ عَلَيْهِ ... ۞

(...so Moosa [Moses] struck him with his fist and killed him...) (Qur'an 28:15)

﴿ فَخَرَجٌ عَلَىٰ قَوْمِهِ، فِي زِينَتِهِ ... ٢

(So he went forth before his people in his pomp...) (Qur'an 28: 79)

- There are many texts, more than we can quote here, attribute actions to the people who do them.

(3) The claim that Allah loves and is pleased with everything that He has decreed and created

This is a false claim, for Allah willed that *kufr* (disbelief), *shirk* (polytheism) and other sins, such as *zinaa* (adultery and fornication), theft, disobedience to parents, lying, false testimony and consuming people's wealth unlawfully, should exist, but He hates them and forbids His slaves to do these things.

Ibn al-Qayyim said: "Shaykh al-Islam - may Allah have mercy on him - told me that he condemned some of these groups for loving that which Allah and His Messenger hate.

The person who had been blamed said to him: 'Love is a fire which burns away in the heart all that the Beloved does not want, and everything that exists in the universe is in accordance with His will, so what should I hate?'

The Shaykh said to him: 'If Allah is angry with some people, and He curses them and condemns them, and you befriend them and love them, and you love and accept what they do, will you be a friend of Allah or His enemy?'

The Jabari was lost for words and could not answer."45

We will discuss this matter further when we deal with the universal will of Allah and His legislative will (*al-iraadah al-kawniyah wal-iraadah ash-shar'iyah*).

(4) The claim that belief in *qadar* implies that one need not take action or seek the means to an end

This group erred in its claim that when a person believes in predestination (*qadar*) he does not need to strive. It did not recognize the reality of *qadar*, for Allah decreed ends and means; He did not decree effects without causes. Whoever claims that Allah decreed the ends and the effects without the means and causes is fabricating a serious lie about Allah.

When Allah decrees that so and so should be given provision, He also creates the means by which he will earn that provision. Whoever claims that there is no need to strive because whatever provision has been decreed will come whether one strives or not, does not

45 Shifaa' al-'Aleel, p. 16.

understand the decrees of Allah concerning His slaves.

If Allah decrees that so and so will be blessed with a child, then He decrees that he will get married and have intimate relations with his wife, for the means (and causes) are part of what is decreed.

If Allah decrees that so and so will go to Paradise, He also decrees that he will believe and do righteous deeds, and will adhere to the commandments of Allah. If He decrees that so and so will be one of the people of Hell, He also decrees the causes of that, such as not believing and not doing righteous deeds.

He may decree that so and so will get sick, then he will seek treatment and be cured. So Allah decrees the sickness, and decrees the means by which the sickness will be taken away and the person will be healed.

Allah may decree that so and so will call upon Him and seek His help, then He answers his prayer and fulfils his hopes. He may decree that another person will not call upon Him and seek His help, so He leaves him to his own devices and lets him flounder in his misery. For Allah decrees the effects and decrees their causes. So whoever claims that the effect happens without a cause does not understand the way of Allah or the decree (*qadar*) of Allah. He is like a person who claims that a child could be born with no cause, or that crops can grow without water or soil, or that one can feel full without eating and quench one's thirst without drinking.

The texts which indicate the things which we have discussed and explained here are very many.

The texts of the Qur'an and Sunnah are full of commands to pursue the prescribed means in different areas of life. There are commands to strive and hard work in pursuit of provision, to make preparations for fighting against the enemy, and to make provision for journeys. Allah (); , says:

﴿ فَإِذَا قُضِيَتِ ٱلصَّلَوَةُ فَأَنتَشِرُوا فِي ٱلأَرْضِ وَٱبْنَعُوا مِن فَضْلِ ٱللَّهِ ...

(Then when the [Jumu'ah] Ṣalaah [prayer] is ended, you may disperse through the land, and seek the Bounty of Allah [by working]...) (Qur'an 62: 10)

﴿ ... فَأَمَشُوا فِي مَنَاكِبِهَا وَكُلُوا مِن رِزْقِهِ ... ٢

(....so walk in the path thereof and eat of His provision) (Qur'an 67: 15)

﴿ وَأَعِدُواْ لَهُم مَّا ٱسْتَطَعْتُم مِن قُوَّةٍ وَمِن رِّبَاطِ ٱلْخَيْلِ تُرْهِبُونَ بِهِ۔ عَدُوَ ٱللَّهِ وَعَدُوَّكُمْ ... ۞ ﴾

(And make ready against them all you can of power, including steeds of war [tanks, planes, missiles, artillery] to threaten the enemy of Allah and your enemy...)

(Qur'an 8: 60)

And He commanded travellers setting out for Hajj to take provisions with them:

﴿ ... وَتَــزَوْدُوا فَالِثَ خَيْرَ الزَّادِ ٱلْنَقُوَىٰ ... ٢

(...And take a provision [with you] for the journey, but the best provision is *At-Taqwa* [piety, righteousness]...) (Qur'an 2: 197)

And He commanded us to make *du'aa'* (supplicate) and seek His help:

﴿ وَقَالَ رَبُّكُمُ ٱدْعُونِيَ أَسْتَجِبَ لَكُمْ ... ٢

And your Lord said: "Invoke Me [i.e. believe in My

Oneness (Islamic Monotheism) and ask Me for anything] I will respond to your [invocation]"...) (Qur'an 40: 60)

﴿ قَالَ مُوسَىٰ لِقَوْمِهِ ٱسْتَعِينُوا بِٱللَّهِ وَٱصْبُرُوّاً ... ٢

(Moosa [Moses] said to his people: 'Seek help in Allah and be patient'...) (Qur'an 7: 128)

And Allah commanded us to pursue the prescribed means that lead to earning His pleasure and Paradise, such as prayer, fasting, zakah (obligatory alms) and hajj (pilgrimage).

The life of the Prophet (ﷺ) and his Companions, and the lives of all the Prophets and those who follow their path, demonstrate that they pursued the means, and that they worked hard and strove to the utmost.

Implementing the means is part of the *qadar* of Allah. It does not contradict *qadar* at all.

The Messenger (ﷺ) taught his Companions the meaning of *qadar* (predestination), explaining that it did not mean giving up striving. On the contrary, it meant striving and making the utmost effort to attain the objective that man aspires to achieve. The *Ṣaḥaabah* (Companions) asked the Prophet (ﷺ), what was the use of striving if all things had been decreed, the Pen had dried and the matter had been decided by the Lord of the Worlds? He said, "Know that everyone will do that for which he was created." He recited the *aayaat*:

﴿ فَأَمَّا مَنْ أَعْطَى وَآتَفَى ٢ وَصَدَقَ بِالْحُسْنَى ٢ فَسَلَيْتِرُمُ لِلْيُسْرَى ٢ وَأَمَّا مَنْ بَخِلَ وَٱسْتَغْنَى ٢ وَكَذَبَ بِالْحُسْنَى ٢ فَسَنَيْتِرُمُ لِلْعُسْرَى ٢ هُـ

(As for him who gives [in charity] and keeps his duty to Allah and fears Him, And believes in *Al-Husnaa* [the best]. We will make smooth for him the path of ease [goodness]. But he who is greedy, miser and thinks himself self-sufficient. And belies *Al-Husnaa*. We will make smooth for him the path for evil.)

(Qur'an 92: 5-10)

One of the *Ṣaḥaabah* (Companions of the Prophet), who understood what Allah and His Messenger meant when he heard the *aḥaadeeth* about *qadar*, said: "I have never been striving so hard as I am now."

What he understood that Allah meant by *qadar* (predestination) was that the prior decree of Allah does not cancel out the need to strive, and it does not imply that we should depend only on Allah's decree. On the contrary, it should motivate us to strive hard and make the effort to attain whatever will be of benefit in this world and in the Hereafter.

But we must note that even if a person pursues the means, it is not permissible for him to rely on them alone and put his trust in them. He must put his trust in the One Who created them and initiated them.

Our scholars said: "Focusing on the means with trust is a kind of *shirk* (polytheism) that affects one's belief in *Tawheed*, and not recognizing the means altogether is simply irrational. Ignoring the means altogether undermines shari'ah, but placing one's trust and hope in Allah stems from a proper understanding of *Tawheed*, reason and shari'ah.

The explanation is that trust in the means alone makes the heart dependent on them, putting all its hopes in them. There is nothing in creation which deserves to be relied upon in such a fashion, because there is nothing (other than Allah) that is independent. Every created thing must necessarily have supporters and opponents. Moreover, unless Allah subjugates that created thing to be a means to the end that you are seeking. It will not be a means to that end by itself. This demonstrates that Allah is the Lord and Sovereign (*maleek*) of all things and that the heavens and the earth, and everything in between, and the stars and planets, and whatever they contain, have a Creator and Controller Who is separate from them. No matter how a star, planet, angel or any other being behaves, you will find that it is not independent in anything that it does; there are inevitably other factors involved, and there are also opposing forces that try to prevent it from doing certain things."⁴⁶

"Every means requires additional factors and has opposing forces. If those other factors are absent, and the opposing forces are not diverted, then the end will not be reached. Rain on its own will not make plants grow, unless there are other factors present, such as air, soil, etc. Crops cannot grow to maturity unless vermin are kept away from them. Food and drink will not provide nourishment unless they are consumed by the body and the digestive processes. None of these things can be of benefit unless the opposing forces are diverted."⁴⁷

Wise men know that they cannot do anything they want independently. Often they may have all the means at their disposal, then something comes between them and the thing they want and desire.

أَنْ ... حَتَى إِنَّا أَخَذَتِ ٱلأَرْضُ رُخُرُفَهَا وَازَيَّنَتَ وَظَنَ أَهْلُهَا أَنَهُمْ فَعُدِرُونَ عَلَيْهَا أَخَذَتِ الأَرْضُ رُخُرُفَهَا وَازَيَّنَتَ وَظَنَ أَهْدُهَا أَنَهُمْ فَعُنَنَ فَعَدِرُونَ عَلَيْهَا أَتَنَهُمَا أَمَرُنَا لَيَلًا أَوْ نَهَارًا فَجَعَلْنَهَا حَصِيدًا كَأَن لَمْ تَغْنَ بِالأَمْسِ ... ٢

(...until when the earth is clad in its adornments and is beautified, and its people think that they have all the powers of disposal over it, Our Command reaches it by night or by day and We make it like a clean-mown harvest, as if it had not flourished yesterday!...)

(Qur'an 10: 24)

⁴⁷ Ibid, 8/167.

⁴⁶ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/170.

Laalkaa'i said that a man asked his slave woman to bring him some water. She brought it in a glass vessel, poured some water for him, and put it in his hand. He raised it to his mouth and said, "Some people claim that I cannot drink this. She is free if I do not drink it" referring to the slave woman who had poured the water for him.

The slave woman struck the glass with the side of his shirt, and the glass fell and broke, spilling the water.⁴⁸

Thus, the slave woman proved to this poor man that he was not able to do all that he wanted, unless Allah decreed it. So she taught him a lesson, thus freeing herself from the bonds of slavery.

How many rich men, strong men and leaders have thought that they had control over their worldly affairs, then they found themselves rendered incapable, unable to do anything and prevented from doing what they wanted by a powerful enemy, a debilitating sickness, the betrayal of a friend or the greed of a loved one.

﴿ وَجِيلَ بَيْنَهُمْ وَبَيْنَ مَا يَشْتَهُونَ ... ٢

(And a barrier will be set between them and that which they desire...) (Qur'an 34: 54)

(5) Using qadar (predestination) as an excuse

Such people use *qadar* (predestination) as an excuse for not striving. So we see that when one of them is called to pray, fast and read Qur'an, he says, if Allah wanted me to do that I would do it. They also use *qadar* to justify the things that they do to other people, such as their wrongdoing and corruption and the things that result from that. Concerning the evil actions and wrongs that they do, they say, this is the will of Allah, we have no choice in the matter. That leads to

48 Sharh Usool Ahl as-Sunnah, 727.

their letting falsehood become widespread in the Muslim world.

And we see these kind of people submitting to the oppressors, and some of them even help the oppressors, and tell the people: You have no choice but to bear with patience the will of Allah and what He has decreed for you. You see some of them committing evil actions, sins that condemn a person to Hell, such as *zinaa* (adultery and fornication), immoral actions and other sins, claiming that their deeds are the result of predestination (*qadar*).

If they believe that everything that happens has its own justification, this will make them a laughing-stock among their own wise men, and pose before them a dilemma of which they can find no way out. Ibn al-Qayyim mentions stories of such people who were dismissed as fools by the wise, and who put themselves on a level lower than that of the animals. He mentions that one of these people saw his slave committing an immoral action with his slave woman. He wanted to punish them, but his slave knew what his point of view was on the matter of *qadar*, so he said, "*Al-Qadaa' wal-Qadar* did not leave us alone until we did that." The ignorant man (his master) said to him, "Your knowledge of *Al-Qadaa' wal-Qadar* is dearer to me than all other things; you are free for the sake of Allah."

Another man saw a man committing immoral actions with his wife, and he started to hit her, but she said, "*Al-Qadaa' wal-Qadar*!" He said, "O' enemy of Allah! You commit *zina* (adultery) and justify it in such a manner?"

She said, "My goodness, you have forsaken the Sunnah and followed the way of Ibn 'Abbaas." Suddenly, he realized what he was doing, so he threw down the whip and apologized to her, saying, "Were it not for you, I would have gone astray." A third man saw a man committing immoral actions with his wife and said, "What is this?" She said, "It is the will and decree of Allah." He said, "We accept what Allah decrees."⁴⁹

If *qadar* (predestination) were really a valid excuse, then everyone could kill, spread corruption, take people's wealth and oppress others, and if anyone were to question him about his deeds, he could use *qadar* as an excuse. But all wise people know that this excuse is unacceptable, otherwise all of life would be corrupted.

Many of those who use *qadar* (predestination) as an excuse for their evil actions, immorality and misguided ways get angry when wrong is done to them. They will not accept from others who do them wrong the same excuse of *qadar* that they use to justify their own evil actions.

The way in which our scholars understood it from our Lord and our Prophet is that we must believe in *qadar* (predestination), but it is not permissible for us to use *qadar* as an excuse for not striving, or to use it as an excuse for going against shari'ah. *Qadar* should be used to explain calamities, not to justify our faults.

Shaykh al-Islam (may Allah have mercy on him) said: "With regard to the decree of Allah, a person may be in two states: before it happens and after it happens.

Before it happens, he must seek the help of Allah, put his trust in Him and call upon Him. If the decree of Allah befalls him without him being the cause of it, then he must bear it with patience or accept it, and if it comes by his own action and is a blessing, then he should praise Allah for it; if it is a sin, then he should seek Allah's forgiveness for that.

⁴⁹ These stories and others are quoted from Ibn al-Qayyim by the author of *Ma'aarij al-Qubool*, 2/255.

With regard to the command of Allah, a person may be in two states:

Before he does it, which is the resolve to obey the command and seek Allah's help to do so, and after the deed, when he seeks forgiveness for his shortcomings and thanks Allah for blessing him with something good." Allah (ﷺ), says:

﴿ فَأَصْبِرُ إِنَّ وَعْدَ ٱللَّهِ حَقٌّ وَٱسْتَغْفِرْ لِذَلْبِكَ ... ٢

(So be patient [O' Muhammad]. Verily, the Promise of Allah is true, and ask forgiveness for your fault...)

(Qur'an 40: 55)

Allah commanded him (the Prophet) to bear the decreed calamities with patience, and to seek forgiveness for sins. And Allah (ﷺ), says:

... وَإِن تَصْبُرُوا وَتَتَقُوا فَإِنَّ ذَالِكَ مِنْ عَزُمِ ٱلْأُمُورِ ٢ ﴾

(...but if you persevere patiently, and become Al-Muttaqoon [the pious] then verily, that will be a determining factor in all affairs [and that is from the great matters which you must hold on with all your efforts].) (Qur'an 3: 186)

And the Prophet Yoosuf () said:

(عَنْ يَنْتُو وَيَصْبِرْ فَإِنْ اللَّهُ لَا يُضِيعُ أَجْرَ الْمُحْبِنِينَ
 ... إِنَّهُ مَن يَنَقِ وَيَصْبِرْ فَإِنْ اللَهُ لَا يُضِيعُ أَجْرَ الْمُحْبِنِينَ
 ... Verily, he who fears Allah with obedience to Him [by abstaining from sins and evil deeds, and by performing righteous good deeds], and is patient, then surely, Allah makes not the reward of the *Muhsinoon* [good-doers] to be lost.
 (Qur'an 12: 90)

He mentioned bearing calamities with patience and fearing Allah by forsaking evil actions. The Prophet (ﷺ) said:

114 Schools of Thought on Qadar (Predestination)

"Strive to do that which will benefit you, seek the help of Allah and do not feel helpless. If something befalls you, do not say 'If only I had done such and such, I would have gotten such and such...' Instead, say '*Qaddar Allah wa maa shaa'a fa'al* (Allah decreed, and whatever He willed happened).' For the words 'if only' open the way for the *Shaytaan* (Satan)."⁵⁰

The wise believer does not forsake doing something on the basis that Allah's decree concerning him is cut and dried. He must take the commands seriously, know what Allah wants him to do, and think of that which will benefit him. Then he should do his utmost to adhere to the commands of Allah and to pursue the means in which he thinks his best interests lie. If he does not succeed, he should not waste his time in regret and sorrow; in such cases he should say only, *Qaddar Allah wa maa shaa'a fa'al* (Allah decreed, and whatever He willed happened).

Believing in *qadar* and using it as a justification is beneficial in treating the psychological problems, which result from failure, which take away and waste people's energy. Belief in *qadar* should not prevent them from striving in the future.

Referring to the hadith in which Adam used qadar (predestination) as an excuse

Those who have little knowledge use as evidence the hadith according to which Adam and Moosa (Peace be upon them) used *qadar* as an excuse for their faults. This is an authentic hadith narrated in the books of *Saheeh* and *Sunan*.

Abu Hurayrah narrated: "The Messenger of Allah (ﷺ) said: 'Adam and Moosa (peace be upon them both) disputed before their Lord,

⁵⁰ The hadith is narrated by Muslim in his *Saheeh* (4/2052, hadith no. 2664) from Abu Hurayrah. *Majmoo* ' *al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam*, 8/76.

and Adam defeated Moosa in argument.

Prophet Moosa (Moses) said: 'You are Adam whom Allah created with His own Hand, and He breathed into you of His Spirit; His angels prostrated to you, and He caused you to dwell in His Paradise, then He sent mankind down to this earth because of your sin.'

Adam said, 'You are Moosa, whom Allah chose to bear His Message, and with whom He spoke. He gave you the Tablets on which was written the explanation of all things, and He brought you close to Him. How long did you find that Allah had written the *Tawraat* (Torah) before I was created?'

Moosa (Moses) said, 'Forty years.'

Adam said: 'And did you find in it (the words),

﴿ ... وَعَصَىٰ ءَادَمُ رَبُّمُ فَغُوىٰ ٢

(...Thus did Adam disobey his Lord, so he went astray.) (Qur'an 20: 121)?'

Moosa said, 'Yes.'

Adam said: 'Are you blaming me for doing something that Allah had decreed I would do forty years before He created me?'"

The Messenger of Allah (變) said: "Thus did Adam defeat Moosa in argument."⁵¹

There is no evidence in the hadith to support those who use *qadar* as an excuse for evil actions and sins. Adam did not use the Divine Will and Predestination (*Al-Qadaa' wal-Qadar*) as an excuse to justify his sin, and Moosa did not blame his father Adam for a sin from which

⁵¹ Muslim, 4/2043, hadith no. 2652. There are a number of versions of this hadith narrated by Muslim. It is also narrated by Bukhari in several places in his book, and Abu Dawood and Tirmidhi in their *Sunan*. The various versions of the hadith are also cited in *Jaami' al-Uşool*, 10/124.

116 Schools of Thought on Qadar (Predestination)

he had repented and Allah has forgiven him, and subsequently chosen him and guided him. What Moosa was blaming for, was the disaster which had led Adam and his progeny to be expelled from Paradise.

Adam cited *qadar* (predestination) as the cause of the calamity, not the sin, because *qadar* is an acceptable explanation for calamities, but it is not a reasonable justification for sins.⁵²

So people must accept *qadar* (predestination) - if calamities befall them.

< الَذِينَ إِذَا أَصَبَتَهُم مُصِيبَةٌ قَالُوا إِنَّا لِلَّهِ وَإِنَّا إِلَيْهِ رَبِعُونَ ٢

Who, when afflicted with calamity, say: 'Truly, to Allah we belong and truly, to Him we shall return.'

(Qur'an 2: 156)

narrated by Muslim. It is also narrated by B

But those who commit sin cannot use *qadar* (predestination) as an excuse; they have to repent and seek the forgiveness of Allah:

﴿ فَأَصْبِرْ إِنَّ وَعْدَ ٱللَّهِ حَقٌّ وَٱسْتَغْفِرْ لِذَنْبِكَ ... ٢

(...So be patient [O' Muhammad]. Verily, the Promise of Allah is true, and ask forgiveness for your fault.) (Qur'an 40: 55)

Thus Allah tells us to bear calamities with patience and to seek forgiveness for sins and faults.

Allah condemned *Iblees* (Satan), not because he acknowledged *qadar* when he said,

﴿ ... رَبِّ بِمَا أَغْوَيْنَنِي ... ٢

⁵² Sharh at-Tahaawiyah, p. 154. This was also the response of Shaykh al-Islam. See Shifaa' al-'Aleel, p. 35.

(...'O' my Lord! Because You misled me'...) (Qur'an 15: 39),

but because he was using qadar as a justification for his going astray.

Ibn al-Qayyim responded differently to those who misunderstood the hadith about Adam defeating Moosa in argument. He said: "Using *qadar* as a reason for sin is useful in some cases and is harmful in others. It is useful when it is cited after one has fallen into sin then repented and given up the sin, as Adam did. In such cases, mentioning *qadar* is part of *Tawheed* and acknowledging the names and attributes of Allah in a manner that benefits both the one who mentions them and the one who hears him, because *qadar* should not be used as an excuse to cancel out a command or a prohibition, or to cancel out shari'ah; rather, it should be mentioned as pure truth and to demonstrate the concept of *Tawheed*, and to show that one has no power and strength of one's own.

What makes this clear is the fact that Adam said to Moosa (Moses): "Are you blaming me for doing something that Allah had decreed I would do before I was created?" If a man commits a sin, and then repents, and the matter is settled as if it never happened, then someone blames him for that, it is acceptable in such case to cite *qadar* as a reason and say, "This is something which was decreed before I was created," because here he is not using *qadar* to cancel out the rulings of Allah or as a justification for falsehood or wrongdoing.

Concerning instances when using *qadar* (predestination) as an excuse is harmful, this is when it is mentioned with regard to the future, as when a person does something which is *haraam* (unlawful), or neglects something which is *waajib* (obligatory), and if someone blames him for that, he uses *qadar* as an excuse for his doing it, thus rejecting truth and committing falsehood, as the people insisting on their polytheism used *qadar* as an excuse for their *shirk*

and their worship of others instead of Allah."53

Is it obligatory to accept and be content with what is decreed?

If sins happen by the decree of Allah, then how can we hate what He decrees? The answer to this is: "We find no *aa yah* (verse) in the Book of Allah or hadith in the Sunnah of His Messenger (ﷺ) which commands people to accept everything that has been decreed of people's actions, good and evil alike. But what people are obliged to do is to accept what Allah commands. No one has the right to be angry with what Allah has commanded. Allah (ﷺ), says:

أَنَّذَ وَرَبِّكَ لَا يُؤْمِنُونَ حَتَى يُحَكِّمُوكَ فِيحًا شَجَحَرَ بَيْنَهُمْ ثُمَ لَا يَجِ دُوا فِي آَنفُسِهِمْ حَرَجًا مِمَّا قَضَيْتَ وَيُسَلِّمُوا نَسَلِيمًا ٢٠٠٠

General Structure
 General Structure<

(Qur'an 4: 65)

People must accept what Allah decrees of calamities, which are not sins, as when they are tested with poverty, sickness, or humiliation and mistreatment at the hands of others. Bearing calamities with patience is obligatory (*waajib*), and being content with them is prescribed, but is it *waajib* (obligatory) or *mustahabb* (good and preferred)? Of the two views of the companions of Ahmad and others, the more correct view is that it is *mustahabb*, not *waajib*."⁵⁴

doing it, thus rejecting truth and committing fullenhead, as the panale

⁵³ Shifaa' al-'Aleel, p. 35.

⁵⁴ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/190.

(6) The claim that obliging people to do something other than what they have done is obliging them to do something that is beyond their capabilities

Those who follow this school of thought claim that the people who commit sins are not able to do anything other than what they did, and that obliging them to do something other than that is obliging them to do something that is beyond their capabilities. Islam negates this idea, as Allah (ﷺ), says:

﴿ لَا يُكَلِّفُ ٱللَّهُ نَفْسًا إِلَّا وُسْعَهَاً ... ()

(Allah burdens not a person beyond his scope...) (Qur'an 2: 286)

﴿ ... لَا يُكَلِّفُ أَلَدُ نَفْسًا إِلَّا مَا ءَاتَنهَا ... ٢٠

(...Allah puts no burden on any person beyond what He has given him...)
 (Qur'an 65: 7)
 They use aayaat (verses) such as the following as an excuse:

﴿ ٱلَّذِينَ كَانَتْ أَعْبُنُهُمْ فِي غِطَاءٍ عَن ذِكْرِي وَكَانُوا لَا يَسْتَطِيعُونَ سَمْعًا ٢

([To] those whose eyes had been under a covering from My Reminder [this Qur'an], and who could not bear to hear [it].
(Qur'an 18: 101)

... يُضَعَفُ لَهُمُ ٱلْعَذَابُ مَا كَانُوْا يَسْتَطِيعُونَ ٱلسَّمْعَ وَمَا كَانُوا بُبْصِرُونَ

(... Their torment will be doubled! They could not bear to hear [the preachers of the truth] and they used not to see [the truth because of their severe aversion, in spite of the fact that they had the sense of hearing and sight].)

(Qur'an 11: 20)

have done is obliging them to do something

And We have put a barrier before them, and a barrier behind them, and We have covered them up, so that they cannot see. (Qur'an 36: 9)

They said: these *aayaat* clearly state that they are not able to do (good). Thus they use some parts of the Qur'an against others and claim that parts of it contradict others. But the Qur'an is above any such thing.

The response to the confusion they cause is: "The ability that is denied in the *aayaat* which they use as evidence is not the kind of ability which is a precondition for heeding commands and prohibitions. If a person is not able, then the commands and prohibitions, promise (of Paradise) and warning (of Hell), condemnation and praise, reward and punishment do not apply. It is known that people are commanded to do some things and forbidden to do others, that they are subject to the promise (of Paradise) and warning (of Hell), hence we know that the ability referred to above is not the same as the ability that is required to heed the commands and prohibitions."⁵⁵

The ability which is described as being absent in these *aayaat* (verses) which they quote to justify themselves is not because doing (good) deeds is impossible or because they are incapable of them. It is because they themselves neglect it and occupy themselves with its opposite, as in the case of the *kaafir* (disbeliever) whom Allah has obliged to believe at the time when he is a *kaafir*, because he is not incapable of believing and it is not impossible for him. He is like one who is not able to seek knowledge because he is preoccupied with earning a living."⁵⁶

fact that they had the sense of hearing and sight h

- ⁵⁵ Opt. cit 8/291.
- ⁵⁶ Opt. cit 8/296.

Ability is one of the preconditions of obligation, as is mentioned in *aayaat* such as the following:

... وَلِنَّهِ عَلَى ٱلنَّاسِ حِجُّ ٱلْبَيْتِ مَنِ ٱسْتَطَاعَ إِلَيْهِ سَبِيلًا ٢٠٠٠

(...And Hajj [pilgrimage to Makkah] to the House [Ka'bah] is a duty that mankind owes to Allah, those who can afford the expenses [for one's conveyance, provision and residence]. (Qur'an 3: 97)

﴿ فَمَن لَمَر بِجِدٍ فَصِيَامُ شَهْرَتِنِ مُتَنَابِعَيْنِ مِن قَبْلِ أَن يَتَمَاسَاً فَمَن لَمَر يَسْتَطِعُ فَإِطْعَامُ سِتِينَ مِسْكِينَاً ... ۞﴾

And he who finds not [the money for freeing a slave] must fast two successive months before they both touch each other. And he who is unable to do so, should feed sixty *Masaakeen* [poor]... (Qur'an 58: 4)

And in *aḥaadeeth* such as: "Pray standing, and if you cannot, then sitting, and if you cannot, then on your side."

It is well known that Allah does not enjoin what a person is unable to do because he is incapable of doing it. He does not enjoin a paralyzed man to pray standing, or a sick person to fast, or a blind man to engage in jihaad and fighting, because doing such things are beyond their capabilities.

Muslim scholars agreed that if a person is incapable of doing some obligatory actions, he is not required to do that of which he is incapable. If a person's foot has been cut off, he does not have to wash it, and whoever cannot do *ghusl* (take bath) to cleanse himself of *janaabah* (major ritual impurity) or stand or bow is not obliged to do that of which he is incapable. Thus it will become clear that the lack of ability mentioned in the *aayaat* (verses) which this group use as evidence is not connected at all to commands, prohibitions and obligations, by the consensus of the Muslims. The ability which is a condition of commands and prohibitions in the *aayaat* that we have quoted is the one which Allah did not oblige anyone to do anything without having that ability.⁵⁷

(7) The view implies that all creatures are equal

This view leads its followers to regard as equal good people and immoral people, righteous people and evil people, the people of Paradise and the people of Hell. But the All-Knowing, All-Aware Allah, has differentiated between them:

﴿ أَمْرِ نَجْعَلُ ٱلَّذِينَ ءَامَنُوا وَعَمَمُوا ٱلصَّلِحَتِ كَالْمُفْسِدِينَ فِي ٱلْأَرْضِ أَمْ نَجْعَلُ ٱلْمُتَقِينَ كَالْفُجَارِ ۞ ﴾

Shall We treat those who believe [in the Oneness of Allah - Islamic Monotheism] and do righteous good deeds as *Mufsidoon* [those who associate partners in worship with Allah and commit crimes] on earth? Or shall We treat the *Muttaqeen* [the pious] as the *Fujjaar* [criminals, disbelievers, the wicked]?) (Qur'an 38: 28)
In the second seco

(Or do those who earn evil deeds think that We shall hold them equal with those who believe [in the Oneness of Allah - Islamic Monotheism] and do righteous good deeds, in their present life and after their death?...) (Qur'an 45: 21)

﴿ أَنْجَعُلُ ٱلْسَلِمِينَ كَالْجَرِمِينَ ٢ مَا لَكُو كَيْفَ تَخَكُّمُونَ ٢

⁵⁷ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/130.

(Shall We then treat the Muslims [believers of Islamic Monotheism, doers of righteous deeds] like the *Mujrimoon* [criminals, polytheists and disbelievers]? What is the matter with you? How judge you?)

(Qur'an 68: 35-36)

3 - The View of *Ahl as-Sunnah wal-Jamaa'ah* Concerning Predestination (*Qadar*)

We have explained the views of those who went astray concerning the matter of predestination (*qadar*). Now I would like to describe the view of *Ahl as-Sunnah wal-Jamaa* 'ah on this issue. Many scholars have written their views, and I will quote here what three of the most prominent of them have written.

(1) Shaykh al-Islam Ibn Taymiyah sums up their point of view

Shaykh al-Islam Ibn Taymiyah (may Allah have mercy on him and reward him greatly) said:

"The viewpoint of *Ahl as-Sunnah wal-Jamaa* '*ah*⁵⁸ on this issue is that which is indicated by the Qur'an and Sunnah, and that which was followed by the *Şaḥaabah* (Companions), the *Muhaajiroon* (Emigrants to Madeenah) and *Anṣaar* (Helpers, Muslim residents of Madeenah), and those who followed them in truth. This view is that Allah is the Creator and Sovereign of all things, which includes all independent entities and their attributes, such as people's deeds and other things.

Whatever He wills happens, and whatever He does not will does not happen. Nothing can happen except by His will and decree. Nothing

⁵⁸ The sunnites: people and group adhering strictly to the Qur'an and Sunnah.

is beyond Him if He wills it; rather, He is the One Who is Able to do all things, and He does not will anything but He is able to do it.

Allah knows what has happened and what is yet to come; if it is not to happen, He knows how it would have been if it had happened. This includes people's actions and other things. Allah, the Exalted, decreed the decrees of His creation before He created them; He decreed their lifespans, their provision and their deeds, and wrote that down, and He wrote down their ultimate destiny, who will be blessed and who will be doomed.

So they (*Ahl as-Sunnah wal-Jamaa'ah*) believe that He created all things, that He is Able to do all things, that His will encompasses all that exists, and that He knew and decided and wrote all things before they came into being."⁵⁹

"The *Salaf* (Pious Predecessors) and *aaimmah* (the leading scholars) of this ummah are agreed that people are commanded to do that which Allah has commanded them, and are forbidden to do that which Allah has forbidden. They are agreed on their belief in His promise and His warning, which are spoken of in the Qur'an and Sunnah.

They are agreed that there is no justification for anyone with regard to neglecting any obligatory duty or committing any forbidden act; but Allah has perfect evidence against His slaves.⁹⁶⁰

"Among the things that are agreed upon by the *Salaf* (Pious Predecessors) and *aaimmah* (the leading scholars) of this ummah is their belief in Divine will and Predestination (*al-Qadaa' wal-Qadar*), and that Allah is the Creator of all things. What He wills happens, and what He does not will does not happen. Allah sends astray

⁶⁰ Opt. cit 8/452.

⁵⁹ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/449.

whomsoever He wills, and He guides whomsoever He wills. They also believe that people have their own will and freedom to choose, so they do by their own will and power that which Allah enables them to do, but they point out that people do not will anything except that which Allah wills."⁶¹

(2) The 'aqeedah of Imam Abu Bakr Muhammad al-Husayn al-Aajurri concerning predestination (qadar)

He (may Allah have mercy on him) said: that Allah created Paradise and created Hell. For each of them He created its people, and He swore by His Glory that He would fill Hell with jinn and mankind together.

Then He created Adam (), and brought forth from his loins all the progeny that He would create until the Day of Resurrection. He divided them into two groups, a group for Paradise and a group for Hell.

He created *Iblees* (Satan) and commanded him to prostrate to Adam. He knew that he would not prostrate because of the decree to which he was subject, the decree that he would be doomed, which Allah knew beforehand. None can oppose the ruling of Allah, the Most Generous, Who does whatever He wills with His creation, and Whose will and decree is just.

He created Adam and Hawwa' (Eve) (Peace be upon them), and He created them to come to this earth. He caused them to dwell in Paradise, and commanded them to eat freely with pleasure and delight as and when from wherever they willed (cf. 2:35), but He forbade them to come near one tree. But His decree that they would disobey Him by eating from that tree came to pass. Allah forbade

some of you are

61 Ibid, 8/459.

them to eat from it, but He knew that He had decreed that they would eat from it.

﴿ لَا يُسْتَلُ عَمَّا يَفْعَلُ وَهُمْ يُسْتَلُونَ ٢

(He cannot be questioned as to what He does, while they will be questioned.) (Qur'an 21: 23)

So they could not avoid eating from it, as a cause of their sin and expulsion from Paradise, because they had been created to come to this earth, and Allah would forgive them after they had sinned. All of this was known to Him aforetime, and it is not permissible that anything should happen in His creation without Him having already decreed it and encompassed it in His knowledge, knowing before it happens that it will happen.

He created His creation, as and when He willed, and He made them doomed and blessed before He brought them forth into this world, whilst they are still in their mothers' wombs. Their lifespan, provision and deeds are written, then He brings them forth into this world, and every person strives in accordance with what has been written and decreed for him.

Then He sent His Messengers, and sent down His Revelation to them, and commanded them to convey it to His creation. So they conveyed the Message of their Lord and advised their people. Those who were decreed by Allah to believe, believed, and those who were decreed by Allah to disbelieve, disbelieved. Allah, the Almighty, the All-High says:

﴿ هُوَ ٱلَّذِى خَلَقَكُمْ فَيَنكُمْ كَافِرٌ وَمِنكُمْ مُؤْمِنٌ وَٱللَهُ بِمَا تَعْمَلُونَ بَصِيرُ ٢٠ ﴾

(He it is Who created you, then some of you are disbelievers and some of you are believers. And Allah is

All-Seer of what you do. (Qur'an 64: 2) He loves whomsoever He wills of His slaves, and opens his heart to faith and Islam; and He hates others and seals their hearts, hearing and sight, so that they will never be guided. He sends astray whomsoever He wills, and He guides whomsoever He wills.

﴿ لَا يُسْتَلْ عَمَّا يَفْعَلْ وَهُمْ يُسْتَلُونَ ٢

(He cannot be questioned as to what He does, while they will be questioned.) (Qur'an 21: 23)

All the creation belongs to Him, and He does whatever He wants to His creation, without being unjust towards them. Glorified be our Lord far above any injustice being attributed to Him. The one who is unjust is the one who takes that which does not belong to him; but to Allah belongs all that is in the heavens and all that is on the earth, and all that is between them, and all that is under the soil (cf. Our'an 20:6). To Him belong this world and the Hereafter, may He be Exalted and may His names be Blessed. He loves obedience from His slaves, and commands them to obey Him, and those who are helped by Him obey Him. He forbids disobedience but He has willed that it should happen, without liking it and without commanding people to do it. Glorified be Allah above enjoining or loving evil. Exalted be He above anything happening in His Domain that He does not will or want or know of before it happens. He knew what His creatures would do before he created them, and after He created them, and before they did it, by His will and decree.

By His command, the Pen wrote in *al-Lauh al-Mahfooz* what was to come of righteous deeds and immoral actions. He praises those among His slaves who obey Him; He attributes their good deeds to them and promises them a great reward for that, even though without His help they could not have done these deeds for which they deserved the reward. ... ذَلِكَ فَضُلُ ٱللَّهِ يُؤْتِبِهِ مَن يَشَآهُ وَٱللَّهُ ذُو ٱلْفَضِّلِ ٱلْعَظِيمِ ٢ ﴾

(...That is the Grace of Allah which He bestows on whom He is pleased with. And Allah is the Owner of Great Bounty.) (Qur'an 57: 21)

Similarly, He condemns those who disobey Him, and warns against doing so. He attributes their actions to them, and that is in accordance with the decree to which they were subject. He sends astray whomsoever He wills and guides whomsoever He wills.

Muhammad ibn al-Husayn (may Allah have mercy on him) said: "This is our point of view concerning *qadar*."⁶²

(3) The 'aqeedah of At-Tahaawi concerning predestination

At-Ţahaawi (may Allah have mercy on him) said concerning *qadar* (predestination):

"He (Allah) created the universe in accordance with His knowledge, and He set out His decrees concerning them, and determined their lifespans. Nothing was unknown to Him before He created them. He knew what they would do before He created them, and He commanded them to obey Him and forbade them to disobey Him.

Everything happens according to His decree and will, and His will is irresistible. His slaves have no will except within the will of Allah, for whatever Allah wills happens, and whatever He does not will does not happen.

He guides whomsoever he wills, and protects him and keeps him away from sin by His Grace. And He sends astray whomsoever He wills, and forsakes him and tests him by His Justice.

⁶² Ash-Sharee 'ah by Al-Aajurri, 150-152.

All people are subject to His Will, between Grace and Justice.

He is Exalted far above any opponents or rivals. None can push back His will, overturn His judgement or repel His command.

We believe in all of that, and we are certain that everything comes from Him."⁶³

"Allah knew from eternity the number of those who would enter Paradise, and the number of those who would enter Hell; He knew them all at once, and there will be no increase or decrease in those numbers.

Similarly, their actions are in accordance with His knowledge of what they will do, and each person is guided to do that for which he was created. They will be judged according to their last deeds; the blessed is the one who is blessed by the decree of Allah, and the doomed is the one who is doomed by the decree of Allah.

The principle of *qadar* (predestination) is a secret of Allah's creation which He did not expose to any angel who is close to Him or to any Prophet who was sent by Him. Discussing this matter in depth leads to misguidance, deprivation (of Allah's mercy) and transgression (into forbidden territory). So beware of that and be careful to avoid pursuing the matter in your thoughts and questioning. For Allah has kept the knowledge of *qadar* (predestination) away from His creation and has forbidden them to try to fathom it, as He, the All-Glorious, says:

﴿ لَا يُسْتَلُ عَمَّا يَفْعَلُ وَهُمْ يُسْتَلُونَ ٢ ٢ (bood of the second second second second second second s

("He cannot be questioned as to what He does, while they will be questioned.") (Qur'an 21: 23)

⁶³ Al- 'Aqeedah at- Tahaawiyah, with commentary and footnotes by Shaykh Naaşiruddin al-Albaani, p. 21.

Whoever asks, 'Why does He do that?' has rejected the ruling of the Qur'an, and whoever rejects the ruling of the Qur'an is one of the *kaafir* (disbelievers).

This is all that is needed by the close friend of Allah whose heart is filled with light, which is the status of those who have deep knowledge, because knowledge is of two types: knowledge which is manifested in creation, and knowledge that is concealed from creation. Denying the knowledge that is manifested is *kufr* (disbelief), and claiming to know the things that are concealed is *kufr* (disbelief). Faith can only be affirmed by accepting the knowledge that exists, and leaving alone that concealed knowledge known only to Allah.

We believe in *al-Lauh al-Mahfooz* (The Preserved Tablet) and in the Pen, and in everything in it that has been decreed. Even if all of creation were to come together against something that Allah has decreed will happen, to make it not happen, they will never be able to do that. And if they were all to come together for something that Allah has decreed will not happen, to make it happen, they will never be able to do that. The Pen has dried concerning what is to happen until the Day of Resurrection. Whatever misses a person could not have befallen him, and whatever befalls him could not have missed him.

Each person must realize that Allah already knows everything that will happen to His creatures. He has decreed that and His will is inevitable and irresistible. None can stop it, overturn it, remove it or change it. None can add to or take away from His creation in His heavens and His earth. This is one of the bonds of faith and one of the principles of knowledge and the acknowledgement of the *Tawheed* (Oneness) and *ruboobiyah* (Lordship) of Allah, as He, the All-High, says in His Book:

﴿ ... وَخَلَقَ كُلُّ شَيْءٍ فَقَدْرُمُ نُقَدِيرُ ٢

(...'He has created everything, and has measured it exactly according to its due measurements [fa qaddarahu taqdeeran].' (Qur'an 25: 2)

﴿ ... وَكَانَ أَمْرُ ٱللَّهِ قَدَرًا مَّقَدُورًا ٢

(...'And the Command of Allah is a decree determined') (Qur'an 33: 38)

So woe to those who oppose Allah by debating His decree and who examine the matter with a foolish heart, seeking with their delusions to examine the deep mysteries of the Unseen and thereby becoming lying and sinful people (26: 222)."⁶⁴

⁶⁴ Al-'Aqeedah at-Ţaḥaawiyah, 31.

adt fo gnillheadnasaszugatedadeverythingalandohast uteasuradisitsodW adt fo exactly according to its dula measurentents [/a qud darahus' nu taqdeeran].') (Quvian 225h3) rifasa

is trased asodw dallA ho benerit as all and the set is and the set of the set

We believe in *al-Lauh al-Mahfooz* (The Preserved Tablet) and in the Pen, and in everything in it that has been decreed. Even if all of creation were to come together against something that Allah has decreed will happen, to make it not happen, they will never be able to do that. And if they were all to come together for something that Allah has decreed will not happen, to make it happen, they will never be able to do that. The Pen has dried concerning what is to happen until the Day of Resurrection. Whatever misses a person could not have befallen him, and whatever befalls him could not have missed him

Each person must realize that Allah already knows everything that will happen to His creatures. He has decreed that and His will is inevitable and irresistible. None can stop it, overturn it, remove it or change it. None can add to or take away from His creation in His heavens and His earth. This is one of the bonds of faith and one of the principles of knowledge and the acknowledgement of the *Tawheed* (Oneness) and *ruboobiyah* (Lordship) of Allah, as He, the All-High, says in His Book:

﴿ ... وَخَلَقَ حَتَّلَ شَيْءٍ فَتَدَدُّهُ نَقْدِيرُ ٢

⁶⁴ Al-'Ageedah at-Tahaawiyah, 31.

CHAPTER SIX

REASONS WHY PEOPLE GO ASTRAY WITH REGARD TO QADAR (PREDESTINATION)

The reasons why the *Qadariyah an-Nafaat* who denied predestination (*qadar*) and the *Qadariyah al-Mujbirah* who believed that man is compelled to do what he does (*al-jabr*) went astray on this issue. Each group saw only a part of the true picture, and was blind to the other parts. So they are like a one-eyed man who sees only one side of a thing and does not see the other side. The *Qadariyah* who did not believe in *qadar* said that Allah does not will *kufr*, sin and disobedience; He does not love them or accept them, so how can we say that He created the deeds of His slaves which include *kufr*, sin and disobedience?

The *Qadariyah al-Mujbirah* who believe in *al-jabr* believed that Allah is the Creator of all things, and claimed that He loves and accepts everything that He creates and brings into existence.

Ahl as-Sunnah wal-Jamaa 'ah see the whole picture of the reality, so they believe in the truth that each of these two groups believe, and they reject the falsehood which each followed. So they say: "Although Allah wills that disobedience and sin should exist by His decree, He does not love them or accept them or command them; rather he hates them and forbids them."

This is the view of all the *Salaf* (Pious Predecessors), who said: whatever Allah wills happens, and whatever He does not will does not happen. Hence, the *fuqahaa*' (Islamic jurists) agreed that if a person who swears an oath and says, "By Allah I shall definitely do such and such *In sha' Allah* (if Allah wills)", he does not break his

oath if he does not do it, even if it was something that is *waajib* (obligatory) or *mustahabb* (preferred/recommended). But if he says, "If Allah likes me to do this," he will have broken his oath if it was something that is *waajib* or *mustahabb*.

Those (scholars) of *Ahl as-Sunnah* who examined this issue said that in the Book of Allah, His Will is of two types: His *qadari* will, i.e., His decrees concerning His creation, and His *shar'ee* will, i.e., the laws that He wants His slaves to follow.

His *shar'ee* will encompasses all that He loves and is pleased with; His *qadari* or *kawni* (universal) will encompasses all that exists.

His shar'ee will is referred to in aayaat such as the following:

... يُرِيدُ أَنَّهُ بِحُمُ ٱلْيُسْتَرَ وَلَا يُرِيدُ بِحُمُ ٱلْمُسْتَرَ ... @ >

(...Allah intends for you ease, and He does not want to make things difficult for you...) (Qur'an 2: 185)

٨... مَا يُرِيدُ ٱنَّهُ لِيَجْعَلَ عَلَيْكُم مِنْ حَرْج وَلَكِن يُرِيدُ لِيُطَهِرَكُمْ وَلِيُتِمْ يَعْمَتُهُ عَلَيْكُمْ لَمَلَكُمْ تَعْلَيْهُمْ الْمُؤْرَثِ ٢٠٠٠

(...Allah does not want to place you in difficulty, but He wants to purify you, and to complete His Favour to you that you may be thankful.) (Qur'an 5: 6)

﴿ بُرِيدُ ٱللَّهُ لِيُحْبَنِينَ لَكُمْ وَيَهْدِيكُمْ سُنَنَ ٱلَّذِينَ مِن قَبْلِكُمْ وَيَتُوبَ عَلَيْكُمْ وَٱللَّهُ عَلِيهُ حَكِيمُ ۞ وَٱللَّهُ بُرِيدُ أَن يَتُوبَ عَلَيْكُمْ وَيُرِيدُ ٱلَّذِينَ يَتَمِعُونَ ٱلشَّهَوَتِ أَن يَمَيدُوا مَيْلًا عَظِيمًا ۞ يُرِيدُ ٱللَّهُ أَن يُخَفِّفَ عَنكُمْ وَخُلِقَ ٱلْإِنسَكُنُ ضَعِيفًا ۞ ﴾

Allah wishes to make clear [what is lawful and what is unlawful] to you, and to show you the ways of those before you, and accept your repentance and Allah is the All-Knower, All-Wise. Allah wishes to accept your repentance, but those who follow their lusts, wish that you [believers] should deviate tremendously away [from the Right Path]. Allah wishes to lighten [the burden] for you; and man was created weak [cannot be patient to leave sexual intercourse with woman].

(Qur'an 4: 26-28) ﴿ ... إِنَّمَا يُرِيدُ ٱللَّهُ لِيُذْهِبَ عَنِكُمُ ٱلرِّحْسَ أَهْلَ ٱلْبَيْتِ وَيُطَهِّرُدُ تَطْهِـبِرًا ۞﴾

(...Allah wishes only to remove *Ar-Rijs* [evil deeds and sins] from you, O' members of the family [of the Prophet], and to purify you with a thorough purification.) (*Qur'an 33: 33*)

This kind of will (*shar'ee*) does not necessarily come to pass, unless it is joined by the second type of will. This type of will clearly indicates that Allah does not love sin, disobedience, misguidance and *kufr* (disbelief); He does not enjoin them and He does not accept them, even though He wills that they should exist.

Allah loves and accepts things that have to do with His religious, *shar'ee* will; He rewards those who do them and grants them admittance to Paradise, helping them in this world and in the Hereafter and granting victory to His pious close friends and righteous slaves.¹

This will encompasses all kinds of acts of obedience, whether or not they happen.²

Allah's universal or *qadari* will is the will that encompasses all that exists, concerning which we say that whatever Allah wills happens,

² Majmooʻ al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/198.

135

¹ Sharh at-Ţahaawiyah, p. 116; Majmooʻ al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/188, 58.

and whatever He does not will, does not happen. This is the will referred to in *aayaat* (verses) such as the following:

﴿ فَمَن يُرِدِ اللَّهُ أَن يَهْدِيَهُ يَشْحَ صَدَرَهُ لِلإِسْلَخِ وَمَن يُرِدَ أَن يُضِلَهُ يَجْعَلْ صَدَرَهُ ضَنَيْقًا حَرَجًا ... @ ﴾

And whomsoever Allah wills to guide, He opens his breast to Islam; and whomsoever He wills to send astray, He makes his breast closed and constricted...

(Qur'an 6: 125)

وَلَا يَنْفَكُرُ نُصْحِى إِنَّ أَرَدَتُ أَنْ أَنصَحَ لَكُمْ إِن كَانَ أَللَهُ يُرِيدُ أَن يُغْوِيَكُمْ

(And my advice will not profit you, even if I wish to give you good counsel, if Allah's Will is to keep you astray...) (Qur'an 11: 34)

... وَلَوْ شَاتَهُ مَا أَفْتَتَلُوا وَلَكِنَ أَلَهُ يَفْعَلُ مَا يُرِيدُ @

(...If Allah had willed, they would not have fought against one another, but Allah does what He likes.) (Qur'an 2: 253)

﴿ وَلَوَلَا إِذْ دَخَلْتَ جَنَّكَ قُلْتَ مَا شَآءَ ٱللهُ لَا قُوَّةَ إِلَّا بِٱللَّهِ ... ٢ ٢

(It was better for you to say, when you entered your garden: 'That which Allah wills [will come to pass]! There is no power but with Allah!'...) (Qur'an 18: 39)

This will is all-encompassing and nothing that exists operates outside of it. Everything that happens in the universe happens by this will of Allah. This will applies to both believers and disbelievers, righteous and immoral, the people of Paradise and the people of Hell, the friends of Allah and His enemies, the people of obedience whom He loves and who love Him, upon whom He and His angels send blessings, and the people of disobedience whom He hates and detests, who are cursed by Allah and those who curse.³

This will encompasses all that happens, both obedience and disobedience, but it does not include that which does not happen.⁴ In relation to both kinds of will, created beings fall into four categories:

- Those to which both kinds of will apply, i.e., righteous deeds. For Allah wills them by His *shar'ee* will, and He enjoins, loves and accepts them, and He wills them by His universal *qadari* will, otherwise they (righteous deeds) would not happen.
- 2. Those to which only His shar'ee will apply, which are the righteous deeds that Allah enjoins, but the kuffaar (disbelievers) and immoral people disobey Him. All of this is His shar'ee will, which He loves and accepts, whether it happens or not.
- 3. Those to which only His qadari (universal) will apply, which are the things which Allah decrees and wills but He does not command, such as permissible things and sins. He does not enjoin them, and He does not accept or like them. He does not enjoin evil or accept kufr (disbelief) for His slaves. Were it not for His will, decree and creation of them, they would not have existed, for what Allah wills happens and what He does not will does not happen.
- 4. Those to which neither type of will apply, which are the permissible things and sins that do not happen and do not exist.⁵ The blessed ones among the slaves of Allah are those for whom Allah decrees the same by His universal *qadari* will as by His *shar 'ee* will.

⁵ *Ibid*, 8/189.

³ Sharh at-Tahaawiyah, p. 116; Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/198, 58.

⁴ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh al-Islam, 8/198.

The doomed ones are those for whom He wills by His universal *qadari* will that which He does not will by His *shar'ee* will. *Ahl as-Sunnah wal-Jamaa'ah* are those who understand the religion of Allah properly, and do not use parts of the Qur'an as evidence against other parts. They know that the rulings of Allah concerning His creation happen according to both types of will. Whoever looks at people's deeds through both lenses (i.e., acknowledges both types of will) has full sight, and whoever looks at the *shar'ee* will without the universal *qadari* will, or vice versa, is one-eyed, as it were, like Quraysh when they said:

... لَوَ شَاءَ ٱللَهُ مَا أَشْرَكْنَا وَلَا مَاجَاؤُنَا وَلا حَرْمَنَا مِن شَيْءٍ ... @

(... 'If Allah had willed, we would not have taken partners [in worship] with Him, nor would our fathers, and we would not have forbidden anything [against His Will]'...) (Qur'an 6: 148)

Allah (), says:

﴿ ... كَذَبَ ٱلَّذِينَ مِن قَبْلِهِمْ حَتَى ذَاقُوا بَأَسَنَا قُلْ هَلْ عِندَكُم مِنْ

(...Likewise belied those who were before them, [they argued falsely with Allah's Messengers], till they tasted Our Wrath. Say: 'Have you any knowledge [proof] that you can produce before us? Verily, you follow nothing but guess and you do nothing but lie.'

 $(Qur'an \ 6: \ 148)^6$

⁶ Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaykh Al-Islam, 8/198.

CHAPTER SEVEN

THE BENEFITS OF BELIEVING IN QADAR (PREDESTINATION)

We have explained above that the belief in *qadar* (predestination) brought by Islam is free from the weakness, laziness and apathy that have affected a large part of the Muslim ummah down through the ages in the name of belief in *qadar*. The cause of that has been the deviation of the Muslims from a proper understanding of the concept of *qadar* (predestination).

Whoever ponders the belief in *qadar* (predestination) as brought by Islam will find that it has many great benefits which led and still lead to the reform of the individual and of the ummah.

We will describe below some of these benefits of belief in predestination (*qadar*) that we have learned from this study:

1 - Belief in *Qadar* (Predestination) is a Means of Ridding Oneself of *Shirk*

Many philosophers have claimed that good comes from Allah, the All-Glorious, and that evil is the creation of other gods; they said this in order to avoid attributing evil to Allah.¹

The Magians (Zoroastrians) claimed that Light was the creator of good, and Darkness was the creator of evil.

Those among this ummah who claimed that Allah does not create the deeds of His slaves, or that He does not create the misguided deeds, are claiming that there are creators other than Allah.

¹ Shifaa' al-'Aleel, p. 14.

Perfect *Tawheed* (belief in the Oneness of the only God - Allah) is not attained except by those who affirm that Allah Alone is the Creator of everything in the universe, and that His will prevails over His creation - what He wills happens and what He does not will does not happen. All of those who do not believe in *qadar* do not believe truly that their Lord is One and Alone (*Tawheed*) and do not acknowledge Him properly. Belief in predestination (*qadar*) is what marks the difference between *Tawheed* and *shirk*. The one who believes in qadar affirms that this universe and everything in it was created by One God; those who do not believe this imply that there are other gods and lords besides Allah.

2 - Adhering to the True Path During Both Times of Ease and Times of Difficulty

Because of their shortcomings and weaknesses, people cannot always adhere to the straight path. Allah (ﷺ), says:

(Verily, man [disbeliever] was created very impatient; Irritable [discontented] when evil touches him; And niggardly when good touches him. Except those who are devoted to Salaah [prayers].) (Our'an 70: 19-22)

Belief in *qadar* makes a person persist in his adherence to the straight path, so that he is not reckless at times of ease, and does not fall into despair when calamity strikes, for he knows that everything good that happens to him comes from Allah, and is not because of his intelligence or good planning:

﴿ وَمَا بِكُم مِّن نِعْمَةٍ فَمِنَ ٱللَّهِ ... ٢

(And whatever of blessings and good things you have, it is from Allah...)
(Qur'an 16: 53)
He is not like Qaaroon (Korah) who showed off before his people and arrogantly displayed before them the treasures and wealth that Allah had bestowed upon him.

Verily, Qaaroon [Korah] was of Moosa's [Moses] people, but he behaved arrogantly towards them. And We gave him of the treasures, that of which the keys would have been a burden to a body of strong men. Remember when his people said to him: 'Do not exult [with riches, being ungrateful to Allah]. Verily, Allah likes not those who exult [with riches, being ungrateful to Allah]. 'But seek, with that [wealth] which Allah has bestowed on you, the home of the Hereafter, and forget not your portion of lawful enjoyment in this world; and do good as Allah has been good to you, and seek not mischief in the land. Verily, Allah likes not the Mufsidoon [those who commit great crimes and sins, oppressors, tyrants, mischief-makers, corrupters].' He said: 'This has been given to me only because of the knowledge I possess...') (Qur'an 28: 76-78)

And when trials and tribulations befall a person, he knows that this is happening by the decree of Allah, as a test from Him, so he does not panic or despair, rather he seeks the reward of Allah and bears it with patience, and this faith brings contentment and tranquillity to the heart of the believer.

﴿ مَآ أَسَابَ مِن مُصِيبَةٍ فِ ٱلأَرْضِ وَلا فِ أَنفُسِكُمْ إِلَّا فِ حِتَبٍ مِن قَبْلِ أَن نَبْرَأَها إِنَّ ذَلِكَ عَلَى ٱللَهِ يَسِيرُ ٢ لَكَيْلا تَأْسَوْا عَلَى مَا فَاتَكُمْ وَلَا نَفْرَحُوا بِمَآ ءَاتَنكُمْ ... ٢

(No calamity befalls on the earth or in yourselves but it is inscribed in the Book of Decrees [Al-Lauh al-Mahfooz] before We bring it into existence. Verily, that is easy for Allah. In order that you may not grieve at the things over that you fail to get, nor rejoice over that which has been given to you...) (Qur'an 57: 22-23) And Allah praised His slaves,

الَذِينَ إِذَا أَصَابَتْهُم مُصِيبَةٌ قَالُوا إِنَّا لِنَّهِ وَإِنَّا إِلَيْهِ رَجِعُونَ أَوْلَتِهِكَ عَلَيْهِمْ صَلَوَتُ مِن زَيْهِمْ وَرَحْمَةٌ وَأُوْلَتِهِكَ هُمُ الْمُهْتَدُونَ ٢ ﴾

(Who, when afflicted with calamity, say: 'Truly, to Allah we belong and truly, to Him we shall return.' They are those on whom are the *Ṣalawaat* [i.e. who are blessed and will be forgiven] from their Lord, and [they are those who] receive His Mercy, and it is they who are the guided ones.) (Qur'an 2: 156-157)

3 - The One Who Believes in *Qadar* is Always Careful

Those who believe in qadar are always careful, for:

 الله المنافقة عنه الله المقوم المخدرين
 منه المخدرين
 منه المخدرين
 منه المعام المعام المعام المحمون
 منه المعام الم معام المعام المع معام المعام المعام المعام الم معام المعام المع معام المعام معام المعام الم معام المعام المع معام المعام ا

(...None feels secure from the Plan of Allah except the people who are the losers.) (Qur'an 7: 99).

People's hearts are always turning over and changing, for their hearts are between two of the fingers of *Ar-Rahmaan* (Allah, the All-Merciful), Who turns them over as He wills, and the trials which are sent against people's hearts are many. The believer is always careful lest there come to him something which will lead him astray, just as he always fears that his final actions may be bad. This does not make him lazy and apathetic, rather it motivates him to strive persistently to follow the straight path, to do many righteous deeds and to avoid sins and punishable deeds.

And the believer's heart is always attached to its Creator, calling upon Him, putting its hope in Him, seeking His help and asking Him to make it adhere firmly to the straight path, and to be guided aright.

4 - Facing Difficulties and Dangers with a Strong Heart

When a person believes that everything that happens is decreed, and that provision and lifespans are in the hand of Allah, then he can confront difficulties and ordeals with a strong heart and with his head held high. This belief was one of the greatest motives which spurred the *mujaahideen* (warriors in the way of Allah) to acts of courage on the battlefield without feeling scared. They would seek death wherever they could find it, throwing themselves into dangerous situations where they thought they would be killed. Then you would find one of them later on, dying in his own bed (of natural causes); he would weep for not having fallen in battle as a *shaheed* (martyr) even though he exposed himself to dangers.

This belief is one of the greatest sources of strength for the righteous in confronting evildoers and tyrants. For the sake of Allah, they do not fear the blame of any man, because they know that the matter is in the hand of Allah, and whatever He decreed for them would come to them.

They were not afraid to speak the word of truth lest their provision be cut off, for provision is in the hand of Allah. Whatever provision Allah has decreed for His slave cannot be withheld from anyone, and whatever Allah withholds from His slave, none can cause it to reach him.

he always fears that his final actions may be had. This does not make him lazy and apathetic, rather it motivates him to strive persistently to follow the stratcht path, to do many righteous deeds and to avoid sins and punishable deeds.

And the believer's heart is always attached to its Creator, calling upon Him, putting its hope in Hun, seeking His help and asking Him to make it adhere firmly to the straight path, and to be guided aright

4 - Facing Difficulties and Dangers with any odwine with a Strong Heart and a will of your bra gaoled ew besseld and drw and that everything that happens is decred, and that provision and lifespans are, in the hand of Allah, then, he can confront difficulties and orderals with a strong heart and with his head held high. This belief was one of the greatest motives which spurred the mujaahideen (warriors in the way of Allah) to acts of courage on the battlefield without feeling scared. They would seek death wherever they could find it, throwing themselves into dangerous situations where they though they would be killed. Then you would seek death

REFERENCES

Al I'tiqaad Wal Hidayah Ila Sabeel ar-Rishaad: Daar al-Aafaq al Jadeedah, Beirut 1st ed. 1401 H/1981.

Al 'Ageedah at-Tahaawiyah, Sharh wa Ta'aleeg: Ash-Shavkh

Jaami' al-Uşool; Ibn al-Atheer: edited by: Shu'aib al-Arnaaoot. Maktabah al-Halwani and others. 1392 H/1972.

Sunan Abi Dawood: edited by: Muhammad Muḥiyuddin 'Abdul Hameed, Al Maktabah at-Tijaariyah, Cairo.

Sunan at-Tirmidhi, Daar Ihiya'at Toraath al-'Arabi, Beirut.

Sharh Uşool I'tiqaad Ahl as-Sunnah wal Jamaa'ah: 'Abul Qasim Habbatullah ibn al-Husayn at-Tabari al-Lalka'ee, Daar Taiba, Riyadh.

Sharh al-'Ageedah, Al-Maktab al-Islami: Beirut 4th ed. 1391 H.

Sharh an-Nawawi 'Ala Ṣaḥeeḥ Muslim, Al-Maṭbaa' al Miṣriyah wa Maktabaatuha, Cairo.

Ash-Sharee 'ah: Al-Aajurri, Daar al Kutub al 'Ilmiyah, Beirut 1st ed. 1403 H/1983.

Shifa' al-'Aleel: Ibn al-Qayyim, Daar al-Kitaab al-'Arabi, Egypt.

Ṣaḥeeḥ Bukhari: Relied on the text of Fatḥ al-Baari, Taba'ah Salafiyah.

Şaheeh al-Jaami' aş-Şagheer: edited by: Muhammad Naaşiruddeen al-Albaani, Al Maktabah al Islami, Beirut.

Ṣaḥeeḥ Sunan at-Tirmidhi: edited by Shaykh Naaşiruddin al-Albaani, *Maktab at-Tarbiyah al-'Arabi*, Riyadh. 1st ed. 1408 H/ 1988. Saheeh Muslim: edited by Muhammad Fuwad 'Abdul Baqee, Daar Ihyah Torath, Beirut 2nd ed. 1972.

Al 'Aqeedah at-Ţaḥaawiyah, Sharḥ wa Ta'aleeq: Ash-Shaykh Naaşiruddin al-Albaani, Al-Maktab al-Islami, Beirut 1st ed. 1398H / 1978.

Fath al-Baari: Ibn Hajar, Tab'ah as-Salafia, Cairo.

Al-Farq Bayn Al-Firaq: 'Abdul Qaahir ibn Ṭahir as-Safareenee Daar al-Ma'arifah, Beirut

Al-Qaamoos al-Muheet: Feerozabadi, Ar-Risalah Est., Beirut 1st ed. 1406 H.

Lawamey' al-Anwar al-Baheeyah, Safareenee, State of Qatar.

An-Nihaayah fi Ghareeb al-Hadith: Ibn al-Atheer, Maktabat al-Islamiyah, Beirut.

Majmoo' al-Fataawa Shaikh al-Islam: Ibn Taymiyah, Jam'a ibn Qasim, Saudi Arabia.

Mishkaat al-Maşaabeeh: Khațeeb at-Tabraizee, edited by: Shaykh Muhammad Naașiruddin al-Albaani, Maktab al-Islami, Beirut 1383/ 1962.

Ma'arij al-Qubool bi Sharh Silm al Wuşool ila 'Ilm al-Uşool Fit-Tawheed: Ahmad Haafiz Hukmee, Ar-Ri'asah al 'Ilmiyah, Idarat al Buhooth, Riyadh.

Ma'alim as-Sunan: Khaṭṭaabi, 'Ala Mukhṭasar Sunan Abi Dawood, Mundhiree, As-Sunnah al Muḥammadiah, Publications 1369H/1950.

Al-Mufridaat fi Ghareeb al-Qur'an: Raaghib al Isfahani, edited by: Muhammad Syed Keelani, Shirkah Maktabah wa Matba'ah Mustafa al-Babi al-Halbi, Egypt 1381H / 1961C.

Al-Milal Wan-Nahal: Shahrastani, Darul Maa'rifah, Beirut 2nd ed. 1395H / 1975C.

Rabby C	GLOSSARY	7	
Al-'Aalame	0.		The worlds (mankind, jinn and all that exists).
Aayah	آية	:	Plural aayaat; verse of the Qur'an.
	أحاديث ومعمواه		Sing. Hadeeth, the Prophet's sayings.
	أهل السنة nah	hin hin	People of Sunnah, group of Muslims adhering strictly to the Sunnah of the Prophet.
Al-Muttaqoo	المتقون *on	in s	Sing. Muttaqui. The pious, the dutiful.
Al-Qadeer	القدير		The All-Powerful; An Attributive name of Allah.
At-Taqwa	التقوى		Piety, righteousness.
Bid'ah	بدعة	lid	A reprehensible innovation in religion, heresy.
Eemaan	إيمان	:	Faith.
Fițrah	فطرة	:	The natural inclination of mankind.
Fujjaar	فجار	:	Sing. <i>Faajir</i> , criminals, disbelievers, the wicked.
<u> </u> Halaal	حلال	10	Lawful, as per Islamic law.
Haneef	حنيف المعمد معط):9	Pure monotheist.
<u> H</u> araam	حرام	:	Unlawful (in shari'ah).

* Subjective cure of Mediaters, Multiment, Multi

* Subjective case of al-Muttageen.

148 Glossary

Jabr	: جبر	Forcing, compelling.
Kaafir	: كافر	Disbeliever.
Kufr	: كفر	Disbelief.
Laylat al-Qadr		The Night of Decree (in which the Quran was revealed and it is in the month of Ramadan, most likely one of the odd last ten nights of it).
Masaakeen	: مساكين	Sing. Miskeen; poor.
Mufassireen**	: مفسرين	Sing. <i>Mufassir;</i> the text of the Qur'an.
Mufsidoon*	: مفسدون Powerful:	Sing. <i>Mufsid</i> . Wrongdoers, those who associate partners in worship with Allah and commit crimes.
Muḥsinoon*	: محسنون	Sing. Muhsin, Good-doers.
Mujrimoon*	: مجرمون	Sing. <i>Mujrim</i> , criminals, polytheists and disbelievers.
Munaafiqeen**	: منافقين	Sing. Munaafiq. Hypocrites.
Mushrikeen**	: مشركين	Sing. Mushrik, polytheists.
Mustaḥabb	: مستحب	Recommended, preferred.
Qadar	: قدر ۱۹ وه ۱۹۱۱ ۱۹۹۹ ۱۹۹۹	Divine Preordainments of all things before their creation as written in the Book of Decrees - <i>Al-Lauḥ al-</i> <i>Maḥfooẓ</i> (The Preserved Tablet).
		forman Managar wa Mapa an Mujufa Ifaraan

* Subjective case of Mufsideen, Muhsineen, Mujrimeen - respectively

** Objective case of Mufassiroon, Munafiqoon, Mushrikoon - respectively

Qudrah	: قدرة	Power.
Rabb	: رب	Lord. Sustainer, Ruler, Master.
Salaam	: سلام	Peace.
Şalaah	: صلاة	Prayer: (obligatory and optional).
Shaheed	: شهيد	Martyr, dying for the Cause of Allah.
Shayaateen	: شياطين	Sing. Shaytaan; devils.
Shirk	: شرك	Polytheism, associating partner with Allah.
Taqdeer	: تقدير	Destiny.
Tawḥeed	: توحيد	Oneness of Allah.
Umm al-Kitaab	: ام الكتاب	The Mother of the Book, name of the 1st chapter of the Qur'an (<i>Soorah al-Faatihah</i>); the Preserved Tablet.
Waajib	1784	Obligatory.
Wahy	: وحي	Revelation.
Zakaah	ب : زکوة / زکاة	Obligatory annual alm.
Zina	: زنا	Adultery and fornication.
		0.5110

Diving Will and Predestimation

SYMBOLS' DIRECTORY

(ﷺ) : Subhaanahu wa Ta'aala - "The Exalted."

(選) : Ṣalla-Allahu 'Alayhi wa Sallam -"Blessings and Peace be upon him."

(): 'Alayhis-Salaam - "May Peace be upon him."

(2010) : Radi-Allahu 'Anhu - "May Allah be pleased with him."

INDEX OF THE QUR'AN

Aayah No. / Page No. Soorah No./Name 2-5/83, 5/84 1 - Al-Faatihah 117/37, 253/46, 136, 197/106, 286/119, 185/ 2 - Al-Bagarah 134, 156/116, 156-157/142 3 - Aal- Imraan 120/89, 186/113, 97/121 4 - An-Nisaa 1/48, 79/87,90 78-79/88,70, 78/89, 65/118, 26-28/134 5 - Al-Maa'idah 48/ 46. 6/134 6 - Al-Ana'am 148/32,138, 28/39. 111/46, 112/46, 39/46, 35/ 47, 107/47, 1/48, 125/136 178/49, 172/53, 172-173/54, 168/89, 128/ 7 - Al-A'raaf 107, 99/143 8 - Al-Anfaal 42/21, 23/40, 60/106 10 - Yunus 99/47, 101/68, 24/109 123/84, 20/119, 34/136 11- Hood 12 - Yusuf 90/113 13 - Ar-Ra'd 39/84, 85 15 - Al-Hiir 21/26, 86/48, 39/117 125/50, 53/140 16 - An-Nahl 101/119, 39/136 18 - Al-Kahf 21/36, 71/37 19 - Maryam 20 - Ta-ha 121/115 21 - Al-Anbiyaa 33/48, 23/62,126,127,130, 107/66

183

152 Index of the Qur'an

22 - Al-Ḥajj	70 /44	INDEX
23 - Al-Mu'minoon	115/66, 55/91	States and a state of the state
25 - Al-Furqaan	2/22, 45/47, 2/131	
28 - Al-Qaṣaṣ	84/90, 15/81, 79/103, 70	
32 - As-Sajdah	7/67	
33 - Al-Ahzaab	38 /21,131, 33 /135	1 - Al-Faatihah
34 - Saba'	3/39, 54/110	
35 - Faațir	11/49	
36 - Yaa-seen	12 /44, 82 /35, 81 /36, 1-9 / 10 /82, 20 /102, 9 /120	
37 - Aṣ-Ṣaaffaat	96 /49, 52 /37, 103 /103	
38 - Ṣaad	27-28 /95, 28 /122	
39 - Az-Zumar	62 /47	
40 - Ghaafir/Al-Mu'mit	n 60 /106, 55 /116,	
41 - Fușșilat	12/36, 53/68	
43 - Az-Zukhraf	4/45, 1-4/72	
44 - Ad-Dukhaan	3-5/57	10 - Yunus
45 - Al-Jaathiyah	21/122	booH -11
46 - Al-Ahqaaf	33/24	
47 - Muhammad	24/68	13 - Ar Ra'd
51 - Adh-Dhaariyaat	56/65	
52 - At-Toor	1-3/45	16 - An-Nahl
53 - An-Najm	32/39	18 - Al-Kahy
54 - Al-Qamar	49/21, 48-49/22, 55/24,	52 /49
55 - Ar-Raḥmaan	29/57	
.130, 107/66	33/48, 23/62,126,127	21 - Al-Anbiyaa

57 - Al-Hadeed	21 /128, 22-23 /142
58 - Al-Mujadilah	4/121
59 - Al-Hashr	22/38
62 - Jumuʻah	10 /105
64 - At-Taghaabun	2 /127
65 - Aț-Țalaaq	12/38, 7/119
67 - Al-Mulk	14/43, 15/106
68 - Qalam	35-36/123
70 - Al-Maʻaarij	19-22 /140
71 - Nooh	3-4/85
75 - Al-Qiyaamah	36/65
80 - 'Abasa	24-26/68
81 - At-Takweer	29 /45
85 - Al-Buruj	21-22/44
87 - Al-Aʻalaa	1-3/22, 46
88 - Al-Ghaashiyah	17/68
91 - Ash-Shams	8-10 /59, 7-8 /76
92 - Al-Lail	1-10/52, 5-10/84
111 - Al-Lahb/Masad	1/2

Bukhari

154 Index of the Qur'aniliW anivid

22 - Al-Hajj	21/128, 22-23/1425	57 - Al-Hadeed
23 - Al-Mu'minoon	4/12119/55, 55/91121/	58 - Al-Mujadilah
25 - Al-Furgaan	2/22, 45/47, 288322	59 - Al-Hashr
28 - Al-Qaşaş	84/90, 15/812079003,	62 - Jumu all 1/87-67
32 - As-Sajdah	2/127 76/7	64 - At-Taghaabun
33 - Al-Ahzaab	38/21, 1911/13388121	65 - At-Talaaq
34 - Saba	14/43, 05/906, 95/5	67 - Al-Mulk
35 - Faațir	35-36/123 24/11	68 - Qalam
36 - Yaa-seen		70, Louis Walstoy, 97/9
(123) Marshin Solad	10/82, 20/10289/120	71 - Nooḥ
37 - As-Saaffaat	96/49, 52/37, 103/103	75 - Al-Qiyaamah
38 - Saad	24-26/88 . 28/82-75	80 - 'Abasa
39 - Az-Zumar	29/45 74/20	81 - At-Takweer
40 - Ghaafir/Al-Mu'mi	n 60/106, 5544\\$2-12	85 - Al-Burry
41 - Fussilat	1-3/22,8462 ,66/21	87 - AI-A'alaa
43 - Az-Žukhraf	4/45, 1-4/72 80111	88 - Al-Ghaashiyah
44 - Ad-Dukhaan	8-10/59, 7-8/76/2-8	91 - Ash-Shams
45 - Al-Jaathiyah	1-10/52, 5-16/84/15	92 - Al-Lail
46 - Al-Ahqaaf	33/24 · . ·	111 - Al-Lahb Masud
47 - Muhammad	24/68	
51 - Adh-Dhaariyaat	56/65	
52 - At-Toor	1-3/45	
53 - An-Najm	32/39	0-248 - 37
54 - Al-Qamar	49/21, 48-49/22, 55/2	4, 52/49 minute and a left
55 - Ar-Rahmaan	29/57	

INDEX OF HADITH

60

BOOK		CHAPTER / BAAB	NO.	PAGE NO.
Muslim		Kitaab al-Eemaan	9	21, 29
	71	Kitaab al-Qadar	4799	22
		Kitaab al-Qadar	4800	23
		Kitaab al-Qadar	4797	43 barred A
		Kitaab al-Qadar	4788	50
		Kitaab al-Qadar	4786	51
		Kitaab al-Qadar	4791	59
		Kitaab al-Qadar	4790	75
		Kitaab al-Jannah	5109	68
		Kitaab al-Qadar	4816	114
4		Kitaab al-Qadar	4795	115
Tirmidhi		Kitaab al-Qadar	2059	27, 64
		Kitaab al-Qadar	2082	43
		Kitaab al-Qadar	2081	43, 56
		Kitaab al-Qadar	2061	38
		Kitaab al-Eemaan	2566	55
		Kitaab al-Qadar	2067	55, 59
		Kitaab al-Qadar	2078	55, 71
		Kitaab al-Qadar	2079	55, 72
Bukhari		Kitaab at-Ţibb	5288	28
		Kitaab al-Qadar	6108	40
		Kitaab al-Qadar	6107	51
		Kitaab Bad' al-Khalq	2969	58

(56)

Kitaab al-Qadar	6106	58
Kitaab al-Maghaazi	3885	59
Kitaab al-Qadar	6117	60
Kitaab al-Adab	5526	84
Kitaab al-Jumu'ah	1050	121
Kitaab as-Sunnah	4081	53
Kitaab as-Sunnah	4071	71
Kitaab as-Sunnah	4077	76
Musnad Bani Hashim	2327	54
Musnad al-Qabaa'il	26216	55
Musnad al-Mukaththireen	5327	71
Kitaab al-Muqaddamah	198	57
	Kitaab al-Maghaazi Kitaab al-Qadar Kitaab al-Adab Kitaab al-Jumu'ah Kitaab as-Sunnah Kitaab as-Sunnah Kitaab as-Sunnah Musnad Bani Hashim Musnad al-Qabaa'il Musnad al-Mukaththireen	Kitaab al-Maghaazi3885Kitaab al-Qadar6117Kitaab al-Adab5526Kitaab al-Jumu'ah1050Kitaab as-Sunnah4081Kitaab as-Sunnah4071

Note: The above given reference nos. of hadith are from the CD programme "Hadith Encyclopedia" by Harf Information Technology.

38	2061			Kitadh
			al-Eemaan	
				Kitaah
		1.474		

Buldnori

TRANSLI	FERATIC	ON CHART	
100 C			
* rig		3	
1		а	
آ . ی		aa	
Ļ		b	
ت		t	
ö		h or t	
11	(when followed by another Arabic	word)
ث		th	
5		j	-
5		ķ	
ż		kh	
د		d	-
ć		dh	
tted in gittal position)	(Omit	r	
j		Z	
س	dadaa	S	
ش	Kasin	sh	
ص ال	daramah -	Ş	
ض nitiae letter	haddah	d -	
A dence of vowel	noodule	t -	

نا ا	AS YOIL	Ż. Ś. T. L. Ś. Ś. Ś.	
A 00.000	and and the second second	3/185 331	
	al-Qadar	6117 60	
	al-Adab	gh	
in the second second	al-Juma ali)	f	
ق	as-Sumah	q	
٤	ar-Sannah	k	
mut I Annia	Bant Hastin	2321 54	
ę	ral-Qabaa I	m	
ن الله مسلم المسلم	allel Miller and an	n	
. – ه – _ه	ه	h	
و		w	
as vowel) و)	00	
ي ۲۰ مار م	glaca nefactas	y	
as vowel) ي	l)	ee	
s		,	
1		(Omitted in initial position	
Z			
· 8	Fatḥal	n a	
, de 1	Kasra	i _é i	
۶ Dan		ah u	
۳ b Sha		h Double letter	
• Suk		n Absence of vow	



Divine Will and Predestination. IS this a matter which is directly relevant to the day-to-day life of Muslims, or is it an obscure topic best left to the debates of philosophers and theologians? Does it imply that Muslims are "fatalists" who see themselves as helpless in the hands of an indifferent fate.

Attitudes towards The Divine Will and Predestination have always influenced Muslims' daily activities. In this book Dr. 'Umar S. al-Ashqar explores this topic in depth explaining it in clear terms for the ordinary Muslim. Drawing always on the Qur'an and Sunnah, and on the words of the

greatest scholars such as Ibn Taymiyah, he covers some of the historical debates that took place within the ummah on this matter, explains the correct view, that of *Ahl as-Sunnah wa al-Jama'ah*.

The true Islamic concept of Divine Will and Predestination is an empowering notion. Whilst all that happens, takes place within the framework of the Divine Will, man has freedom of choice within those parameters. This is a matter which is of interest and concern for all Muslims, one which will bring many benefits, both in this world and in the hereafter.

ISLAMIC CREED SERIES

- 1 Belief in Allah
- 2 The World of the Noble Angels
- 3 The World of the Jinn and Devils
- 4 The Messengers and the Messages
- 5 The Minor Resurrection (What happens after death)
- 6 The Day of Resurrection
- 7 Paradise and Hell
- 8 Divine Will and Predestination



